Development of new bio-based solvents *via* dialkyl carbonate chemistry

Saimeng Jin

PhD

University of York

Chemistry

November 2016

Abstract

This work aimed to synthesise new bio-based solvents from bio-based platform molecules and dimethyl carbonate (DMC) as alternatives for traditional solvents. This work extended the scope of the DMC chemistry to including acid catalysts. Hansen Solubility Parameters in Practice (HSPiP) software was utilised as an effective tool to identify suitable bio-based solvents candidates.

3-Methoxybutan-2-one (MO) was synthesised from acetoin and DMC, in a yield of 95%. Solvent properties, including the Kamlet-Taft (KT) and Hansen solubility parameters (HSPs), demonstrate that MO is a suitable candidate for the replacement of halogenated solvents such as dichloromethane (DCM). MO did not exhibit mutagenicity in an initial Ames tests. MO also proved to have similar performance to DCM when applied in Friedel-Crafts acylation.

Methyl (2,2-dimethyl-1,3-dioxolan-4-yl) methyl carbonate (MMC) was synthesised from glycerol and DMC. KT and HSPs demonstrate MMC could be a replacement solvent for a wide range of different conventional solvents, and MMC is proved to be a suitable solvent in both Friedel-Crafts and Diels-Alder reactions. However, Ames tests demonstrated MMC to be mutagenic, and as such is unlikely to accord with regulatory controls and not be considered as a green medium. The methodology of solvent testing described here is a broadly applicable protocol that indicates new solvents are functionally proficient, but also highlights any potential health risk of these candidates.

p-Toluenesulfonic acid (PTSA), sulphuric acid, aluminium chloride and iron (III) chloride have been observed to assist carboxymethylation for primary aliphatic alcohols at catalytic loadings with >99% conversion and selectivity. For carboxymethylation of secondary alcohols, stoichiometric PTSA and catalytic aluminium chloride both provide quantitative conversion and selectivity. Stoichiometric iron (III) chloride and sulphuric acid promote dehydration of linear aliphatic alcohols. Iron (III) chloride assists methylation of cyclohexanol, whilst aluminium chloride aids the methylation of phenolic compounds.

Table of contents

Abstract	1
Table of contents	5
List of figures1	3
List of schemes1	7
List of tables 2	1
Acknowledgements	3
Declaration2	5
Chapter 1 Introduction	7
1.1 Scope of this project 29	9
1.2 Green chemistry	0
1.3 Traditional solvents	2
1.3.1 The conception and classification of solvents	2
1.3.2 The problems and REACH regulations for traditional organic solvents	3
1.4 DCM as an organic solvent	4
1.4.1 Advantages of DCM 34	4
1.4.2 Applications of DCM	5
1.4.3 Problems of DCM 3	5
1.5 Bio-based solvents	6
1.5.1 Green solvent	6
1.5.2 The introduction of bio-based solvents	8
1.5.2.1 2-Methyl tetrahydrofuran as a bio-based solvent	9
1.5.2.2 Cyrene as a bio-based solvent 4	0
1.5.2.3 D-Limonene as a bio-based solvent	0

	1.5.2.4 Ethyl lactate as a bio-based solvent	41
	1.5.2.5 Glycerol as a bio-based solvent	42
	1.5.2.6 Some other bio-based solvents	43
1.6 Kamlet	t-Taft solvatochromic parameters	44
1.6.1 Th	e conception of Kamlet-Taft parameters	44
1.6.2 Ka	mlet-Taft parameters of conventional and bio-based solvents	45
1.7 Hanser	n solubility parameters	47
1.8 Platfor	m molecules	49
1.9 Dimet	hyl carbonate chemistry	51
1.9.1 Th	e introduction of DMC	51
1.9.2 Th	e synthesis and manufacture of DMC	52
	1.9.2.1 Phosgene synthesis	52
	1.9.2.2 Oxidative carbonylation synthesis	53
	1.9.2.3 Transesterification synthesis	54
	1.9.2.4 Carbonylation of methyl nitrite	54
	1.9.2.5 Direct synthesis from carbon dioxide and methanol	54
	1.9.2.6 Alcoholysis of urea	55
1.9.3 Th	e reactivity of DMC	55
	1.9.3.1 The basic mechanism of DMC chemistry	55
	1.9.3.2 HSAB theory and its explanation for the basic mechanism of	DMC
	chemistry	56
1.9.4 Ap	oplication of DMC as carboxymethylation and methylation agents for alcohol	s58
1.10 Proje	ct aims	59
Chapter 2	3-Methoxybutan-2-one as a new bio-based solvent	61
2.1 Introdu	uction	63
2.1.1 HS	SPiP software	63
2.1.2 Int	troduction of acetoin	64

2.1.2.1 Chemical synthesis of acetoin	64
2.1.2.2 Biological production methods of acetoin	65
2.1.3 Aims of this chapter	66
2.2 Results and discussion	66
2.2.1 In silico analysis for assessing potential bio-based solvents	66
2.2.2 Theoretical stability and reactivity of MO	68
2.2.2.1 The possible reaction of the ketone group of MO	68
2.2.2.2 Possible reactions of the most labile proton of MO	70
2.2.2.3 Possible peroxide formation in MO	70
2.2.3 MO synthesis <i>via</i> DMC chemistry	71
2.2.3.1 Catalyst screening and selection	71
2.2.3.2 The possible mechanisms of PTSA catalysed DMC reactions for acet	oin
	76
2.2.4 The optimisation of DMC synthesis of MO	78
2.2.4.1 The effect of catalytic loading on the synthesis of MO	78
2.2.4.2 The effect of mole ratio of DMC to acetoin on the synthesis of MO	79
2.2.4.3 The effect of reaction time on the synthesis of MO	79
2.2.5 Defining the solvent parameters of MO	80
2.2.5.1 Boiling point and melting point of MO	80
2.2.5.2 The measurement of density of MO	81
2.2.5.3 The measurement of viscosity of MO	81
2.2.5.4 The measurement of formation of peroxide of MO	82
2.2.5.5 Ames test for MO	83
2.2.5.6 UV-vis. test of KT parameters of MO	84
2.2.5.7 The solvent properties of MO in comparison with other convention	onal
aprotic solvents	85
2.2.6 The solvent test in Friedel-Crafts and Diels-Alder reactions	89
2.3 Conclusion	91

Chapter 3	Methyl (2,2-dimethyl-1,3-dioxolan-4-yl) methyl carbonate as a new	bio-based
solvent		93
3.1 Intro	oduction	95
3.1.1	Glycerol derivatives as bio-based solvents	95
	3.1.1.1 Glycerol carbonate	95
	3.1.1.2 Glycerol formal and solketal	96
3.1.2	Aims of this chapter	97
3.2 Resu	ults and discussion	98
3.2.1	In silico analysis for assessing potential bio-based solvents	98
3.2.2	Theoretical stability and reactivity of MMC	100
3.2.3	The optimisation of DMC synthesis of MMC	100
	3.2.3.1 The effect of the reaction time on the synthesis of MMC	
	3.2.3.2 The effect of the catalytic loading on the synthesis of MMC	101
	3.2.3.3 The effect of the mole ratio of DMC to solketal on the synthe	sis of MMC
3.2.4	Defining the solvent parameters of MMC	104
	3.2.4.1 Boiling point and melting point of MMC	104
	3.2.4.2 The measurement of density of MMC	106
	3.2.4.3 The measurement of viscosity of MMC	106
	3.2.4.4 The measurement of formation of peroxide of MMC	107
	3.2.4.5 UV-vis. test of KT parameters of MMC	108
	3.2.4.6 The solvent properties of MMC in comparison with other co	onventional
	aprotic solvents	108
3.2.5	The solvent test in Friedel-Crafts and Diels-Alder reactions	111
3.2.6	Ames test for MMC	114
3.3 Cond	clusion	117
Chapter 4	The new developments in acidic DMC chemistry	119

4.1 Introd	uction	121
4.1.1 Th	e definition of acid and base	121
4.1.2 Ac	ids as catalysts	122
4.1.3 Ac	id-catalysed DMC chemistry for alcohols	123
4.2 Result	s and discussion	126
4.2.1 Ac	id-catalysed DMC chemistry at 90 °C	126
	4.2.1.1 Carboxymethylation products obtained by the catalysis of Brønst	ted acid
		126
	4.2.1.2 Carboxymethylation products obtained by the catalysis of Lewis	acid
	4.2.1.3 Effect of solvents on the acid-catalysed dehydration of alcohols	136
4.2.2 Ac	id-catalysed DMC chemistry at 160 °C	140
	4.2.2.1 Brønsted acid promoted DMC chemistry at 160 °C	140
	4.2.2.2 Lewis acid promoted DMC chemistry at 160 °C	141
4.2.3 Cc	ontrol experiments for all the substrates	144
4.3 Conclu	ision	145
Chapter 5	Experimental	147
5.1 Chemi	cals	149
5.2 Genera	al analytical and characterisation techniques	150
5.2.1 G	C analysis	150
5.2.2 G	C-MS analysis	153
5.2.3 ¹ H	NMR and ¹³ C NMR analysis	154
5.2.4 FT	-IR analysis	155
5.2.5 TC	GA analysis	155
5.2.6 DS	SC analysis	155
5.2.7 U\	/-vis. spectra analysis	155

5.2.8 Ames test	6
5.3 Chapter 2. 3-Methoxybutan-2-one as a new bio-based solvent	6
5.3.1 Catalysts screening experiment150	6
5.3.2 Analysis of the structures of product and by-products after catalysts screening	
	6
5.3.3 Synthesis of MO from methyl iodide and acetoin catalysed by silver (I) oxide16	1
5.3.4 The purification of MO by rectification162	2
5.3.5 The effect of catalytic loading on the synthesis of MO163	3
5.3.6 The effect of mole ratio of DMC to acetoin on the synthesis of MO163	3
5.3.7 The effect of reaction time on the synthesis of MO163	3
5.4 Chapter 3. Methyl (2,2-dimethyl-1,3-dioxolan-4-yl) methyl carbonate as a new bio-based	ł
solvent164	4
5.4.1 Synthesis and characterisation of MMC164	4
5.4.2 The effect of the reaction time on the synthesis of MMC160	6
5.4.3 The effect of the catalytic loading on the synthesis of MMC16	7
5.4.4 The effect of the mole ratio of DMC to solketal on the synthesis of MMC16	7
5.4.5 The synthesis and purification of MMC based on optimised reaction conditions16	7
5.4.6 The analysis of the by-product168	8
5.5 The solvent performances of MO/MMC in reactions169	9
5.5.1 4-Methoxyacetophenone synthesised from the Friedel-Crafts reaction169	9
5.5.2 1-(3,4-Dimethylcyclohex-3-enyl) ethanone synthesised from the Diels-Alder reaction	ı
	0
5.6 Chapter 4. The new developments in acidic DMC chemistry	1
5.6.1 General experimental procedure for the reaction of an alcohol or phenol with DMC	
at 90 °C	1

5.6.2 G	eneral experimental procedure for the reaction of alcohol or phenol with DM	1C at
160 °C.		171
5.6.3 C	haracterisation of the compounds obtained in Chapter 4	172
	5.6.3.1 Synthesis of butyl methyl carbonate	172
	5.6.3.2 Synthesis of <i>sec</i> -butyl methyl carbonate	173
	5.6.3.3 Synthesis of methyl octyl carbonate	174
	5.6.3.4 Synthesis of methyl octan-2-yl carbonate	175
	5.6.3.5 Synthesis of anisole and methyl phenyl carbonate	176
	5.6.3.6 Synthesis of 3-nitroanisole and methyl 3-nitrophenyl carbonate	177
	5.6.3.7 Synthesis of 3-methylanisole and methyl <i>m</i> -tolyl carbonate	179
	5.6.3.8 Synthesis of cyclohexene and methoxycyclohexane	181
	5.6.3.9 Synthesis of chlorocyclohexane	182
	5.6.3.10 Synthesis of 2-octene and 3-octene	183
	5.6.3.11 Synthesis of 2-decene, 3-decene and 5-decene	184
	5.6.3.12 Synthesis of 1-butene and 2-butene	186
Chapter 6	Thesis conclusions and future work	187
6.1 Conclu	usions	189
6.2 Future	e work	190
6.2.1 Fo	or Chapter 2	190
6.2.2 Fo	or Chapter 3	191
6.2.3 Fo	or Chapter 4	191
Glossary		193
References .		199

List of figures

Fig. 1.1 The structure of DCM
Fig. 1.2 Bio-based solvents
Fig. 1.3 The lifecycle of 2-MeTHF
Fig. 1.4 D-Limonene obtained from orange peel 41
Fig. 1.5 Some other bio-based solvents
Fig. 1.6 The KT map of conventional aprotic solvents
Fig. 1.7 The KT map of aprotic bio-based solvents
Fig. 1.8 The top 30 platform molecules selected by NREL in 2004
Fig. 1.9 Platform molecules: isosorbide and methyl vinyl glycolate
Fig. 1.10 The structure of DMC
Fig. 1.11 The six main procedures for the synthesis of DMC
Fig. 2.1 The interface of HSPiP63
Fig. 2.2 The structure of acetoin
Fig. 2.3 The structure of MO 69
Fig. 2.4 GC results of the reactions between DMC and acetoin catalysed by different catalysts
Fig. 2.4 GC results of the reactions between DMC and acetoin catalysed by different catalysts
 Fig. 2.4 GC results of the reactions between DMC and acetoin catalysed by different catalysts 73 Fig. 2.5 The process of Ames test for the mutagenicity of chemicals
 Fig. 2.4 GC results of the reactions between DMC and acetoin catalysed by different catalysts 73 Fig. 2.5 The process of Ames test for the mutagenicity of chemicals 83 Fig. 2.6 The KT solvent map of MO and other nearby traditional aprotic solvents
 Fig. 2.4 GC results of the reactions between DMC and acetoin catalysed by different catalysts 73 Fig. 2.5 The process of Ames test for the mutagenicity of chemicals 83 Fig. 2.6 The KT solvent map of MO and other nearby traditional aprotic solvents investigated in this research.
 Fig. 2.4 GC results of the reactions between DMC and acetoin catalysed by different catalysts 73 Fig. 2.5 The process of Ames test for the mutagenicity of chemicals 83 Fig. 2.6 The KT solvent map of MO and other nearby traditional aprotic solvents investigated in this research 87 Fig. 2.7 The site of MO and the other traditional solvents in Hansen space constructed
 Fig. 2.4 GC results of the reactions between DMC and acetoin catalysed by different catalysts 73 Fig. 2.5 The process of Ames test for the mutagenicity of chemicals 83 Fig. 2.6 The KT solvent map of MO and other nearby traditional aprotic solvents investigated in this research 87 Fig. 2.7 The site of MO and the other traditional solvents in Hansen space constructed by HSPiP software 88
 Fig. 2.4 GC results of the reactions between DMC and acetoin catalysed by different catalysts 73 Fig. 2.5 The process of Ames test for the mutagenicity of chemicals 83 Fig. 2.6 The KT solvent map of MO and other nearby traditional aprotic solvents investigated in this research 87 Fig. 2.7 The site of MO and the other traditional solvents in Hansen space constructed by HSPiP software 88 Fig. 2.8 The GC yield of 4-MAP synthesised from anisole and acetic anhydride in
 Fig. 2.4 GC results of the reactions between DMC and acetoin catalysed by different catalysts 73 Fig. 2.5 The process of Ames test for the mutagenicity of chemicals 83 Fig. 2.6 The KT solvent map of MO and other nearby traditional aprotic solvents investigated in this research 87 Fig. 2.7 The site of MO and the other traditional solvents in Hansen space constructed by HSPiP software 88 Fig. 2.8 The GC yield of 4-MAP synthesised from anisole and acetic anhydride in various solvents promoted by iron (III) chloride <i>via</i> Friedel-Crafts reaction
 Fig. 2.4 GC results of the reactions between DMC and acetoin catalysed by different catalysts 73 Fig. 2.5 The process of Ames test for the mutagenicity of chemicals 83 Fig. 2.6 The KT solvent map of MO and other nearby traditional aprotic solvents investigated in this research 87 Fig. 2.7 The site of MO and the other traditional solvents in Hansen space constructed by HSPiP software 88 Fig. 2.8 The GC yield of 4-MAP synthesised from anisole and acetic anhydride in various solvents promoted by iron (III) chloride <i>via</i> Friedel-Crafts reaction 89 Fig. 2.9 The GC yield of DE synthesised from 3-buten-2-one and diene in various
 Fig. 2.4 GC results of the reactions between DMC and acetoin catalysed by different catalysts 73 Fig. 2.5 The process of Ames test for the mutagenicity of chemicals 83 Fig. 2.6 The KT solvent map of MO and other nearby traditional aprotic solvents investigated in this research 87 Fig. 2.7 The site of MO and the other traditional solvents in Hansen space constructed by HSPiP software 88 Fig. 2.8 The GC yield of 4-MAP synthesised from anisole and acetic anhydride in various solvents promoted by iron (III) chloride <i>via</i> Friedel-Crafts reaction 89 Fig. 2.9 The GC yield of DE synthesised from 3-buten-2-one and diene in various solvents catalysed by ytterbium(III) chloride <i>via</i> Diels-Alder reaction
 Fig. 2.4 GC results of the reactions between DMC and acetoin catalysed by different catalysts 73 Fig. 2.5 The process of Ames test for the mutagenicity of chemicals 83 Fig. 2.6 The KT solvent map of MO and other nearby traditional aprotic solvents investigated in this research 87 Fig. 2.7 The site of MO and the other traditional solvents in Hansen space constructed by HSPiP software 88 Fig. 2.8 The GC yield of 4-MAP synthesised from anisole and acetic anhydride in various solvents promoted by iron (III) chloride <i>via</i> Friedel-Crafts reaction 89 Fig. 2.9 The GC yield of DE synthesised from 3-buten-2-one and diene in various solvents catalysed by ytterbium(III) chloride <i>via</i> Diels-Alder reaction 91 Fig. 3.1 Glycerol derivatives solvents
 Fig. 2.4 GC results of the reactions between DMC and acetoin catalysed by different catalysts 73 Fig. 2.5 The process of Ames test for the mutagenicity of chemicals 83 Fig. 2.6 The KT solvent map of MO and other nearby traditional aprotic solvents investigated in this research 87 Fig. 2.7 The site of MO and the other traditional solvents in Hansen space constructed by HSPiP software 88 Fig. 2.8 The GC yield of 4-MAP synthesised from anisole and acetic anhydride in various solvents promoted by iron (III) chloride <i>via</i> Friedel-Crafts reaction 89 Fig. 2.9 The GC yield of DE synthesised from 3-buten-2-one and diene in various solvents catalysed by ytterbium(III) chloride <i>via</i> Diels-Alder reaction 91 Fig. 3.1 Glycerol derivatives solvents 105

Fig. 3.4 The site of MMC and the other traditional solvents in Hansen space
constructed by HSPiP software110
Fig. 3.5 The KT solvent plot of MMC and other traditional aprotic solvents investigated
in this research
Fig. 3.6 The GC yield of 4-MAP synthesised from anisole and acetic anhydride
promoted by FeCl $_3$ in MMC and other common solvents with selectivity >99%
towards 4-MAP in all the experiments112
Fig. 3.7 The GC yields of DE synthesised from 3-buten-2-one and diene catalysed by
YbCl $_3$ in different solvents with selectivity >99% towards DE in all the
experiments
Fig. 3.8 The complexation of MMC with Lewis acid catalysts
Fig. 3.9 The dose effect of MMC for TA98 in Ames test115
Fig. 3.10 The dose effect of MMC for TA100 in Ames test
Fig. 4.1 The main advantages of introducing acid catalysts in DMC chemistry
Fig. 4.2 The phenols investigated in this study
Fig. 4.3 The stability of primary and secondary carbonium ion intermediate130
Fig. 4.4 The soft carbon and hard carbon of DMC133
Fig. 4.5 The reason for the shift of selectivity towards methylation product
Fig. 5.1 The GC calibration curve of acetoin151
Fig. 5.2 The GC calibration curve of 3-methoxybutan-2-one (MO)
Fig. 5.3 The GC calibration curve of 1-octanol152
Fig. 5.4 The GC calibration curve of methyl octyl carbonate
Fig. 5.5 The MS (EI) of MO
Fig. 5.6 The MS (EI) of MC158
Fig. 5.7 IR of the distillation residue obtained from the synthesis of acetoin and DMC
catalysed by sodium bicarbonate159
Fig. 5.8 ¹ H NMR of mixture of high b.p. by-products
Fig. 5.9 The ¹ H NMR of the product mixture obtained from methyl iodide synthesis 161
Fig. 5.10 The ¹ H NMR of MO
Fig. 5.11 The MS (EI) of MMC

Fig. 5.12 The ¹ H NMR of the isolated MMC 165
Fig. 5.13 The ¹³ C NMR of the isolated MMC 166
Fig. 5.14 The MS (EI) of diMMC
Fig. 5.15 ¹ H NMR of product mixtures of 3-nitrophenol, 3-nitroanisole and methyl 3
nitrophenyl carbonate 177
Fig. 5.16 ¹ H NMR of product mixtures of <i>m</i> -cresol, methyl <i>m</i> -tolyl carbonate and 3
methylanisole
Fig. 5.17 ¹ H NMR of products mixture of dehydration reaction of 2-decanol

List of schemes

Scheme 1.1 The hydrogenation process of production of 2-MeTHF from furfural platform
Scheme 1.2 The synthesis of Cyrene from levoglucosenone
Scheme 1.3 The production of ethyl lactate from lactic acid and ethanol
Scheme 1.4 The production of biodiesels from triglycerides
Scheme 1.5 The carboxymethylation mechanism of the DMC and nucleophile at 90 °C
Scheme 1.6 The methylation mechanism of the DMC and nucleophile at 160 °C56
Scheme 1.7 The basic DMC reaction mechanism based on the HSAB theory
Scheme 1.8 The possible mechanism for the methylation of aliphatic alcohol based on HSAB
theory
Scheme 1.9 The carboxymethylation reaction between 1-octanol and DMC catalysed by
potassium carbonate
Scheme 1.10 The methylation reaction between phenol and DMC catalysed by potassium
carbonate
carbonate 58 Scheme 1.11 The methylation reaction of alcohol with DMC catalysed by basic alumina or 58 hydrotalcite KW 2000 at elevated temperature 58 Scheme 2.1 The synthesis of acetoin from diacetyl by chemistry method 65 Scheme 2.2 Possible acid-catalysed mechanism of nucleophilic addition of MO 69 Scheme 2.3 Possible base-catalysed mechanism of nucleophilic addition of MO 69
carbonate58Scheme 1.11 The methylation reaction of alcohol with DMC catalysed by basic alumina or hydrotalcite KW 2000 at elevated temperature58Scheme 2.1 The synthesis of acetoin from diacetyl by chemistry method65Scheme 2.2 Possible acid-catalysed mechanism of nucleophilic addition of MO69Scheme 2.3 Possible base-catalysed mechanism of nucleophilic addition of MO69Scheme 2.4 Halogenation of MO70
carbonate58Scheme 1.11 The methylation reaction of alcohol with DMC catalysed by basic alumina or hydrotalcite KW 2000 at elevated temperature58Scheme 2.1 The synthesis of acetoin from diacetyl by chemistry method65Scheme 2.2 Possible acid-catalysed mechanism of nucleophilic addition of MO69Scheme 2.3 Possible base-catalysed mechanism of nucleophilic addition of MO69Scheme 2.4 Halogenation of MO70Scheme 2.5 The formation of peroxide of MO71
carbonate58Scheme 1.11 The methylation reaction of alcohol with DMC catalysed by basic alumina or hydrotalcite KW 2000 at elevated temperature58Scheme 2.1 The synthesis of acetoin from diacetyl by chemistry method65Scheme 2.2 Possible acid-catalysed mechanism of nucleophilic addition of MO69Scheme 2.3 Possible base-catalysed mechanism of nucleophilic addition of MO69Scheme 2.4 Halogenation of MO70Scheme 2.5 The formation of peroxide of MO71Scheme 2.6 An example of auto-oxidation of MO71
carbonate
 carbonate
 carbonate
carbonate58Scheme 1.11 The methylation reaction of alcohol with DMC catalysed by basic alumina or hydrotalcite KW 2000 at elevated temperature58Scheme 2.1 The synthesis of acetoin from diacetyl by chemistry method65Scheme 2.2 Possible acid-catalysed mechanism of nucleophilic addition of MO69Scheme 2.3 Possible base-catalysed mechanism of nucleophilic addition of MO69Scheme 2.4 Halogenation of MO70Scheme 2.5 The formation of peroxide of MO71Scheme 2.6 An example of auto-oxidation of MO71Scheme 2.7 The synthesis of MO from acetoin and DMC assisted by different catalysts72Scheme 2.8 The carboxymethylation and possible aldol condensation reactions during the synthesis of MO from acetoin and DMC75Scheme 2.9 The PTSA catalysed methylation reaction of acetoin with DMC75

acetoin with DMC under acidic condition7
Scheme 2.11 The possible mechanism of the direct methylation of acetoin by DMC under
acidic condition7
Scheme 2.12 The possible E1 path of dehydration of acetoin under acidic environment7
Scheme 2.13 The Friedel-Crafts synthesis of 4-MAP from anisole and acetic anhydrid
promoted by iron (III) chloride in different solvents8
Scheme 2.14 The Diels-Alder synthesis of DE from 3-buten-2-one and diene catalyse
by ytterbium(III) chloride in different solvents9
Scheme 3.1 Synthetic routes to glycerol carbonates9
Scheme 3.2 The synthesis of glycerol formal and solketal from glycerol catalysed by soli
acid catalysts9
Scheme 3.3 The synthesis of MMC from solketal and DMC catalysed by potassium carbonat
at DMC reflux temperature9
Scheme 3.4 The reaction of MMC with nucleophile catalysed by base
Scheme 3.5 The possible formation of peroxide of MMC
Scheme 3.6 The synthesis of diMMC from solketal and MMC catalysed by potassiur
Scheme 3.6 The synthesis of diMMC from solketal and MMC catalysed by potassiur carbonate
Scheme 3.6 The synthesis of diMMC from solketal and MMC catalysed by potassiur carbonate Scheme 3.7 The competing reaction among solketal, DMC and MMC
 Scheme 3.6 The synthesis of diMMC from solketal and MMC catalysed by potassiur carbonate
 Scheme 3.6 The synthesis of diMMC from solketal and MMC catalysed by potassiur carbonate
 Scheme 3.6 The synthesis of diMMC from solketal and MMC catalysed by potassiur carbonate
Scheme 3.6 The synthesis of diMMC from solketal and MMC catalysed by potassiur carbonate 10 Scheme 3.7 The competing reaction among solketal, DMC and MMC 10 Scheme 3.8 The Friedel-Crafts synthesis of 4-MAP from anisole and acetic anhydrid promoted by iron (III) chloride in different solvents 11 Scheme 3.9 The Diels-Alder synthesis of DE from 3-buten-2-one and diene catalyse by ytterbium(III) chloride in different solvents 11
Scheme 3.6 The synthesis of diMMC from solketal and MMC catalysed by potassiur carbonate 10 Scheme 3.7 The competing reaction among solketal, DMC and MMC 10 Scheme 3.8 The Friedel-Crafts synthesis of 4-MAP from anisole and acetic anhydrid promoted by iron (III) chloride in different solvents 11 Scheme 3.9 The Diels-Alder synthesis of DE from 3-buten-2-one and diene catalyse by ytterbium(III) chloride in different solvents 11 Scheme 4.1 The general equation for Brønsted acid 12
Scheme 3.6 The synthesis of diMMC from solketal and MMC catalysed by potassiur carbonate 10 Scheme 3.7 The competing reaction among solketal, DMC and MMC 10 Scheme 3.8 The Friedel-Crafts synthesis of 4-MAP from anisole and acetic anhydrid promoted by iron (III) chloride in different solvents 11 Scheme 3.9 The Diels-Alder synthesis of DE from 3-buten-2-one and diene catalyse by ytterbium(III) chloride in different solvents 11 Scheme 4.1 The general equation for Brønsted acid 12 Scheme 4.2 The Lewis acid-base reaction 12
Scheme 3.6 The synthesis of diMMC from solketal and MMC catalysed by potassiur carbonate 10 Scheme 3.7 The competing reaction among solketal, DMC and MMC 10 Scheme 3.8 The Friedel-Crafts synthesis of 4-MAP from anisole and acetic anhydrid promoted by iron (III) chloride in different solvents 11 Scheme 3.9 The Diels-Alder synthesis of DE from 3-buten-2-one and diene catalyse by ytterbium(III) chloride in different solvents 11 Scheme 4.1 The general equation for Brønsted acid 12 Scheme 4.2 The Lewis acid-base reaction 12 Scheme 4.3 The dehydration of alcohol catalysed by sulphuric acid 12
Scheme 3.6 The synthesis of diMMC from solketal and MMC catalysed by potassiur carbonate 10 Scheme 3.7 The competing reaction among solketal, DMC and MMC 10 Scheme 3.8 The Friedel-Crafts synthesis of 4-MAP from anisole and acetic anhydrid promoted by iron (III) chloride in different solvents 11 Scheme 3.9 The Diels-Alder synthesis of DE from 3-buten-2-one and diene catalyse by ytterbium(III) chloride in different solvents 11 Scheme 4.1 The general equation for Brønsted acid 12 Scheme 4.2 The Lewis acid-base reaction 12 Scheme 4.3 The dehydration of alcohol catalysed by sulphuric acid 12 Scheme 4.4 The Brønsted acid catalysed Fischer esterification reaction 12
Scheme 3.6 The synthesis of diMMC from solketal and MMC catalysed by potassiur carbonate 10 Scheme 3.7 The competing reaction among solketal, DMC and MMC 10 Scheme 3.8 The Friedel-Crafts synthesis of 4-MAP from anisole and acetic anhydrid promoted by iron (III) chloride in different solvents 11 Scheme 3.9 The Diels-Alder synthesis of DE from 3-buten-2-one and diene catalyse by ytterbium(III) chloride in different solvents 11 Scheme 4.1 The general equation for Brønsted acid 12 Scheme 4.2 The Lewis acid-base reaction 12 Scheme 4.3 The dehydration of alcohol catalysed by sulphuric acid 12 Scheme 4.4 The Brønsted acid catalysed Fischer esterification reaction 12 Scheme 4.5 AlCl ₃ catalysed Friedel-Crafts reaction 12
Scheme 3.6 The synthesis of diMMC from solketal and MMC catalysed by potassiur carbonate 10 Scheme 3.7 The competing reaction among solketal, DMC and MMC 10 Scheme 3.8 The Friedel-Crafts synthesis of 4-MAP from anisole and acetic anhydrid promoted by iron (III) chloride in different solvents 11 Scheme 3.9 The Diels-Alder synthesis of DE from 3-buten-2-one and diene catalyse by ytterbium(III) chloride in different solvents 11 Scheme 4.1 The general equation for Brønsted acid 12 Scheme 4.2 The Lewis acid-base reaction 12 Scheme 4.3 The dehydration of alcohol catalysed by sulphuric acid 12 Scheme 4.4 The Brønsted acid catalysed Fischer esterification reaction 12 Scheme 4.5 AlCl ₃ catalysed Friedel-Crafts reaction 12 Scheme 4.6 The sulphuric acid catalysed DMC carboxymethylation reaction for tyrose 12
Scheme 3.6 The synthesis of diMMC from solketal and MMC catalysed by potassiur carbonate 10 Scheme 3.7 The competing reaction among solketal, DMC and MMC 10 Scheme 3.8 The Friedel-Crafts synthesis of 4-MAP from anisole and acetic anhydrid promoted by iron (III) chloride in different solvents 11 Scheme 3.9 The Diels-Alder synthesis of DE from 3-buten-2-one and diene catalyse by ytterbium(III) chloride in different solvents 11 Scheme 4.1 The general equation for Brønsted acid 12 Scheme 4.2 The Lewis acid-base reaction 12 Scheme 4.3 The dehydration of alcohol catalysed by sulphuric acid 12 Scheme 4.4 The Brønsted acid catalysed Fischer esterification reaction 12 Scheme 4.5 AlCl ₃ catalysed Friedel-Crafts reaction 12 Scheme 4.6 The sulphuric acid catalysed DMC carboxymethylation reaction for tyroso 12

Scheme 4.7 The sulphuric acid catalysed DMC carboxymethylation reaction for homovanillyl

alcohol
Scheme 4.8 The methylation reaction between 1-octanol and DMC catalysed by acidic γ -
alumina in ScCO ₂ 124
Scheme 4.9 Acid-catalysed DMC carboxymethylation/methylation reaction for different
alcohols and phenols at 90 °C or 160 °C 126
Scheme 4.10 The dehydration of 2-butanol in DMC promoted by stoichiometric H_2SO_4 at
90 °C 129
Scheme 4.11 The dehydration of 2-octanol in DMC promoted by stoichiometric H_2SO_4 at
90 °C
Scheme 4.12 The possible mechanism of Brønsted acid catalysed carboxymethylation
between DMC and alcohols 130
Scheme 4.13 The dehydration of cyclohexanol in DMC/n-heptane promoted by
stoichiometric FeCl ₃ or H_2SO_4 at 90 °C 136
Scheme 4.14 The dehydration of 2-decanol in DMC/n-heptane promoted by stoichiometric
$FeCl_3$ or H_2SO_4 at 90 °C 137
Scheme 4.15 The methylation of cyclohexanol with DMC and stoichiometric FeCl $_3$ at 90 °C
Scheme 4.16 The formation process of chlorocyclohexane
Scheme 4.17 The reaction between DMC and 1-octanol promoted by potassium carbonate
at 200 °C 144
Scheme 5.1 The main cleavage mechanism of MO in the MS (EI) 157
Scheme 5.2 The main cleavage mechanism of MC in the MS (EI) 158
Scheme 5.3 The carboxymethylation reaction between acetoin and DMC 159
Scheme 5.4 The synthesis of MO from acetoin and methyl iodide catalysed by silver (I) oxide
Scheme 5.5 The main cleavage mechanism of MMC in the MS (EI)

List of tables

Table 1.1 The classification of solvents and the examples 32
Table 1.2 List of limited conventional solvents according to REACH regulation
Table 1.3 The twelve criterions of green solvent proposed by Y. Gu and F. Jérôme ³⁷
Table 1.4 The advantages of DMC comparing to phosgene and DMS 52
Table 2.1 The HSPiP predicted properties of the candidate bio-based solvents 67
Table 2.2 The experimental results of the reactions between DMC and acetoin catalysed by
different catalysts74
Table 2.3 The effect of PTSA catalytic loading on the synthesis of MO 78
Table 2.4 The effect of mole ratio of DMC to acetoin on the synthesis of MO
Table 2.5 The effect of reaction time on the synthesis of MO 80
Table 2.6 The monitoring of formation of peroxide of MO
Table 2.7 The λ_{max} of UV-vis. of different dyes in MO
Table 2.8 The properties of MO and other traditional aprotic solvents 86
Table 3.1 The HSPiP predicted properties of the candidate bio-based solvents synthesised
from glycerol derivatives via DMC chemistry
Table 3.2 The effect of the reaction time on the synthesis of MMC
Table 3.3 The effect of catalytic loading on the synthesis of MMC 102
Table 3.4 The effect of mole ratio of substrates on the synthesis of MMC
Table 3.5 The monitoring of formation of peroxide of MMC
Table 3.6 The λ_{max} of UV-vis. of different dyes in MMC
Table 3.7 The properties of MMC and other traditional aprotic solvents 109
Table 3.8 Ames test for MMC with TA98
Table 3.9 Ames test for MMC with TA100
Table 4.1 Conversion and selectivity of the PTSA promoted carboxymethylation reaction
between various alcohols and DMC 127
Table 4.2 Conversion and selectivity of the sulphuric acid promoted carboxymethylation
reaction between various alcohols and DMC128
Table 1.2 Conversion and colocitivity of the aluminium oblarida promoted

carboxymethylation reaction between various alcohols and DMC132
Table 4.4 Conversion and selectivity of the aluminium chloride promoted methylation
reaction between phenols and DMC133
Table 4.5 Conversion and selectivity of the aluminium chloride promoted
carboxymethylation and methylation reactions between phenols and DMC at extended
reaction time134
Table 4.6 Conversion and selectivity of the iron (III) chloride promoted carboxymethylation
reaction between various alcohols and DMC135
Table 4.7 Conversion and selectivity of the iron (III) chloride or sulphuric acid promoted
reaction for cyclohexanol in DMC or n-heptane138
Table 4.8 Conversion and selectivity of iron (III) chloride or sulphuric acid promoted
dehydration reaction for 2-decanol in DMC or n-heptane139
Table 4.9 Conversion and selectivity of the PTSA promoted carboxymethylation reaction
between various alcohols and DMC at high temperature141
Table 4.10 Conversion and selectivity of the aluminium chloride promoted
carboxymethylation reaction between various alcohols and DMC at high temperature
Table 4.11 Conversion and selectivity of the iron (III) chloride promoted carboxymethylation
reaction between various alcohols and DMC at high temperature143
Table 5.1 The IR analysis of the high b.p. by-products 160

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to extend my sincere gratitude to my supervisors Professor James Clark, Dr. Andrew Hunt and Dr. Con Robert McElroy who guided and instructed me during my PhD research. Under their immense knowledge, valuable suggestions, constant encouragement patience, motivation, enthusiasm, humorous, I have benefitted a lot about the academic thinking and writing, data analysis, operation of experimental apparatus, solving various problems during the research. I am deeply grateful for their instructions for my Master and PhD research, they are my good teachers and friends during my lifetime.

Besides my supervisors, I also would like to thank Dr. Duncan Macquarrie who provided me many constructive suggestions for my project and Dr. James Sherwood who guided me to use HSPiP software and gave a lot of beneficial suggestions about my research as well as preparing the papers. Huge thanks to Dr. Ian Ingram, Dr. Thomas Attard and Dr. Hannah Briers for their great suggestions for my PhD thesis writing, Long Zhou for his help with TGA analysis, Dr. Cheng Ding for his help with DSC analysis, Fergal Byrne for his assistance in Ames test, Karl Heaton and Julia Sarju for their assistance in gas phase GC-MS analysis, Professor Yinjuan Bai for her beneficial suggestions of GC-MS data analysis and Paul Elliott for his professional technical support in the lab. Special thanks to my friend Dr. Yin Tian who prepared a paper with me about the density functional theory (DFT) analysis of acid-catalysed dimethyl carbonate chemistry and gave me many helpful suggestions for job search in China.

I would also thank my friends Dr. Guangmao Tian, Dr. Tengyao Jiang, Dr. Hemin Abdoul, Kaana Asemave, Keisuke Tomono, Giulia Paggiola, Andrea Muñoz, Dr. Zhanrong Zhang and Dr. Jiajun Fan for their great help during my PhD project. Many thanks to all the other members of the Green Chemistry group in the University of York.

Finally and most importantly, I would like to thank my parents for their unconditional love during my Master and PhD project in the UK. Without their support, I would not be able to suffer the pressure and finish my PhD oversea.

Declaration

Some of the results presented in this thesis were obtained through collaboration with others, details as follows:

- Chapter 2 The optimisation reactions were carried out under the assistance of Dr. Con Robert McElroy. Ames test was carried out with the assistance of Fergal Byrne.
- 2. Chapter 3 Ames test was carried out with the assistance of Fergal Byrne.
- Chapter 4 Gas phase GC-MS analysis of butene was carried out by Karl Heaton and Julia Sarju.

All other results are the work of the author. Aspects of work presented in this thesis have been included in publications, references as follows:

- S. Jin, A. J. Hunt, J. H. Clark and C. R. McElroy, Acid-catalysed carboxymethylation, methylation and dehydration of alcohols and phenols with dimethyl carbonate under mild conditions, *Green Chem.*, 2016, **18**, 5839-5844.
- F. P. Byrne, S. Jin, G. Paggiola, T. H. M. Petchey, J. H. Clark, T. J. Farmer, A. J. Hunt, C.
 R. McElroy and J. Sherwood, Tools and techniques for solvent selection: green solvent selection guides, *Sustain. Chem. Process.*, 2016, 4, 7.
- 3. F. P. Byrne, S. Jin, C. R. McElroy, T. J. Farmer, J. H. Clark and A. J. Hunt *"Chapter 5 Solvent from Waste"*, in Bio-based Solvents, F. Jerome (Ed.), Willey, 2017.

The work presented in this thesis has not previously been submitted for a degree at this or any other university.

Chapter 1 Introduction

Part of the work presented in this chapter has appeared in:

F. P. Byrne, S. Jin, G. Paggiola, T. H. M. Petchey, J. H. Clark, T. J. Farmer, A. J. Hunt, C. R.

McElroy and J. Sherwood, Tools and techniques for solvent selection: green solvent selection guides, *Sustain. Chem. Process.*, 2016, 4, 7

F. P. Byrne, S. Jin, C. R. McElroy, T. J. Farmer, J. H. Clark and A. J. Hunt "*Chapter 5 Solvent from Waste*", in Bio-based Solvents, F. Jerome (Ed.), Willey, 2017

Poster given at 6th International IUPAC Conference on Green Chemistry, Venice, Italy, September 2016

1.1 Scope of this project

The preliminary scope of this project is to synthesise and purify new solvents, as replacements for traditional solvents, from bio-derived platform molecules and dimethyl carbonate (DMC). Candidate platform molecules were selected based on the calculation of Hansen Solubility Parameters in Practice (HSPiP) software. Properties of these novel bio-based solvents were experimentally determined and applied to test reactions to evaluate their performances compared to conventional organic media. In addition, acid-catalysed DMC chemistry was developed in order to further expand the application of DMC in terms of green chemistry. Therefore, the work conducted in this thesis may be split into three main areas as shown below:

(1) Acetoin derived bio-based solvents: on the basis of predicted Hansen solubility parameters by HSPiP software, acetoin was used as a platform molecule to synthesise the new bio-based solvent 3-methoxybutan-2-one, with DMC utilised as a green methylation agent. After optimisation of synthetic conditions followed by multi-gram synthesis and purification, Kamlet-Taft parameters, mutagenicity and other properties of 3-methoxybutan-2-one were measured. Finally, Friedel–Crafts and Diels-Alder reactions were utilised to test the solvent performance of this novel bio-based solvent in comparison with other common solvents.

(2) Solketal derived bio-based solvents: according to the modelling of Hansen solubility parameters by HSPiP, glycerol derived solketal was employed to synthesise the novel bio-based solvent methyl (2,2-dimethyl-1,3-dioxolan-4-yl) methyl carbonate, with DMC as a green carboxymethylation agent. After optimisation of synthetic conditions followed by multi-gram synthesis and purification, Kamlet-Taft parameters, mutagenicity and other properties of methyl (2,2-dimethyl-1,3-dioxolan-4-yl) methyl carbonate were investigated. Finally, Friedel–Crafts and Diels-Alder reactions were employed to assess the solvent performance of this new bio-based solvent compared to other traditional solvents.

(3) Acid-catalysed DMC chemistry: in order to expand DMC mediated carboxymethylation, methylation and dehydration chemistry *via* acid catalysis, primary, secondary and tertiary alcohols and phenols were reacted with DMC under various conditions in the presence of Brønsted or Lewis acids.

1.2 Green chemistry

The concept of green chemistry is defined as the "design of chemical products and processes to reduce or eliminate the use and generation of hazardous substances."^{1,2} Generally, the chemical industry defines the risk of a process by:

Risk = Hazard x Exposure

Risk is traditionally controlled by reducing the exposure of chemicals to the operators. However, green chemistry takes a different approach, whereby the intrinsic hazard is decreased *via* the application of alternative methods. Green chemistry nowadays plays a vital role in all areas of the chemical industry as a result of increasing public awareness and regulation concerns pertaining to the hazards and sustainability of a chemical process. Many types of research have been implemented to develop new green chemistry technology by universities, institutions, industries and governments all over the world,² and sustainable development is now generally accepted as an imperative goal for realising social, economic and environmental objectives.³ To provide a guiding framework for the design of greener products and processes, the Twelve Principles of Green Chemistry were then introduced by P. Anastas and J. Warner:⁴

(1) Prevention

It is better to prevent waste than to treat or clean up waste after it has been created.

(2) Atom Economy

Synthetic methods should be designed to maximise the incorporation of all materials used in the process into the final product.

(3) Less Hazardous Chemical Syntheses

Wherever practicable, synthetic methods should be designed to use and generate substances that possess little or no toxicity to human health and the environment.

(4) Designing Safer Chemicals

Chemical products should be designed to affect their desired function while minimising their

30

toxicity.

(5) Safer Solvents and Auxiliaries

The use of auxiliary substances (*e.g.*, solvents, separation agents, *etc.*) should be made unnecessary wherever possible and innocuous when used.

(6) Design for Energy Efficiency

Energy requirements of chemical processes should be recognised for their environmental and economic impacts and should be minimised. If possible, synthetic methods should be conducted at ambient temperature and pressure.

(7) Use of Renewable Feedstocks

A raw material or feedstock should be renewable rather than depleting whenever technically and economically practicable.

(8) Reduce Derivatives

Unnecessary derivatisation (use of blocking groups, protection/ deprotection, temporary modification of physical/chemical processes) should be minimised or avoided if possible, because such steps require additional reagents and can generate waste.

(9) Catalysis

Catalytic reagents (as selective as possible) are superior to stoichiometric reagents.

(10) Design for Degradation

Chemical products should be designed so that at the end of their function they break down into innocuous degradation products and do not persist in the environment.

(11) Real-time analysis for Pollution Prevention

Analytical methodologies need to be further developed to allow for real-time, in-process monitoring and control prior to the formation of hazardous substances.

(12) Inherently Safer Chemistry for Accident Prevention

Substances and the form of a substance used in a chemical process should be chosen to minimise the potential for chemical accidents, including releases, explosions, and fires.

This thesis will focus on employing the Twelve Principles of Green Chemistry as a methodology to lead the development of novel bio-based solvent from renewable resources, which has reduced hazards of chemical processes and increased sustainability.

1.3 Traditional solvents

1.3.1 The conception and classification of solvents

A solvent is a medium used to dissolve the solute to form a solution.⁵ Solvents are commonly applied in industrial and lab-based procedures as diluters and reaction media, which aim to bring substrates and/or catalysts together as well as deliver heat, or a carrier for extraction, separation and purification.^{5,6} Solvents are also employed for recrystallisation, as coating removers, chromatography mobile phases, cleaning, *etc*. Currently, a large number of solvents are in daily use in the fine chemical and pharmaceutical industry. For example, in 2012, almost 28 million metric tonnes of solvent were consumed around the world.⁷

Protic solvents	Dipolar aprotic solvents	Non-polar solvents
Water	Acetone	Dichloromethane
Liquid ammonia	Acetonitrile	Ethyl acetate
Ethanol	Nitromethane	Cyclohexane
Benzyl alcohol	Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO)	Tetrahydrofuran (THF)
Acetic acid	Pyridine	Benzene

Table 1.1 The classification of solvents and the examples

In general, a solvent can be classified into three different categories (Table 1.1),⁸ viz., protic solvents, dipolar aprotic solvents and non-polar solvents:

(1) A protic solvent is a solvent which can form hydrogen bonds. Protic solvents donate labile protons and are better for the unimolecular nucleophilic substitution reactions (S_N 1).

(2) A dipolar aprotic solvent is a solvent which has a permanent dipole but does not contain

labile protons. In comparison with protic solvents, dipolar aprotic solvents are better for the bimolecular nucleophilic substitution reactions ($S_N 2$).

(3) A non-polar solvent is defined as a solvent with a low dielectric constant (<15). Non-polar solvents are not a proton source and only exhibit weak intermolecular forces.

1.3.2 The problems and REACH regulations for traditional organic solvents

Nowadays, although organic solvents are used ubiquitously throughout chemistry, there are still many challenges and problems relating to their application, including environmental issues, health and safety (EHS) issues and sustainability. Firstly, many organic solvents are volatile organic compounds (VOCs) and are highly toxic, which is not only harmful to human health but is also a threat to the environment. Previous research demonstrated that many traditional solvents are highly mutagenic and suspected to be carcinogenic.^{9,10} Some of the halogenated hydrocarbon solvents, such as chlorofluoromethanes,¹¹ are found to deplete the ozone layer which increases the levels of ultraviolet (UV) radiation reaching the surface of the earth. Worse still, the vast majority of traditional organic solvents are inherently non-renewable due to their synthesis from petroleum feedstock, which does not comply with the principle of sustainable development.

At present, stricter legislations and regulations concerning the use of organic solvents are being implemented. From 2006, Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and restriction of CHemicals (REACH)¹² has been executed by the European Union (EU). REACH is one of the most rigorous regulations ever adopted. It forces companies to register every chemical (manufactured or imported at more than one tonne per year) and evaluate its health and environmental risks. It is deemed 'illegal' when companies supply unregistered substances (so called 'no data, no market'). REACH proposed a candidate list of substances of very high concerns (SVHCs) for authorisation,¹³ including common organic solvents (Table 1.2) such as 1,2-dichloroethane, 1-methyl-2-pyrrolidone (NMP), *N*,*N*-dimethylformamide (DMF), *N*,*N*-dimethylacetamide (DMAc), nitrobenzene and 1,2-diethoxyethane. These SVHCs will be banned for sale or use after a set date, with further use only permitted by authorisation, with REACH urging manufacturers to

search for alternative substances or procedures. REACH also limits the industrial use of the most hazardous materials, and these restricted hazardous compounds¹⁴ include typical widely used organic solvents (Table 1.2) such as dichloromethane (DCM), 1,1,2,2-tetrachloroethane, chloroform, cyclohexane, benzene and toluene. REACH is currently playing a vital role in the import and use of various chemicals in the EU. Any product which does not comply with REACH regulations is eliminated from the market *via* 'Rapid Alert System for Dangerous Non-food Products' (RAPEX) information scheme.¹⁵

SVHCs for authorisation	Restricted usage
1,2-Dichloroethane	DCM
NMP	1,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane
DMF	Chloroform
DMAc	Cyclohexane
Nitrobenzene	Benzene
1,2-Diethoxyethane	Toluene

Table 1.2 List of limited conventional solvents according to REACH regulation

Apart from REACH, some other strict laws also have been implemented. In 1999, Canada implemented Schedule I of the Canadian Environmental Protection Act that focuses on the regulation of the use and release of toxic substances.¹⁶ The United States also has the "Code of Federal Regulation Title 40" to protect human health and the environment.¹⁷

As a consequence, in order to avoid these existing problems of conventional solvents and comply with relevant legislation requirements, it is important to develop new green alternatives while retaining similar properties to traditional solvents.

1.4 DCM as an organic solvent

1.4.1 Advantages of DCM

DCM (as shown in Fig. 1.1), also known as methylene chloride, is a significant chlorinated organic

solvent which has been widely utilised for many applications such as extractions, photochemistry,¹⁸ electrochemistry¹⁹ and homogeneous chemistry.²⁰ As a petroleum-based compound, DCM is generally produced from chloromethane or methane by reacting with chlorine gas at an elevated temperature of 360-380 °C.²¹ DCM has many advantages as a solvent resulting from its excellent physical and chemical properties. Firstly, DCM can dissolve numerous organic compounds, and it is also a non-flammable organic solvent. Furthermore, DCM remains inert in most organic reactions, and also possesses low melting point (-94.9 °C) and boiling point (39.6 °C), which makes DCM a good solvent at low temperatures and can be removed easily from the product mixture after synthesis.²² Moreover, DCM is only slightly soluble in water and hence it can easily be separated from water.



Fig. 1.1 The structure of DCM

1.4.2 Applications of DCM

DCM has been used extensively as a reaction medium and also in many other applications. For example, (a) DCM is used in pharmaceutical industries as a reaction solvent for the production of antibiotics such as ampicillin,²³ amoxicillin derivative²⁴ and cephalosporins;²⁵ (b) DCM is employed as a propellant for aerosol gel,²⁶ a paint remover²⁷ and a blowing agent in foams;²⁸ (c) DCM also has been used in cellulose triacetate based film production;²⁹ (d) DCM is commonly utilised as an extraction agent in the food industry, such as decaffeinating for coffee;³⁰ (e) DCM has been used as a refrigerant.³¹

1.4.3 Problems of DCM

Although DCM exhibits many advantageous properties, there are still some problems relating to its use. During the 1970s, the initial concern about exposure to DCM was the formation of

carboxyhemoglobin, which is a compound produced by carbon monoxide and hemoglobin, in the human body.³² This causes the oxygen-carrying capacity in the blood to decline. In addition, the U.S. National Toxicology Program (NTP) reported that DCM exposure could lead to a dosedependent increase in the incidence of lung and liver cancer in mice.³³ The United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) has classified DCM as a B2 carcinogen (probable human carcinogen).³⁴ DCM also has acute toxicity to human beings and its adverse effect on the central nervous system has been reported as playing a critical role in a number of fatalities.³⁵ Consequently, it is necessary to find a new less toxic green solvent produced from renewable materials to replace DCM.

1.5 Bio-based solvents

1.5.1 Green solvent

As discussed in Section 1.3 and Section 1.4, many traditional solvents have various issues such as sustainability, toxicity to human health and damaging the environment. One simple method to overcome these problems is to eliminate the need of a solvent, with solvent-free processes having already been applied in many reactions such as cycloaddition and polymerisation.³⁶ However, there are still many problems relating to its application on a large-scale production such as limited mass transfer, high viscosity, low reaction rate and low selectivity for the product.^{37,38} Overall, application of solvent-free reactions are currently still very limited. Therefore, development and application of green solvents as replacements for conventional organic solvents is more feasible and of greater interest.

Although to date, there is not a clear universal definition of a "green solvent", it is commonly accepted that their production, usage and disposal comply with the Twelve Principles of Green Chemistry to as great an extent as possible. Y. Gu and F. Jérôme suggested a twelve assessment criterion of green solvents inspired by the Twelve Principles of Green Chemistry (Table 1.3).³⁷
Available on a large scale and produced stably in the market Competitive and stable prices Fully recycled by eco-efficient process Technical grade solvents are needed for preventing the energy-intensive purification procedures Synthesised via high atom economy reaction and energy efficiency processes Negligible toxicities Biodegradable and producing non-toxic metabolites Similar or even better performances than the traditional solvents Stable regarding thermostability and electrochemistry Preferred to be not flammable Stored easily and transported safety with satisfied all of the legislations Preferred to be produced from the renewable materials

This green solvent criterion is over-detailed and covers almost every aspect of EHS and lifecycle assessment (LCA) of a solvent. Although these criterions can be considered as a guide to develop a green solvent, it is not an efficient model as it is practically impossible to find a single solvent simultaneously satisfying all these twelve points. Moreover, a solvent may be considered to be green in a certain reaction while it may not be defined as such in another reaction due to, for example, a different separation method employed. Therefore, it is very challenging to find a philosophically unique definition of what is a 'green solvent'.

Capello *et al.* proposed a relative definition of a green solvent, which can be summarised as follows: A green solvent is a solvent having a lower EHS impact and energy demand during its LCA compared to conventional solvents.³⁹ This definition rationally explains the profound meaning of green solvents. In this work, this definition is cited as the implication of green solvents. Currently, there are four main research areas of green solvents:^{39,40} supercritical fluids,^{41,42} room temperature ionic liquids,⁴³ fluorous solvents^{44,45} and bio-based solvents.

1.5.2 The introduction of bio-based solvents

The term *bio-based solvent*, covering the terms *bio-solvent* and *bio-derived solvent*, is defined as a solvent in which at least 20% of the carbon is bio-sourced.^{46,47} Bio-based solvents, derived directly (bio-solvent) or synthesised (bio-derived solvent) from natural materials, are being developed to become benign replacements for petroleum-based solvents.⁴⁸



Fig. 1.2 Bio-based solvents

Recently, efforts to expand the range and number of bio-based solvents have increased dramatically. The reason for this is that: (a) known petroleum resources are becoming exhausted; (b) sustainable manufacture has the potential to raise public confidence in the chemical industry; (c) new standards for labelling compounds as "bio-based" results in solvent synthesis being more transparent and promoting higher values.^{37,49} Specifically, when a bio-based solvent is used, the cycle of bio-based carbon is closed: at the end of life, these bio-based compounds are usually incinerated or lost to the atmosphere as carbon dioxide, which in turn is fixed during photosynthesis, allowing for the carbon to be reincorporated back into bio-based solvents. The

utilisation of biomass in this process ensures more sustainable life cycle and reduces the carbon footprint of the solvent. Some of the representational bio-based solvents are shown in Fig. 1.2.

1.5.2.1 2-Methyl tetrahydrofuran as a bio-based solvent

2-Methyl tetrahydrofuran (2-MeTHF), synthesised from a furfural platform (Scheme 1.1),⁵⁰⁻⁵³ which can be produced from lignocellulosic biomass (Fig 1.3),^{54,55} is an outstanding commercially available bio-based solvent thanks to its wide range of solubility and physical properties as well as non-mutagenicity.⁵⁶

2-MeTHF can substitute many conventional solvents such as THF,^{57,58} diethyl ether⁵⁸ and toluene⁵⁹ in organometallic reactions and DCM in biphasic reactions.⁶⁰ Previous research also reported that 2-MeTHF could increase the chemoselectivity and enantioselectivity of organometallic reactions.⁶¹⁻⁶³ Based on its low miscibility with water, it has already been used as a medium to extract organic compounds from the aqueous phase.⁶⁴ 2-MeTHF was also found to be a good solvent for biochemical reactions.⁶⁵⁻⁶⁷

Recently, 2-MeTHF was reported to be utilised as a green reaction medium for Suzuki-Miyaura coupling of arylboronic acids to aromatic ketones promoted by oxime-palladacycle.⁶⁸



Fig. 1.3 The lifecycle of 2-MeTHF



Scheme 1.1 The hydrogenation process of production of 2-MeTHF from furfural platform

1.5.2.2 Cyrene as a bio-based solvent

Levoglucosenone is one of the most substantial pyrolysis products from cellulose biomass, and it has already been employed as a chiral building block for the synthesis of a wide range of new compounds.⁶⁹⁻⁷¹ Sherwood *et al.* synthesised a novel commercialised bio-based solvent named Cyrene (dihydrolevoglucosenone) from levoglucosenone *via* hydrogenation (Scheme 1.2).^{72,73} Cyrene can be used to replace the conventional dipolar aprotic solvents such as NMP, DMF and sulpholane.^{72,74}



Scheme 1.2 The synthesis of Cyrene from levoglucosenone

1.5.2.3 D-Limonene as a bio-based solvent

D-Limonene is a monocyclic monoterpene compound possessing a lemon-like odour and is a major ingredient in some of the citrus oils such as orange, lime, lemon, grapefruit and

mandarin.⁷⁵ D-Limonene can be produced from organic peel biomass (Fig. 1.4).⁷⁶⁻⁷⁸ It is considered to be the only bio-based solvent which can be used as a substitute for petroleum-based non-polar solvents, such as hexane.⁷⁹⁻⁸¹ Moreover, D-Limonene was found as an efficient solvent for the synthesis of esters and amides.⁸² Recently, Zhu *et al.* employed D-Limonene as a bio-based medium for the fabrication of high-performance polymer light-emitting diodes and field-effect transistors.⁸³



Fig. 1.4 D-Limonene obtained from orange peel

1.5.2.4 Ethyl lactate as a bio-based solvent

Ethyl lactate is a bio-based solvent which is mainly produced by the esterification reaction between renewable substrates ethanol and lactic acid under acidic catalysis (Scheme 1.3).⁸⁴ Ethyl lactate exhibits many excellent properties such as a strong solubility for organic compounds, non-toxicity, biodegradability, non-ozone depleting and low production costs.³⁷ In the last decade, many efforts focusing on its production and application have been explored. Currently, many new applications of ethyl lactate as a green solvent can be found in the literature.⁸⁵⁻⁹³



Scheme 1.3 The production of ethyl lactate from lactic acid and ethanol

1.5.2.5 Glycerol as a bio-based solvent

Glycerol is a versatile green compound which has many merits such as bio-based,⁹⁴ renewable,⁹⁴ non-toxic,⁹⁵ non-hazardous, non-volatile, biodegradable,⁹⁶ very low price and easy storage.



Scheme 1.4 The production of biodiesels from triglycerides

Glycerol is the by-product of the biodiesel production, and approximately 10 Kg crude glycerol can be obtained from the production of per 100 Kg biodiesel by the transesterification of triglycerides (from vegetable oil or fat).^{97,98} Since the output of biodiesel has increased dramatically in the recent years,⁹⁹ the utilisation of surplus glycerol is attracting much interest. Glycerol has already been used as a valuable bio-based solvent for many organic syntheses such as nucleophilic substitution, oxidation, reduction, catalytic reduction, Heck coupling, asymmetric reduction, trans-esterification and some other reactions.¹⁰⁰⁻¹⁰³ Recently, glycerol was utilised as a solvent for the ampicillin synthesis.¹⁰⁴

However, its high reactivity with three hydroxyl groups limited its application in many organic reactions.

1.5.2.6 Some other bio-based solvents

In addition to these bio-based solvents mentioned above, there are some other bio-based solvents discussed in the literature (Fig. 1.5). *p*-Cymene is a new bio-based solvent which can be produced from D-limonene by isomerisation and dehydrogenation, and it has been found to be a viable medium for the synthesis of esters and amides.⁸³ α -Pinene is a bio-based solvent derived from turpentine oil¹⁰⁵ and has already been employed as a green extraction medium.¹⁰⁶



Fig. 1.5 Some other bio-based solvents

Some other common solvents such as ethanol, acetic acid, acetone¹⁰⁷ and ethyl acetate¹⁰⁸ can also be derived from bio-based platforms. Renewable and non-toxic γ -valerolactone (GVL) is also accepted as a new bio-based solvent,^{109,110} and it currently has many applications as a green medium.¹¹¹⁻¹¹³ Lactic acid, which is the starting material for the production of ethyl lactate, was found by Yang *et al.* to be a good bio-based solvent for a series of organic reactions.¹¹⁴

Overall, bio-based solvents have excellent prospects, and it is one of the leading research fields in green chemistry. Despite traditional petroleum-based solvents have some advantages compared to bio-based solvents, such as well-established, economically viable processes and lower reactivity,¹¹⁵ developing new bio-based solvents is still becoming a significant trend and requirement as a result of the increasing concerns about depleting fossil resources, problems of EHS and more rigorous legislations. The work in this thesis focuses on the utilisation of solvent parameters to search for novel bio-based solvents as direct replacements for conventional organic solvents as well as further investigate the solvent performance of the current bio-based solvents. It was found that Kamlet-Taft solvatochromic parameters and Hansen solubility parameters were two efficient tools for this.

1.6 Kamlet-Taft solvatochromic parameters

1.6.1 The conception of Kamlet-Taft parameters

Polarity is widely accepted as one of the basic methods for demonstrating the physical properties of solvents.¹¹⁶ All possible interactions between a solvent and solute are included in polarity except for chemical transformations.¹¹⁷ The Kamlet-Taft (KT) solvatochromic parameter is a widely used solvent tool, to aid in understanding and predicting the behaviours of a solvent.^{118-¹²⁴ KT parameters describe solvent polarity based on three different parameters: hydrogen bond donating (HBD) ability (α), hydrogen bond accepting (HBA) ability (β) and a combination of dipolarity and polarisability (π^*).¹²² π^* is used to measure the ability of a solvent to stabilise a dipole or a neighbouring charge by the function of nonspecific dielectric interactions.¹²² When the three Kamlet-Taft parameters α , β and π^* are used in linear solvation energy relationship (LSER), they can be utilised to explain extensive phenomena of solvents.¹²³ One of the common forms of LSER is given by Equation 1.1:¹²²}

$$XYZ = \ln(K) = XYZ_0 + s (\pi^* + d\delta_0) + a\alpha + b\beta$$
(1.1)

In Equation 1.1, *XYZ* stands for a solvent-dependent physicochemical property or represents a reactivity parameter in a specific solvent. *XYZ* is usually equal to ln (K), where K is the reaction rate constant. *XYZ*₀ =*XYZ* is when *XYZ* is in an inert solvent or under gas phase conditions. δ_0 is the polarisability correction term. *XYZ*₀, *a*, *b*, *s* and *d* are coefficients which are constants under specific conditions of the investigation. Therefore, the mathematic relation between reaction rate constant and KT parameters α , β and π^* of a solvent can be established, which demonstrates that KT parameters of a solvent have a profound influence on the chemical reaction kinetics.

KT parameters and LSER have already been utilised to understand the effects of solvents on many types of reactivity parameters as well as physicochemical properties in organic reactions.^{82,125-131}

1.6.2 Kamlet-Taft parameters of conventional and bio-based solvents

The intimate connection between KT parameters and rate constant suggests that when two solvents have similar KT parameters, they will also have similar solvent performance in terms of kinetics for a given reaction. Jessop¹³² proposed that a KT solvent map can be established with β and π^* as vertical and horizontal coordinates, respectively. Solvent maps can be separated in two different plots based on the value of α . One is used for the protic solvents (with $\alpha > 0.5$), another one is used for aprotic solvents (with $\alpha < 0.5$). If two solvents are adjacent on the solvent map,



Fig. 1.6 The KT map of conventional aprotic solvents; KT data of DMC is derived from Ref. 133; KT data of ethyl acetate and diethyl ether is derived from Ref. 119 and Ref. 134; KT data of acetonitrile and acetone is obtained from Ref. 135; KT data of propylene carbonate derived from Ref. 136; KT data of other conventional solvents is obtained from Ref. 137



Fig. 1.7 The KT map of aprotic bio-based solvents; KT data of D-limonene,⁸² 2-MeTHF,¹³³ acetone,¹³⁷ ethyl acetate,¹³⁷ α -pinene,¹³⁸ GVL,¹³⁸ p-cymene⁸² and Cyrene⁷² is obtained from literature

they will possibly have similar solvent performance. The solvent map provides a visual comprehension of KT parameters and is a convenient tool for solvent selection as well as the exploration of new green solvents.

In this work, aprotic solvents are the main research objectives. Fig. 1.6 and Fig. 1.7 illustrate the aprotic KT maps for conventional solvents and bio-based solvents, respectively. When comparing these two maps, it is evident that there is no bio-based solvent in Fig. 1.7 occupying the area populated by aromatic hydrocarbon and halogenated hydrocarbon solvents in Fig. 1.6, *i.e.* solvents with high polarity ($\pi^* > 0.5$) and low basicity ($\beta < 0.3$).

Since numerous organic reactions are carried out in these petroleum based solvents, it is vital to search for new bio-based alternatives with similar KT parameters to aid in the sustainable

development of the chemical industry.

1.7 Hansen solubility parameters

The universal principle of "like dissolves like" is widely employed for solubility parameters. In some cases, solubility parameters are also defined as "cohesion energy parameters" since they are obtained from the energy needed to transform a liquid into a gas.¹³⁹ The energy of vaporisation can be a direct measure of the total cohesion energy as all types of bonds assembling the liquid together can be broken by evaporation. Therefore, the total cohesive energy is identical to the energy of vaporisation.¹³⁹ Historically, the term *Solubility parameter* was first proposed by Hildebrand and Scott.^{140,141} The Hildebrand solubility parameter (δ) is defined as the square root of the cohesive energy density (see Equation 1.2) which is the energy required to remove a unit volume of molecules from their neighbours to be separated infinitely and is equal to E/V:

$$\delta = (E/V)^{1/2}$$
 (1.2)

In Equation 1.2, V stands for the molar volume of pure solvents, while E is its energy of vaporisation. Based on Equation 1.2, the unit of solubility parameters is MPa^{0.5}. Equation 1.3 can be obtained easily from Equation 1.2:

$$\delta^2 = E/V \tag{1.3}$$

Hansen proposed that the total energy of vaporisation (E) can be separated into at least three different parts:¹⁴² E_D , E_P and E_H . E_D is dispersion cohesive energy which comes from the nonpolar (dispersion) atomic forces, and E_P is the polar cohesive energy which is produced by the permanent dipole-permanent dipole molecular forces, while E_H represents the electron exchange energy which is obtained from the hydrogen bonding molecular forces.¹³⁹ Consequently, Equation 1.4 is then proposed as the core equation of Hansen solubility parameters (HSPs) theory:

$$E = E_D + E_P + E_H \tag{1.4}$$

Equation 1.5 can be attained *via* dividing Equation 1.4 by the molar volume V:

$$E/V = E_D/V + E_P/V + E_H/V$$
(1.5)

And then combining Equation 1.3 and Equation 1.5 can get Equation 1.6:

$$\delta^2 = \delta^2_{\rm D} + \delta^2_{\rm P} + \delta^2_{\rm H} \tag{1.6}$$

In Equation 1.6, δ is the Hildebrand solubility parameter, and HSPs δ_D , δ_P , and δ_H stand for Hansen dispersion cohesion solubility parameter, Hansen polar cohesion solubility parameter and Hansen hydrogen bonding cohesion solubility parameter, respectively, and can be calculated from the interactions of identical molecules in a pure liquid. Equation 1.6 clearly shows a mathematical relationship between Hildebrand solubility parameter and HSPs.

These three HSPs can be used as coordinates to establish a three dimension (3D) Hansen space. Equation 1.7 defined the Hansen distance (Ra) in Hansen space:

Ra =
$$\sqrt{4(\delta_{D2} - \delta_{D1})^2 + (\delta_{P2} - \delta_{P1})^2 + (\delta_{H2} - \delta_{H1})^2}$$
 (1.7)

In general, the lower the value of Ra the two chemicals have, the more similar solubility they will possess. R_0 is defined as "interaction radius". If the solubility of the solvent for the solute needs to be retained, Ra cannot exceed R_0 . The units of Ra and R_0 are both MPa^{0.5}. To compare Ra and R_0 , the relative energy difference (RED) was proposed as shown in Equation 1.8:

$$RED=Ra/R_0$$
(1.8)

When the number of RED is 0, it indicates that the solvent and solute do not have any difference in energy, and their solubility is identical. If the value of RED is less than 1, it demonstrates that the solvent and solute have high affinities, and they will dissolve into each other. If the number of RED is equal to 1 (the boundary condition), the molecules are only partially dissolved. If the value of RED is higher than 1, then the molecules will have lower affinities, and the solvent/solute, in this case, will not dissolve with each other.

HSPs are extensively used to predict solubility, select appropriate solvents and search for solvent alternatives. HSPs have been ubiquitously used for the research of polymer solubility in solvents and surface science for several decades.¹⁴³⁻¹⁴⁵ HSPs are also utilised for the research of coatings.¹⁴⁶ Recently, HSPs were used to study the encapsulation of caffeine in metal-organic frameworks (MOFs),¹⁴⁷ to predict the dispersion of nanoparticles in polymeric films,¹⁴⁸ to predict drug-nail interactions¹⁴⁹ and to predict solubility behaviour of globular plant proteins.¹⁵⁰

Overall, HSPs can be used as a powerful tool to predict solvent properties and investigate the similarity of solvency between the bio-based solvent and the traditional solvents.

1.8 Platform molecules

Bio-based platform molecules (bio-based building block or biomass derivatives), referred to hereafter simply as platform molecules, are molecules derived from biomass with multiple functional groups which possess the potential to construct new useful compounds.^{151,152} In 2004, the National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL) in the United States proposed a list of top 30 platform molecules (Fig. 1.8).¹⁵² These platform molecules include the following features: (a) they have multiple functionalities which can be used as a platform to convert to various derivatives, (b) they are derived from renewable starch and lignocellulosic materials, which adheres to the inherent virtues of green chemistry; (c) they are compounds with carbon numbers in the range of 1 to 6, many of which are potential monomers for the synthesis of bio-derived polymers.

Apart from these top 30 platform molecules listed by NREL, GVL was also recognised as a platform molecule and can be utilised for the synthesis of a wide range of chemicals such as polymers and jet fuel.¹⁵³ Isosorbide (Fig. 1.9) was proposed as a potential platform molecule for the synthesis of new polymers.¹⁵⁴ Recently, methyl vinyl glycolate was also reported to be a novel





renewable platform molecule which can be produced *via* zeolite catalysed degradation of monoand disaccharides.¹⁵⁵



Fig. 1.9 Platform molecules: isosorbide and methyl vinyl glycolate

In comparison to the petroleum-based chemicals, renewable building blocks contain various functionalities and heteroatoms making them excellent and easy starting points to construct valuable new chemicals.¹⁵¹

In summary, platform molecules are in accordance with the principle of sustainable development and have the potential to become feedstock for the synthesis of a vast number of chemicals as replacements for petroleum-derived compounds. Most relevant to this work, platform molecules offer a route to develop greener bio-based solvents as replacements for conventional solvents.

1.9 Dimethyl carbonate chemistry

1.9.1 The introduction of DMC

DMC (Fig. 1.10) is an established green solvent and a green reagent which has attracted significant attention. It readily biodegrades in the atmosphere¹⁵⁶ and is a non-toxic compound.¹⁵⁷ DMC has shown extensive applications as a solvent,¹⁵⁸ including in pharmaceutically relevant synthesis¹⁵⁹ as well as in biocatalysis.¹⁶⁰

In fact, as a result of its properties, a recent solvent guide classified DMC in the greenest "recommended" bracket.¹⁶¹ Additionally, supercritical DMC has been shown to provide a catalyst-free route to biodiesel and glycerol carbonate.¹⁶²



Fig. 1.10 The structure of DMC

Significantly, DMC is a green replacement for highly toxic and hazardous compounds such as (a) dimethyl sulphate (DMS) and halohydrocarbons (CH₃X, X = I, Br, Cl) in methylation reactions and (b) phosgene (COCl₂) in carboxymethylation (methoxycarbonylation) reactions.¹⁶³ Table 1.4 lists the advantages of DMC in comparison to phosgene and DMS.¹⁶⁴ Hence, significant interest has been given in utilising DMC in organic chemistry.

Phosgene and DMS	DMC		
Hazardous reactants	Innocuous reactant		
Solvent used	No other solvent used except for itself		
Waste water disposal	No treatment of waste water		
Sodium hydroxide consumption	Catalytic amount of base		
By-products: sodium chloride and Na_2SO_4	By-products: methanol and CO_2		
Exotherm	Little or no exothermic		

Table 1.4 The advantages of DMC comparing to phosgene and DMS

1.9.2 The synthesis and manufacture of DMC

Currently, there are six main procedures for the synthesis of DMC. They are (a) phosgene synthesis, (b) oxidative carbonylation of methanol, (c) transesterification process, (d) carbonylation of methyl nitrite, (e) direct synthesis process of CO_2 and methanol and (f) alcoholysis of urea (Fig. 1.11).

1.9.2.1 Phosgene synthesis

DMC was first prepared from methanol and phosgene as a side product of diphosgene, a toxic

material used in gas shells during the First World War.^{165,166} This synthesis has been used to produce DMC over an extensive period. However, due to the extremely toxic starting material phosgene and the production of hydrochloric acid as an undesired by-product, it is now obsolete.



Fig. 1.11 The six main procedures for the synthesis of DMC

1.9.2.2 Oxidative carbonylation synthesis

DMC can be produced from the oxidative carbonylation of methanol.^{167,168} Compared to the historic industrial synthesis using phosgene, this method has many advantages: widely available and low-cost raw materials, high production rates, no corrosive reactants used, only water and

carbon dioxide as by-products. Nevertheless, the disadvantages of this process include the hazard of the explosion of methanol and oxygen as well as the toxic starting material carbon monoxide.

1.9.2.3 Transesterification synthesis

China has developed a method of DMC synthesis which is known as the transesterification process.¹⁶⁹ It has already been industrialised for the production of DMC from cyclic carbonates, where these cyclic carbonates can be generated from carbon dioxide and epoxides (See Fig 1.11).¹⁶⁹ In particular, this procedure does not utilise any chlorine-containing reagents.

Recently, Li *et al.* published a method of a one-step synthesis of DMC from carbon dioxide, propylene oxide and methanol on alkali halides promoted by crown ethers, which shows excellent reusability, and a yield of DMC of 40% was obtained.¹⁷⁰ Liu *et al.* reported they synthesised DMC from carbon dioxide, methanol and epoxide catalysed by alkali carbonate under an initial CO₂ pressure of only 0.5 MPa, and a 63.5% yield of DMC was attained.¹⁷¹

1.9.2.4 Carbonylation of methyl nitrite

Another way to synthesise DMC is the carbonylation of methyl nitrite.¹⁷² (Pd–CuCl₂)/ γ -Al₂O₃ was used an efficient catalyst for the synthesis of DMC from carbon monoxide and CH₃ONO with nitric oxide as a by-product.¹⁷³ Dong *et al*. used the potassium ion containing Pd/NaY catalyst to promote the synthesis of DMC from carbon monoxide and methyl nitrite.¹⁷⁴ The problem with this process is that CO has been used in the reaction.

1.9.2.5 Direct synthesis from carbon dioxide and methanol

Tomishige *et al.* reported a method for the direct synthesis of DMC from methanol and CO₂ catalysed by zirconia.¹⁷⁵ DMC was also produced from carbon dioxide and methanol over Mg-Al hydrotalcite-silica hyogels.¹⁷⁶ Additionally, DMC was synthesised from CO₂ and MeOH catalysed

by CeO₂, and a yield of 96% was achieved.¹⁷⁷

1.9.2.6 Alcoholysis of urea

DMC can be synthesised *via* the alcoholysis of urea in methanol using various catalysts.¹⁷⁸⁻¹⁸³ This reaction pathway consists of two steps with methyl carbamate as the reaction intermediate. Metal oxides and polyphosphoric acid have been found to be the most active catalysts for this process.^{178,179,181,182} An evident merit of this procedure is that the by-product NH₃ can be utilised to reform the reactant urea.¹⁸⁴ Hou *et al.* reported that they synthesised DMC by direct alcoholysis of urea under supercritical methanol successfully, and a yield of DMC of 98% was obtained,¹⁸⁵ which implies that the supercritical technique could be an efficient way to improve the yield of DMC synthesised from direct alcoholysis of urea in methanol.

1.9.3 The reactivity of DMC

1.9.3.1 The basic mechanism of DMC chemistry

At different temperatures, DMC shows different possible reaction mechanisms:164

(a) When the reaction temperature is around 90 °C, the carboxymethylation reaction (Scheme 1.5) predominates *via* a $B_{Ac}2$ mechanism (*i.e.*, bimolecular, base-catalysed, acyl cleavage and nucleophilic substitution).



Scheme 1.5 The carboxymethylation mechanism of the DMC and nucleophile at 90 °C

(b) When the reaction temperature is higher than 120 °C (usually T = 160-200 °C), the methylation reaction (Scheme 1.6) predominates *via* a $B_{AL}2$ mechanism (*i.e.*, bimolecular, base-catalysed, alkyl cleavage and nucleophilic substitution):

Nu⁻ +
$$O$$
 $\xrightarrow{B_{AL}^2}$ Nu-CH₃ + [CH₃OCOO⁻]
CH₃O⁻ + CO₂

Scheme 1.6 The methylation mechanism of the DMC and nucleophile at 160 °C

Although both Scheme 1.5 and Scheme 1.6 can be used as rational theories to predict and explain many reactions of DMC, some DMC methylation or carboxymethylation reactions occur regardless of the temperature.¹⁶⁵ Hard-Soft Acid-Base (HSAB) theory has also been used as another way to explain the possible mechanism of basic DMC chemistry.

1.9.3.2 HSAB theory and its explanation for the basic mechanism of DMC chemistry

HSAB theory was proposed by Pearson in 1963 and improved by Mendez.¹⁸⁶⁻¹⁸⁸ According to HSAB, hard species have higher effective nuclear charge, smaller atomic radius and lower polarisability, while soft species have lower effective nuclear charge, larger atomic radius and higher polarisability.¹⁸⁹ HSAB theory suggests that softer nucleophiles react with softer centres, while harder nucleophiles tend to react with harder electrophiles.





Scheme 1.7 The basic DMC reaction mechanism based on the HSAB theory

DMC has three reaction centres and is an ambident electrophile. The saturated carbon atoms in the two methyl centres of DMC have sp³ hybridised orbits, while the central carbon adopts sp² hybridisation and has a polarised positive charge thanks to the electronegativity of the three adjacent oxygen atoms (the carbonyl dominating).¹⁹⁰ On the basis of HSAB theory, the carbonyl group is the harder electrophile while the methyl groups are the softer electrophiles.

Scheme 1.7 shows the basic DMC reaction mechanism based on the HSAB theory.¹⁹⁰ According to the HSAB theory, the soft nucleophile reacts with the soft methyl group on the DMC *via* a $B_{AL}2$ mechanism, while hard nucleophile reacts with the hard carbonyl group on the DMC by a $B_{AC}2$ mechanism. Tundo *et al.* suggested that aliphatic hydroxyl is a hard nucleophile.¹⁹⁰ Based on the HSAB theory, aliphatic hydroxyl group prefers to react with the hard carbonyl group electrophile in DMC to form methyl carbonate rather than methyl ether, no matter what temperature is applied in the reaction (Scheme 1.8). If alumina or hydrotalcite KW2000 (a synthetic hydrotalcite with formula Mg_{0.7}Al_{0.3}O_{1.15}) is used in the process with high temperature, some of the methyl carbonates may undergo decarboxylation to produce methyl ethers.^{191,192}



Scheme 1.8 The possible mechanism for the methylation of aliphatic alcohol based on HSAB theory

However, the base-catalysed mechanism of DMC currently has not been confirmed completely. As a result, both of the mechanisms can be used to explain the phenomenon of the reactions observed.

1.9.4 Application of DMC as carboxymethylation and methylation agents for alcohols

At present, most DMC mediated carboxymethylation and methylation reactions are catalysed by bases. Potassium carbonate is one of the most common base catalysts used in DMC carboxymethylation and methylation reactions with alcohol and phenols (see Scheme 1.9 and Scheme 1.10 for examples).^{163,165,190,193} Potassium *tert*-butoxide (KO*t*-Bu) is another widely applied base and was also found to give excellent conversion and selectivity towards the synthesis of unsymmetrical carbonates from primary and secondary alcohols and DMC at room temperature.¹⁹⁴ Reactions of highly hindered secondary alcohols of isosorbide and DMC have resulted in carboxymethylation with weak bases and methylation with a strong base such as sodium methoxide at reflux.¹⁹⁵





potassium carbonate



Scheme 1.10 The methylation reaction between phenol and DMC catalysed by potassium

carbonate

ROH +
$$O$$
 Basic Al₂O₃ or KW 2000
200 °C R O + CH₃OH + CO₂
Yield up to 100%

Scheme 1.11 The methylation reaction of alcohol with DMC catalysed by basic alumina or

hydrotalcite KW 2000 at elevated temperature

Basic alumina and hydrotalcite KW 2000 both have good DMC methylation ability for alcohols at high temperature (Scheme 1.11).¹⁹¹ Moreover, 1,5,7-triazabicyclo [4.4.0] dec-5-ene (TBD) was also applied as a basic catalyst for the carboxymethylation of primary through to tertiary alcohols and for the production of polycarbonates from diols and DMC.¹⁹⁶ The f-block base lanthanum(III) isopropoxide has been reported as an excellent catalyst for the carboxymethylation of primary, secondary and tertiary alcohols in high yield.¹⁹⁷

In addition to basic catalysts, some other processes of DMC reactions were also developed. Ionic liquid 1-(3-trimethoxysilylpropyl)-3-methylimidazolium chloride was found to be an activated reaction medium for the synthesis of non-symmetrical dialkyl carbonates.¹⁹⁸ Novozym 435, a lipase B from *Candida antarctica*, was also employed to conduct the carboxymethylation of DMC with alcohols.¹⁹⁹ Microwaves were also found to assist the methylation of DMC with dihydroxybenzene in the presence of a base catalyst, and high yield (98%) was achieved for the bis-methylated product at elevated temperatures (170 °C).²⁰⁰

Overall, as a green methylation and carboxymethylation agent, DMC is now a valuable compound in synthetic organic chemistry. Many efforts are still needed to expand its application. Specifically, DMC can be used to upgrade platform molecules to bio-based solvents.

1.10 Project aims

This project will focus on the development of bio-based alternative solvents from platform molecules acetoin and solketal by DMC methylation or carboxymethylation reactions for the replacement of the traditional solvents according to the prediction of HSPiP modelling software. Meanwhile, the acid-catalysed DMC chemistry will also be investigated to introduce acid catalysts.

Chapter 2 discusses the synthesis and purification of a novel bio-based solvent 3-methoxybutan-2-one from acetoin and DMC, as replacement solvent for DCM. Its HSPs was calculated by HSPiP software, and its KT parameters were tested. The properties and solvent performance of 3methoxybutan-2-one were also assessed and compared to various traditional solvents. Chapter 3 discusses the synthesis and purification of a new bio-based solvent methyl (2,2dimethyl-1,3-dioxolan-4-yl) methyl carbonate from solketal and DMC for the substitution of a wide range of different common solvents. Its HSPs was calculated by HSPiP, and its KT parameters were determined. The properties and solvent performance of this new bio-based solvent were also be tested and compared to different conventional solvents.

Chapter 4 covers the study of acid-catalysed DMC reactions. Various alcohols and phenols were selected as substrates to conduct DMC mediated carboxymethylation, methylation and dehydration reactions with different acids at 90 °C or 160 °C.

Chapter 2 3-Methoxybutan-2-one as a new bio-based solvent

2.1 Introduction

2.1.1 HSPiP software

Nowadays, searching for new bio-based solvents is an important task for the green chemistry. However, it is very time-consuming and costly for laboratory-based experiments to generate all the possible solvents to find the proper alternatives for traditional solvents. Therefore, it is vital to predict the properties for a new bio-based solvent in order to screen for promising candidates to synthesise.



Fig. 2.1 The interface of HSPiP

Hansen Solubility Parameters in Practice (HSPiP, 4th Edition 4.1.04, software interface as shown in Fig. 2.1), developed by Abbott, Hansen and Yamamoto, is a software which can be used as a powerful tool to predict the Hansen solubility parameters (HSPs) and the other various properties of a given chemical. HSPiP has HSPs and other data for 10,000 chemicals in the newest edition.²⁰¹ HSPiP can calculate and visualise HSPs in three dimension (3D) Hansen space *via* input the simplified molecular-input line-entry system (SMILES) or IUPAC International Chemical

Identifier (InChI) format of molecular structure. It can also predict other physical properties such as melting point (m.p.), boiling point (b.p.), flash point, refractive index and density for a given compound. HSPiP calculates the HSPs and other physical properties by using Y-MB method (Dr. Hiroshi Yamamoto's neural network molecular breaking technique). The Y-MB method breaks the molecules into functional groups and estimates different properties.²⁰¹

HSPiP now has been widely employed in the world in various research fields.^{202-207,148} In this project, it was used as an instructional tool to search for bio-based solvents for the replacement of conventional solvents.

2.1.2 Introduction of acetoin

Acetoin (3-hydroxybutan-2-one or acetylmethylcarbinol), as shown in Fig. 2.2, is a natural compound found in foods such as wines,²⁰⁸ tea,²⁰⁹ coffee,²¹⁰ milk,²¹¹ apples,²¹² honey,²¹³ strawberry jam,²¹⁴ butter,²¹⁵ sweet corn products,²¹⁶ *etc.* It can be used to synthesise some significant organic intermediates such as 2,4,5-trisubstituted-1*H*-imidazoles,²¹⁷ 2-thiocyanoimidazolium salts²¹⁸ and benzo[*N*,*N*]-heterocycles.²¹⁹ In particular, acetoin was identified by the National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL) as one of top 30 platform molecules which can be produced from biomass.¹⁵² Acetoin can be generated by either chemical synthesis or through biological processes.



Fig. 2.2 The structure of acetoin

2.1.2.1 Chemical synthesis of acetoin

In 1989, Toda *et al.* from Ehime University in Japan, reported the synthesis of acetoin from diacetyl under the catalytic system of Zn-ZnCl₂-EtOH with a yield of 71% (Scheme 2.1).²²⁰ Hilmi

et al. reported that they synthesised acetoin with high yield *via* electro-oxidation of 2,3butanediol.²²¹ At present, acetoin is mainly produced from diacetyl in the industry.



Scheme 2.1 The synthesis of acetoin from diacetyl by chemistry method

2.1.2.2 Biological production methods of acetoin

Although many chemical routes to acetoin exist, much research is being perused to give biological production methods for acetoin, by either enzymatic²²²⁻²²⁴ or fermentation^{225,226} technologies.

1. Enzymatic production of acetoin

Hummel *et al.* patented the production of (+)-acetoin from 2,3-butadione using diacetyl reductase derived from yeast/*Lactobacillus* strain.²²⁷ Silverman and Werkman also found that acetoin could be yielded from the pyruvic acid by carboxylase and carboligase.²²³

2. Acetoin via fermentation

Acetoin is a metabolite from some microorganisms such as *Saccharomyces carlsbergensis*,²²⁵ *Leuconostoc citrovorum*,²²⁸ *Lactococcus lactis*^{229,230} and *Hanseniaspora guilliermondii*.^{231.232} Liu *et al.* patented an invention where they used a mutant strain of *Bacillus subtilis* SFA-H31 to transform glucose to acetoin with high yield and high purity achieved *via* an optimised method.²³³ The advantage of this invention is that this method of production of acetoin does not result in contamination from 2,3-butanediol and diacetyl when compared to other strains which normally synthesise these two impurities with acetoin together. This fermentation method of the mutant strain is ideal for the green production of acetoin on a commercial-scale.

Recently, Zhang *et al.* reported that they produced acetoin from a low-cost lignocellulosic resource of pre-treated corn stover by metabolically engineered *Enterobacter cloacae*,²³⁴

which also promoted the bio-based production of acetoin. Additionally, acetoin was also produced *via* simultaneous utilisation of glucose, xylose and arabinose by engineered *Bacillus subtilis*.²³⁵ However, the drawback of the three cases above is that purification processes are required to separate acetoin from the broth.

Overall, bio-derived acetoin has many potential applications in the future, with its functionality allowing routes to many new compounds, including solvents.

2.1.3 Aims of this chapter

As discussed in Chapter 1, currently there is no bio-based solvent with medium to high polarity and low basicity suitable for replacement of halogenated hydrocarbons such as dichloromethane (DCM). As DCM and other halohydrocarbons present serious problems such as sustainability, carcinogenicity and ozone depletion, it is vital that new greener bio-based solvents be identified as candidates to replace them.

In this chapter, the aim is to synthesise a new bio-based solvent as the substitution of halogenated hydrocarbon solvent *via* reacting a bio-derived platform molecule with green agent dimethyl carbonate (DMC) based on the analysis of HSPiP software. Full solvent characterisation will be carried out, ascertaining various physical properties and Kamlet-Taft (KT) parameters of the new bio-based solvent. Simultaneously solvent performance in comparison with DCM and other traditional organic solvents will be evaluated in Friedel–Crafts and Diels-Alder reactions.

2.2 Results and discussion

2.2.1 In silico analysis for assessing potential bio-based solvents

The initial screening of potential greener solvents by computational chemistry is an efficient methodology. HSPiP software was selected as a silico analytical tool in this Chapter to guide the searching for new bio-based solvents generated from platform molecules with green methylation²³⁶ and carboxymethylation agent DMC.

To replace halogenated solvents, it is important to find a proper volatile solvent, but not too volatile as DCM, that has a lower b.p. (70 °C-139 °C)¹⁶¹ to make it easy to be removed and recycled after reaction or extraction. HSPs of the new solvents are also needed to be similar to these halogenated solvents such as DCM in order to have the similar solvency power. Therefore,

Potential bio-based solvents	B.p./°C	Hansen	Hansen	Hansen	Hansen distance to
		$\delta_{ m D}/{ m MPa^{0.5}}$	$\delta_{ m P}/{ m MPa^{0.5}}$	$\delta_{ extsf{H}}/ extsf{MPa}^{0.5}$	DCM ^a
O U Methyl propionate	83	15.7	5.7	7.1	5.13
O O O O O O Methyl propionyl carbonate	162	16.0	12.1	8.8	7.76
O O Methyl 4-oxopentanoate	178	16.7	8.5	7.5	3.97
	238	16.6	13.8	9.2	8.72
Carbonate of levulinic acid	113	16.1	8.0	5.5	4.57
3-Methoxybutan-2-one	179	16.4	9.7	6.5	4.97
✓ Methyl 3-oxobutan-2-yl carbonate					

Table 2.1 The HSPiP predicted properties of the candidate bio-based solvents

^{*a*} The HSPs of DCM (δ_D = 18.2 MPa^{0.5} δ_P = 6.3 MPa^{0.5} δ_H =6.1 MPa^{0.5}) can be found in Ref. 139.

Hansen solubility parameters (HSPs) and b.p. were opted as the key parameters to evaluate the

potential green solvents in this section before synthesis.

Among the top 30 platform molecules, illustrated in chapter 1, the molecules with only one nucleophilic group were selected. This is because (a) nucleophilic group is needed when reacting with DMC; (b) more than two nucleophilic groups, such as hydroxyl group, potentially decrease the reaction selectivity for the desired solvent and increase the difficulty during purification. As such, propionic acid, levulinic acid and acetoin were selected as the candidate platform molecules. Their possible methylation and carboxymethylation products with properties predicted by HSPiP are listed in Table 2.1.

Upon Table 2.1, the methylation product of propionic acid and carboxymethylation products of propionic acid and levulinic acid all have far Hansen distances (Ra) (Ra > 5.00) to DCM, which demonstrates they have an entirely different solvency ability to halogenated solvents. Moreover, methyl propionate has a very similar b.p. to DMC (90 °C),²³⁷ which increases the difficulty during separation. In addition, carboxymethylation products of propionic acid and levulinic acid have undesired high b.p. (>139 °C). Hence, they will not be considered further as candidate solvents. For methyl 4-oxopentanoate, 3-methoxybutan-2-one and methyl 3-oxobutan-2-yl carbonate, only 3-methoxybutan-2-one has the accepted b.p. (113 °C) which can be easily recovered or distilled off after its usage. Finally, 3-methoxybutan-2-one (MO) was selected as a potential biobased solvent for the replacement of halogenated solvents in potential applications such as extraction, solvation and cleaning applications. Additionally, MO does not contain highly polar - OH or -NH functionality, as such it would be classed as a polar aprotic solvent.

2.2.2 Theoretical stability and reactivity of MO

2.2.2.1 The possible reaction of the ketone group of MO

Solvents need to be relatively inert, as such they can have a good performance for solvating reactants without participating. Before the synthesis of MO, its reactivity was initially analysed.



Fig. 2.3 The structure of MO

MO is a molecule which contains both ketone (C=O) and ether (-O-CH₃) functionality (Fig. 2.4). Of these functional groups, the ketone should be the most reactive due to the higher electronegativity of the oxygen atom in comparison with the carbon atom, resulting in a partial negative charge on the former and a partial positive charge on the latter.²³⁸ Therefore under certain conditions, the carbon atom on the ketone could undergo nucleophilic attack.



Scheme 2.2 Possible acid-catalysed mechanism of nucleophilic addition of MO



Scheme 2.3 Possible base-catalysed mechanism of nucleophilic addition of MO

Nucleophilic addition of MO *via* attack of the carbonyl can be either acid or base catalysed, and the mechanisms are illustrated in Scheme 2.2 and Scheme 2.3, respectively. Under acidic conditions, the lone pair electrons on the ketone of MO pick up a proton from the solution, before undergoing nucleophilic attack to yield the product. In the other hand, with the catalysis of the base, the nucleophilic anion attacks the MO carbonyl, before capturing a proton to yield the product.

2.2.2.2 Possible reactions of the most labile proton of MO

Both the carbonyl and ether functionalities of MO contain electron withdrawing oxygen atoms, with one proton that is α to both. As a result, the pKa for this proton will be markedly lower than any other, making it potentially susceptible to a number of reactions. For instance, under acidic or basic conditions, halogen substitution of the α -H could occur.²³⁹



Scheme 2.4 Halogenation of MO

In summary, MO may not be a proper solvent for reaction conducted in strongly acidic or basic environment.

2.2.2.3 Possible peroxide formation in MO

Since MO contains an ether group (CH-O-CH₃), it can potentially form peroxides on exposure to oxygen and light (as shown in Scheme 2.5). This is a common problem for solvents with ether functionality such as diethyl ether.²⁴⁰ Two potential radical initiated auto-oxidation products of MO are illustrated in Scheme 2.6.²⁴¹ Due to safety issue surrounding organic peroxides, an antioxidant may be required to scavenge radical species in the new solvent MO in order to avoid the formation of such explosive species. Therefore, the ability of MO to form peroxides needs to be monitored and evaluated once synthesised.



Scheme 2.5 The formation of peroxide of MO



Scheme 2.6 An example of auto-oxidation of MO

Overall, based on all the preliminary evaluation, although MO may not be stable in strongly acidic or basic conditions, and has a risk of formation of peroxide, its lower b.p. and similar HSPs to DCM still provide evidence to synthesise for further investigation of its properties.

2.2.3 MO synthesis via DMC chemistry

2.2.3.1 Catalyst screening and selection

Scheme 2.7 shows the general reaction for the synthesis of MO from acetoin and DMC. In order to find a proper route for the synthesis, different classes of catalysts were screened. These

catalysts included:

(a) Basic catalysts of sodium bicarbonate, sodium carbonate, potassium carbonate, basic aluminium oxide, hydrotalcite ($Mg_6Al_2(CO_3)(OH)_{16}\cdot 4(H_2O)$), sodium acetate, sodium hydroxide, potassium hydroxide;

(b)Acidic catalysts of acidic aluminium oxide, Starbon[®]400, Starbon[®]600 and *p*-toluenesulfonic acid (PTSA).

Additionally, a control reaction in the absence of catalyst was also carried out.



Scheme 2.7 The synthesis of MO from acetoin and DMC assisted by different catalysts

Table 2.2 shows the results of reactions between acetoin and DMC in the presence of various catalysts as determined by gas chromatography (GC), where the GC distribution intends GC area% among the corresponding compounds. At this early stage, results were analysed by peak area alone without calibrating for response factors. This was to aid in rapid screening of a wide range of catalysts or reagents.

After analysis for components of the mixtures, according to Table 2.2, for the reactions catalysed by acidic Al₂O₃, basic Al₂O₃ and no catalyst control experiment, methyl 3-oxobutan-2-yl carbonate (MC) was synthesised which indicates that the carboxymethylation reaction between acetoin and DMC has occurred (Scheme 2.8) under these conditions. This possible reason is that at elevated temperature, the proton on the hydroxyl group of acetoin is removed readily and the nucleophilic group attacks the centre of DMC to produce MC. The acidic and basic Al₂O₃ did not methylate the acetoin properly, the possible reasons for this were that: (a) MC did not continue to undergo decarboxylation to yield MO, or (b) acetoin did not attack the methyl group of DMC effectively to produce MO under this condition.


Fig. 2.4 GC results of the reactions between DMC and acetoin catalysed by different catalysts

		une	Terre eataryses			
		GC distribution (%)				
Entry	Catalysts	Acetoin	МО	MC	Other by-products ^b	
1	NaHCO₃	0	0	0	100	
2	Na ₂ CO ₃	0	0	0	100	
3	K ₂ CO ₃	0	0	0	100	
4	Basic Al ₂ O ₃	39	0	26	35	
5	Acidic Al ₂ O ₃	39	0	27	34	
6	Hydrotalcite ^c	0	0	0	100	
7	NaCOOCH ₃	0	0	0	100	
8	NaOH	0	0	0	100	
9	КОН	0	0	0	100	
10	S-Starbon 400 [®]	4	46	0	50	
11	S-Starbon 600 [®]	3	40	0	57	
12	PTSA	1	98	0	1	
13	No catalyst	68	0	15	17	

Table 2.2 The experimental results of the reactions between DMC and acetoin catalysed by

different catalysts^a

^{*a*} Reaction conditions: acetoin/DMC/catalysts = 5 mmol : 60 mmol : 0.25 mmol; T = 160 °C; reaction time 24 h. ^{*b*} The GC retention time of the by-products is mainly around 23 min. ^{*c*} w/w of hydrotalcite to acetoin is 0.3 : 1.

Meanwhile, all the basic catalysts, including sodium bicarbonate, potassium carbonate, sodium carbonate, sodium acetate, hydrotalcite, sodium hydroxide and potassium hydroxide, did not produce the MO or MC but with high conversion. Instead, high b.p. by-products were formed (Table 2.2). The possible reason is that due to the strong basicity, once the MO forms firstly in the reaction, it then reacts with another MO molecule *via* aldol condensation reaction to convert to those high boiling product by-products (see Scheme 2.8 (b) for an example). This demonstrates that MO may not be a proper solvent under basic conditions.



Scheme 2.8 The carboxymethylation and possible aldol condensation reactions during the synthesis of MO from acetoin and DMC

Interestingly, S-Starbon[®]400 and S-Starbon[®]600 have the ability to methylate acetoin with DMC successfully. Starbon[®] is mesoporous carbon which is produced after low-temperature carbonisation of expanded starch.²⁴² S-Starbon[®]400 and S-Starbon[®]600 were obtained respectively after 400 °C and 600 °C carbonisation of expanded starch with Brønsted acid sites – SO₃H fixed on them. Since the Brønsted acid sites on the S-Starbon[®]400 and S-Starbon[®]600 were both grafted from sulphuric acid, hence, the organic acid PTSA with Brønsted acid sites –SO₃H should have the similar or even better ability for the methylation of acetoin *via* DMC chemistry than S-Starbon[®]400 and S-Starbon[®]600. As a consequence, the PTSA catalyst experiment was then carried out, and the result is also listed in Table 2.2 (entry 12). After the synthesis, the starting material acetoin converted near quantitative, and MO has obtained a high GC distribution of 98%. The equation for the reaction between acetoin and DMC catalysed by PTSA is then proposed in Scheme 2.9. Hence, PTSA was selected as an ideal DMC methylation catalyst for acetoin in this research.



Scheme 2.9 The PTSA catalysed methylation reaction of acetoin with DMC

2.2.3.2 The possible mechanisms of PTSA catalysed DMC reactions for acetoin

Currently, limited research covering acid-catalysed methylation or carboxymethylation reactions *via* dialkyl carbonate chemistry can be found in the literature. As such, the mechanism by which acid-catalysed DMC methylation occurs is still unconfirmed. Based on a previously proposed Brønsted acid catalysed transesterification mechanism,²⁴³ a possible mechanism for the methylation and carboxymethylation of acetoin under acidic condition with DMC is suggested in Scheme 2.10.



Scheme 2.10 The possible mechanism of the methylation and carboxymethylation of acetoin with DMC under acidic condition

Under acidic environment, the lone pair of DMC ketone is protonated, before conducting the nucleophilic attack to the carbonyl carbon of DMC from the acetoin. After losing a proton, the hemiketal intermediate forms and then eliminates methanol to produce the carboxymethylation product MC. At higher temperature (160 °C), MC undergoes the decarboxylation reaction to yield the MO.

Alternatively, based on the proposed base-catalysed DMC methylation mechanism,¹⁶³ Scheme 2.11 gives another possible acid-catalysed mechanism for the methylation of acetoin by DMC without forming MC firstly. At elevated temperature (160 °C), the lone pair of DMC ketone is

protonated, before carrying out the nucleophilic attack to the methyl carbon of DMC from the acetoin. After losing a proton, MO, methanol and carbon dioxide are produced. The confirmation of the mechanism is needed as a future work.



Scheme 2.11 The possible mechanism of the direct methylation of acetoin by DMC under acidic condition

It is worth to be mentioned that under acidic condition at high temperature (usually around 100 °C), acetoin, as a secondary alcohol, may carry out the unimolecular elimination (E1) pathway to be dehydrated, as shown in Scheme 2.12.²⁴⁴ Initially, the lone pair electrons on the hydroxyl group of the acetoin capture the proton to yield the pronated acetoin, and then it loses water to yield the dehydration product but-3-en-2-one. However, after the reaction catalysed by PTSA between acetoin and DMC, the but-3-en-2-one was not observed by GC.



Scheme 2.12 The possible E1 path of dehydration of acetoin under acidic environment

2.2.4 The optimisation of DMC synthesis of MO

After the purification process of MO, to investigate the highest yield of MO, the effect of catalytic loading, substrates mole ratio and reaction time was explored.

2.2.4.1 The effect of catalytic loading on the synthesis of MO

In order to investigate the effect of equivalence of PTSA on the synthesis of MO from DMC and acetoin, the corresponding experiments were conducted, and the experimental results are exhibited in Table 2.3. Since highly pure MO was synthesised, GC calibration curve was then established and used to determine yield of MO without further isolation. The initial reaction conditions selected were the same as the purification experiment in Section 5.3.4.

Entry	Equivalence of PTSA (%)	Yield of MO (%) ^b
1	10	31
2	5	30
3	3	26
4	1	5
5	0.5	<1

Table 2.3 The effect of PTSA catalytic loading on the synthesis of MO^a

^{*a*} Reaction conditions: acetoin/DMC = 0.5 mol : 0.5 mol; *T* = 160 °C; reaction time 2 h. ^{*b*} Yield was identified by ¹H NMR and GC based on tetradecane as internal standard.

The yield of MO is around 30% when 10% and 5% equivalent PTSA is used in the reaction (entry 1 and 2, Table 2.3). When 3% equivalent PTSA is utilised in the reaction, the yield of MO started to decline. This trend is even more apparent when 1% equivalent PTSA is used with only 5% yield obtained. 0.5% equivalence of PTSA performed worst with a yield less than 1%. Hence, 5% was selected as the optimised catalytic loading condition for the synthesis of MO.

2.2.4.2 The effect of mole ratio of DMC to acetoin on the synthesis of MO

In Section 2.2.4.1, 5% equivalent PTSA was selected as the optimised reaction condition for the synthesis of MO. Following that, the effect of mole ratio of DMC to acetoin on the yield of MO was then explored by using 5% equivalent PTSA as the catalytic loading condition, and the experimental data is listed in Table 2.4.

When mole ratio of DMC to acetoin is 12:1 or 8:1, the yield of MO is high (95%). However, when corresponding mole ratios are 4:1 and 3:1, yields of MO then decreases to 75% and 50%, respectively. Furthermore, when 2:1 or 1:1 of mole ratio is applied then the yield of MO drops down to only around 30%. These results demonstrate that a large excess of DMC can provide a higher yield of MO. An overall consideration of these results, 8:1 of mole ratio of DMC to acetoin was finally selected as the optimised reaction condition.

Entry	Mole ratio of DMC to acetoin	Yield of MO (%) ^b
1	12:1	95
2	8:1	95
3	4:1	75
4	3:1	50
5	2:1	37
6	1:1	30

Table 2.4 The effect of mole ratio of DMC to acetoin on the synthesis of MO^a

^{*a*} Reaction conditions: acetoin/PTSA = 0.5 mol : 0.025 mol; *T* = 160 °C; reaction time 2 h. ^{*b*} Yield was identified by ¹H NMR and GC based on tetradecane as internal standard.

2.2.4.3 The effect of reaction time on the synthesis of MO

After application of optimised reaction conditions derived in Section 2.2.4.1 and 2.2.4.2, then the effect of reaction time (from 10 min to 120 min) on the synthesis of MO was discovered. Reaction time 0 min is defined at when the reaction temperature just reached 90 °C, and 0.5 cm³ sample was taken every 10 min by opening the valve of the high-pressure reactor. The experimental results indicate the highest yield (95%) of MO can be obtained after 100 min (entry 10, Table 2.5).

In summary, 5% of PTSA catalytic loading, 8:1 of mole ratio of DMC to acetoin and reaction time of 100 min have been selected as the optimised reaction conditions.

Entry	Reaction time (min) ^b	Yield of MO (%) ^c
1	10	0
2	20	13
3	30	58
4	40	86
5	50	90
6	60	93
7	70	93
8	80	94
9	90	94
10	100	95
11	110	95
12	120	95

Table 2.5 The effect of reaction time on the synthesis of MO^a

^{*o*} Reaction conditions: acetoin/DMC/PTSA = 0.5 mol : 4 mol : 0.025 mol; *T* = 160 °C. ^{*b*} Reaction time 0 min is defined at when the reaction temperature just reached 90 °C. ^{*c*} Yield was identified by ¹H NMR; Selectivity > 99% in all reaction time towards MO calculated by ¹H NMR.

2.2.5 Defining the solvent parameters of MO

2.2.5.1 Boiling point and melting point of MO

B.p. and m.p. are basic and vital physical properties of a solvent while applying in reaction or extraction process. B.p. of MO was finally confirmed by distillation to be 112 °C under normal pressure as an average value of three different runs.

In this study, differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) was employed to test the m.p. of MO. DSC is a thermal analysis method. Generally, sample adsorbs or releases a quantity of heat (endothermic or exothermic) when a phase change occurs, glass transition or chemical reaction, and the DSC can record how much heat flow needed to be changed in order to retain the same temperature between the sample and the reference.²⁴⁵ Therefore, DSC can be used to determine the m.p. of a given compound based on the variation of heat flow in phase change. The lowest temperature the DSC employed can achieve is -90 °C and as such phase changes between room temperature and this point were investigated. Upon running the analysis, no change of state was observed, indicating that the m.p. of MO must be below -90 °C.

In summary, at atmospheric pressure, MO could be a suitable solvent for reactions proceeding at a temperature between -80 °C to 112 °C. In addition, unlike DCM or other halohydrocarbon solvents, MO contains no halogen atoms and therefore does not form highly toxic compounds such as phosgene or significantly deplete the ozone layer.²⁴⁶

2.2.5.2 The measurement of density of MO

The density of MO was experimentally measured at 25 °C (298 K) and ambient pressure. Three different batches of MO products were used for the density testing in order to obtain the average value. The measurement of the density of MO was carried out by determining the mass of 1 cm³ MO in a 1 cm³ volumetric flask. Finally, the result shows the density of MO is 0.90 g·cm⁻³.

2.2.5.3 The measurement of viscosity of MO

The dynamic viscosity of MO was determined by an Ostwald viscometers at 20 °C (293 K) and normal pressure. Three different batches of MO products were employed for the viscosity testing in order to attain the average value. Finally, the result shows its dynamic viscosity is 0.48 cP, which is a low viscosity around room temperature.

2.2.5.4 The measurement of formation of peroxide of MO

Since MO contains an ether functional group, it is possible that MO may form potentially explosive peroxide compounds by reacting with oxygen as discussed in Section 2.2.2.3. A preliminary measurement to monitor the formation of peroxides in MO was conducted by using peroxide test strip (Macherey-Nagel, QUANTOFIX® Peroxide-100) with detection limit (DL) of 1-100 mg·dm⁻³. Monitoring of 7.5 cm³ MO was sealed in a transparent small bottle with air and irradiated by light over a period of 224 days, in the absence of antioxidants or stabilisers. Results of peroxide formation are listed in Table 2.6.

Entry	Time	Concentration of peroxide (mg·dm ⁻³) ^b
1	0 day ^c	Less than DL
2	7 days	Less than DL
3	14 days	Less than DL
4	21 days	Less than DL
5	28 days	Less than DL
6	56 days	Less than DL
7	84 days	Less than DL
8	112 days	Less than DL
9	168 days	Less than DL
10	224 days	Less than DL

Table 2.6 The monitoring of formation of peroxide of MO^a

^{*a*} no antioxidant or stabiliser added. ^{*b*} The concentration of peroxide of MO was measured by peroxide test strip. ^{*c*} 0 day represents isolated MO was just obtained by distillation.

After 224 days of testing, the total peroxide concentration in MO was less than DL (< 1 mg·dm⁻³). This result demonstrates that although possessing ether functionality, MO has a low risk of forming hazardous peroxides. In spite of this, stabilisers, such as butylated hydroxytoluene (BHT),²⁴⁷ are still recommended to limit the occurrence of auto-oxidation of MO.

2.2.5.5 Ames test for MO

In this research, the mutagenicity of newly developed bio-based solvents was investigated by Ames mutagenic test (referred to hereafter simply as Ames test).

Ames test is a commonly used method to screen for the mutagenicity of chemicals in a short time.²⁴⁸ Mutational *Salmonella typhimurium* (His⁻) employed in Ames test can only grow in a medium containing histidine as it cannot synthesise the required amino acid by itself.²⁴⁹ After exposing His⁻ to a chemical, if the chemical compound is mutagenic, it can return these His⁻ strains back to its prototrophic state (His⁺) in which it can synthesise the amino acid and so grow in the histidine-free medium.^{248,250}



Fig. 2.5 The process of Ames test for the mutagenicity of chemicals

Fig. 2.5 briefly introduces a general method of Ames test:²⁵¹ Firstly, the candidate chemical is added into a petri plate containing His⁻ and culture media without histidine. The sample is then incubated at 37 °C for two days, after which if; (a) that chemical is mutagenic, then large-scale mutation of His⁻ to His⁺ occurs and large number of bacterial colonies grows; (b) the chemical is non-mutagenic, then no bacteria colony or few macroscopic spontaneous mutation His⁺ bacterial colonies forms.

As health is a key determiner of a green solvent,²⁵² any new molecule wanted to be termed as such it is necessary to be non-mutagenic. Therefore, Ames testing is a key technique to be applied to neoteric solvents.

In this study, mutational *Salmonella typhimurium* TA98 (*hisD3052*) and TA100 (*hisG46*) were used to verify the mutagenicity of MO. TA98 and TA100 were utilised for the detection of frameshift mutations and base substitution mutations, respectively. Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) was used as a solvent (negative) control. A mixture of 2-nitrofluorene (2-NF) and 4-nitroquinoline-*N*-oxide (4-NQO) was used as the positive control. This Ames test did not use S9 microsomal activation, which means this experimental results cannot predict the mutagenicity of MO in the human body through the liver metabolism.

After the testing, no mutagenicity for MO was observed for both TA98 and TA100 strains since no dose effect occurred. Although this result is highly promising, a full set of toxicity tests will be needed prior to scale commercial exploitation of this solvent.

2.2.5.6 UV-vis. test of KT parameters of MO

The KT parameters of MO were determined based on the ultraviolet-visible (UV-vis.) of different dyes of Nile red (NR), 4-nitroaniline (NA) and *N*,*N*-diethyl-4-nitroaniline (NN), respectively. Table 2.7 lists the λ_{max} of UV-vis. of NR, NA and NN in MO.

Table 2.7 The λ_{max} of UV-vis. of different dyes in MO

	NR	NA	NN
λ_{max}	531 nm	350 nm	394 nm

KT parameters α ,¹¹⁷ β ,²⁵³ and π ^{*253} of MO can be then obtained based on Equation 2.1, 2.2 and 2.3 below.

$$\alpha = \frac{20.47 - (v_{\text{max in NR}} / 1000 \text{ cm}^{-1}) - 1.95\pi^{*}}{1.01}$$
(2.1)
$$\beta = \frac{(1.035v_{\text{max in NN}} / 1000 \text{ cm}^{-1}) - (v_{\text{max in NA}} / 1000 \text{ cm}^{-1}) + 2.64}{2.8}$$
(2.2)

$$\pi^* = \frac{27.52 - (v_{\text{max in NN}} / 1000 \text{ cm}^{-1})}{3.182}$$
(2.3)

Where $v_{\text{max in NR}}$, $v_{\text{max in NA}}$ and $v_{\text{max in NN}}$ stand for the wavenumbers at maximum absorbance on the UV-vis. spectra for NR, NA and NN, respectively. The KT parameters of MO were calculated by the equation 2.1-2.3 to be: $\alpha = 0.33$, $\beta = 0.12$ and $\pi^* = 0.67$.

2.2.5.7 The solvent properties of MO in comparison with other conventional aprotic solvents

Table 2.8 summaries and lists the properties of MO, compared to a range of different types of traditional aprotic solvents such as DCM, chloroform, ethyl acetate, diethyl ether, acetonitrile, acetone, cyclohexane, DMC and propylene carbonate.

The m.p. of MO is as yet unknown but is below -90 °C as determined by DSC in Section 2.2.5.1. This property is similar to DCM, chloroform, ethyl acetate, diethyl ether and acetone, indictaing MO is potentially a good solvent for low temperature applications. The b.p. of MO is 112 °C, which is a VOC and easy to be removed after distillation. Compared to DCM, MO is less volatile.

MO has a viscosity of 0.48 cP at 20 °C (293 K) and is comparable to DCM (0.44 cP) or ethyl acetate (0.45 cP) at the same temperature, demonstrating MO has a good solvent

performance in terms of viscosity. At 25 °C (298 K), the density of MO (0.90 g·cm⁻³) is significantly lower that these chlorinated solvents such as DCM (1.32 g·cm⁻³) and chloroform (1.48 g·cm⁻³). However, as MO has been observed to be water miscible, therefore it cannot be applied in two-phase liquid-liquid separations.

	мо	DCM	Chloroform	Ethyl	Diethyl	Acetonitrile	Acetone	Cyclohexane	DMC	Propylene
				acetate	ether					carbonate
Mwt	102.1ª	84.9 ^d	119.4 ^d	88.1 ^d	74.1 ^d	41.1 ^d	58.1 ^d	84.2 ^d	90.1°	102.1 ^d
ΚΤ α	0.33	0.13 ^e	0.20 ^e	0.00'	0.00'	0.35 ^{<i>i</i>}	0.20 ^{<i>i</i>}	0.00′	0.00′	0.00 ^p
кт β	0.12	0.10 ^e	0.10 ^e	0.48 ⁱ	0.51 ⁱ	0.37 ⁱ	0.54 ^j	0.00′	0.32′	0.38 ^{<i>p</i>}
KT π*	0.67	0.82 ^e	0.58 ^e	0.54 ⁱ	0.28 ⁱ	0.80 ⁱ	0.70 ^{<i>j</i>}	0.00′	0.55′	0.90 [°]
$\delta_{\scriptscriptstyle D}/{\sf MPa}^{0.5}$	16.1ª	18.2 ^f	17.8 ^f	15.8 ^f	14.5 ^f	15.3 ^f	15.5 ^f	16.8 ^f	15.5 ^f	20.0 ^f
$\delta_{ m P}/{ m MPa}^{0.5}$	8.0 ^{<i>a</i>}	6.3 ^f	3 .1 ^{<i>f</i>}	5.3 ^f	2.9 ^f	18.0 ^f	10.4 ^{<i>f</i>}	0.0 ^f	3.9 ^f	18.0 ^f
$\delta_{ extsf{H}}/ extsf{MPa}^{0.5}$	5.5″	6.1 ^f	5.7 ^f	7.2 ^f	5.1 ^f	6.1 ^{<i>f</i>}	7.0 ^f	0.2 ^f	9.7 ^f	4.1 ^f
Hansen	0.00	4.57	5.97	3.25	6.03	10.14	3.07	9.70	5.99	12.76
distance ^b										
B.p./°C	112	40 ^d	61 ^{<i>d</i>}	77 ^d	34 ^d	82 ^d	56 ^d	81 ^d	90 ^m	242 ^d
M.p./°C	<-90°	-95 ^d	-64 ^d	-84 ^d	-116 ^d	-44 ^d	-95 ^d	7 ^{<i>d</i>}	5 ⁿ	-55 ^d
ρ/g·cm⁻³	0.90	1.32 ^d	1.48 ^d	0.89 ^d	0.71 ^d	0.78 ^d	0.78 ^d	0.77 ^d	1.06 ^m	1.20 ^d
at 298 K										
Viscosity	0.48	0.44 ^g	0.576 ^h	0.45 ^d	0.24 ^d	0.36 ^g	0.33 ^k	0.98 ^d	0.62°	2.76 ^d
/cP at 293										
к										

 Table 2.8 The properties of MO and other traditional aprotic solvents

^{*a*} Calculated by HSPiP. ^{*b*} Hansen distance to MO. ^{*c*} Measured by DSC. ^{*d*} Ref. 22. ^{*e*} Ref. 137. ^{*f*} Ref. 139. ^{*g*} Ref. 254.

^h Ref. 255. ⁱ Ref. 119 and Ref. 134. ^j Ref. 135. ^k Ref. 256 ^j Ref. 133. ^m Ref. 237. ⁿ Ref. 257. ^o Ref. 258. ^p Ref. 136.

The KT solvatochromic parameters α , β , π^* of MO and other traditional solvents were listed in Table 2.8. Jessop recently suggested that α value of aprotic solvent is <0.5, while for protic solvent the value is >0.5.¹³² All the solvents in this investigation, including MO,

were aprotic solvents with the values of α lower than 0.40 (Table 2.8). A two dimension (2D) aprotic solvent map was then established with β and π^* as the vertical and horizontal coordinate respectively.¹³² The solvent map for this research is illustrated in Fig. 2.6.

On the basis of Fig. 2.6, the β and π^* of MO are both similar to that of DCM and chloroform. This suggests that MO may have similar solvent behaviour to DCM or chloroform, and it has the potential to substitute the halogenated medium since few biobased or non-halogenated solvents simultaneously have a medium polarity and low basicity similar to the chlorinated hydrocarbon solvents.



Fig. 2.6 The KT solvent map of MO and other nearby traditional aprotic solvents investigated in this research

HSPs δ_D , δ_P and δ_H of MO were calculated by HSPiP (Table 2.8), while data of other traditional solvents was acquired from the literature. Fig. 2.7 is the 3D Hansen space for MO and other conventional solvents established by HSPiP software. In the Hansen space, the small Hansen distance between two different solvents, the closer their solubility will be. According to this, MO has solubility properties between DCM, ethyl acetate and acetone (Ra < 5.00) (Fig. 2.7). On the contrary, Hansen distances of cyclohexane, propylene carbonate and acetonitrile are quite far from MO (Ra > 9.00), indicating MO has a rather different solvency power to these solvents.



Fig. 2.7 The site of MO and the other traditional solvents in Hansen space constructed by HSPiP software, where D, P and H represent $\delta_D/MPa^{0.5}$, $\delta_P/MPa^{0.5}$ and $\delta_H/MPa^{0.5}$,

respectively

2.2.6 The solvent test in Friedel-Crafts and Diels-Alder reactions

Since MO has similar KT parameters and HSPs to DCM as discussed in Section 2.2.5.7, therefore it is worth to test MO compared to DCM as well as other conventional solvents in actual reactions in order to evaluate their solvent performances.

Friedel-Crafts and Diels-Alder reactions were both selected to assess MO in comparison with other traditional solvents in this section. Friedel-Crafts reaction is a category of electrophilic aromatic substitution reaction commonly proceeded in unsustainable chlorinated solvents such as DCM.²⁵⁹⁻²⁶¹ Diels-Alder reaction is a [4+2]- π -electron cycloaddition process between a



Scheme 2.13 The Friedel-Crafts synthesis of 4-MAP from anisole and acetic anhydride promoted by iron (III) chloride in different solvents



Fig. 2.8 The GC yield of 4-MAP synthesised from anisole and acetic anhydride in various solvents promoted by iron (III) chloride via Friedel-Crafts reaction; selectivity >99% towards 4-MAP during all the solvents investigated in the research

dienophile and a diene to yield a cyclohexene product, which normally catalysed by Lewis acid.²⁶² Many Diels-Alder reactions carry out in halogenated solvent.²⁶³⁻²⁶⁵ By analysis of experimental results, the solvent performance of DCM and MO can be compared, and MO can also be contrasted to other common solvents.

In this preliminary study, the commercial Lewis acid (FeCl₃) promoted the synthesis of 4methoxyacetophenone (4-MAP) from anisole and acetic anhydride was used to compare the suitability of MO for the substitution of conventional organic solvents in Friedel-Crafts reaction (Scheme 2.13). It is observed that MO provides higher yield (79%) than the chlorinated solvents DCM (77%) and chloroform (30%) (Fig. 2.8). In fact, MO exhibits the highest yield in this experiment, while propylene carbonate, ethyl acetate, acetone, acetonitrile, DMC and diethyl ether only perform medium to low yields. The reaction in cyclohexane almost did not conduct due to its low polarity to activate Lewis acid. This result demonstrates the significant potential for using MO as a bio-based solvent for the replacement of chlorinated solvents in organic synthesis.

In this study, the performances of MO and other traditional solvents in Diels-Alder reaction were evaluated by the synthesis of 1-(3,4-dimethylcyclohex-3-enyl) ethanone (DE) from 2,3-dimethylbuta-1,3-diene (diene) and 3-buten-2-one catalysed by anhydrous ytterbium(III) chloride (Scheme 2.14).²⁶³ It can be clearly seen in Fig. 2.9 that MO was not an effective solvent for the reaction proceeded in Diels-Alder reaction. The possible reason for this is that MO may form complexation with Lewis acid ytterbium(III) chloride, which interferes the promotion of YbCl₃ for the energy level of lowest unoccupied molecular orbital (LUMO) of substrates, as such the yield was low.



Scheme 2.14 The Diels-Alder synthesis of DE from 3-buten-2-one and diene catalysed by ytterbium(III) chloride in different solvents





2.3 Conclusion

This chapter successfully explored a synthesis and optimisation method for the production of MO from bio-based platform molecule acetoin and green methylation agent DMC catalysed by PTSA based on the prediction of HSPiP modelling software. And a yield of 95% was obtained. Its solvent properties were tested and compared to other traditional solvents, which proved MO is the only bio-based solvent at the time of writing for the replacement of DCM.

Specifically, firstly, MO, synthesised from platform molecule acetoin and DMC, was selected as a potential bio-based solvent after screening as the substitution of halogenated solvents based on the HSPiP software. After analysis of stability of MO, then PTSA was selected as a proper catalyst for the production of MO after catalyst screening. Optimisation experiments of synthesis of MO were conducted, and 5% of PTSA catalytic loading, 8:1 of mole ratio of DMC to acetoin and reaction time of 100 min were selected as the optimised reaction conditions. Then b.p., m.p., density and viscosity of MO were defined, proving it is a proper solvent under room temperature

or lower temperature. Importantly, MO did not exhibit any mutagenicity in a preliminary Ames mutagenicity test, while a peroxide test highlighted the limited formation of peroxide after 224 days (less than 1 mg·dm⁻³). The KT parameters of MO were tested to be similar to DCM and chloroform with low basicity and medium polarity. MO was demonstrated to be comparable to DCM in the Friedel-Crafts reaction but not suitable for the Diels-Alder reaction.

Chapter 3 Methyl (2,2-dimethyl-1,3-dioxolan-4-yl) methyl carbonate as a new bio-based solvent

3.1 Introduction

3.1.1 Glycerol derivatives as bio-based solvents

As mentioned in Chapter 1, considering the surplus production of glycerol around the world, it is sensible to utilise it as a green solvent or convert it to valuable new products. Glycerol's reactive -OH groups restrict its application as a solvent but this problem can be readily overcome by upgrading glycerol to a new solvent family called "glycerol derived solvents", in which a wide range of solvent properties is available. Currently, the main research fields of glycerol derived solvents are alkyl glycerol ethers, glycerol carbonate/esters of glycerol carbonate, glycerol-based ILs, glycerol formal and solketal (Fig. 3.1).²⁶⁶



Fig. 3.1 Glycerol derivatives solvents

3.1.1.1 Glycerol carbonate

At present, organic carbonates have been commonly accepted as a family of green solvents for organic synthesis thanks to their biodegradability as well as low toxicity.²⁶⁷ Glycerol carbonates are essential components of organic carbonates and are of great interests in the application as bio-based solvents.

Glycerol carbonate **1**, for example, can be readily prepared by transesterification with dimethyl carbonate (DMC) from glycerol,²⁶⁸ or by direct carbonation of glycerol with carbon dioxide,²⁶⁹ or *via* oxidative carbonylation of glycerol (Scheme 3.1).²⁷⁰ Furthermore, glycerol carbonate **1** can be transformed to glycerol carbonate **2** which has a higher boiling point (b.p.) by reacting with an acyl chloride, and glycerol carbonate **2** was proved to be suitable solvents for the reactions carried out at high temperature.²⁷¹

Glycerol carbonate and its derivatives have already been utilised as solvents in cosmetic, washing, cleaning agents and adhesives, and they are also used as medium for the production of paints and dyes.²⁷²



Giver of carbonate 2

Scheme 3.1 Synthetic routes to glycerol carbonates

3.1.1.2 Glycerol formal and solketal

Glycerol can be converted to high-value cyclic acetals, such as glycerol formal and solketal by the condensation reaction with formaldehyde or acetone (Scheme 3.2). Glycerol formal and solketal are high b.p. solvents, and they have been employed as low toxicity solvents in many areas such as injectable preparations, paints, plasticiser and insecticide delivery systems.²⁶⁶ In particular.

solketal is a bio-based compound attracting much interest. It is a non-toxic potential green solvent,²⁷³ and it is used as a fuel additive.²⁷⁴ It is worth mentioning that since acetone can be generated from biomass,¹⁰⁷ this synthesis becomes even more sustainable.



Scheme 3.2 The synthesis of glycerol formal and solketal from glycerol catalysed by solid acid catalysts

However, these glycerol derivative solvents such as glycerol carbonate, glycerol formal and solketal still retain a reactive hydroxyl group. Thus they can be further upgraded to less reactive bio-based solvents.

3.1.2 Aims of this chapter

Since a low b.p. bio-based solvent, 3-methoxybutan-2-one (MO), has been synthesised and discussed in Chapter 2, the target of this work is to develop a new high b.p. (>160 °C) aprotic biobased medium for the substitution of conventional halogenated solvents. In order to do this efficiently, Hansen Solubility Parameters in Practice (HSPiP) modelling software will be used to predict suitable candidates, and DMC chemistry will be exploited to upgrade these glycerol derivatives. Characterisation of the novel bio-based solvent will be conducted, defining various physical properties and Kamlet-Taft (KT) parameters. Its performance in comparison to dichloromethane (DCM) and other traditional organic solvents will then be assessed in Friedel–Crafts and Diels-Alder reactions.

3.2 Results and discussion

3.2.1 In silico analysis for assessing potential bio-based solvents

As discussed in Chapter 2, HSPiP is a powerful software to calculate the properties of solvents. As such, in this chapter, HSPiP was still used as a guide to explore the new compounds.

Potential new green solvents, which can be produced from glycerol derivatives and DMC, are listed in Table 3.1. Their b.p. and Hansen solubility parameters (HSPs) have been calculated by HSPiP. After the screening, methyl (2,2-dimethyl-1,3-dioxolan-4-yl) methyl carbonate (MMC) was finally selected as the desired compound due to its high b.p. (>160 °C), lower Hansen distance (Ra) to DCM (Ra < 5.00) and less ether functionality (lower risk of generating peroxides).

Table 3.1 The HSPiP predicted properties of the candidate bio-based solvents synthesised	from
glycerol derivatives via DMC chemistry	

Potential bio-based solvents	B.p./°C	Hansen	Hansen	Hansen	Hansen
		$\delta_{ m D}/{ m MPa^{0.5}}$	$\delta_{P}/MPa^{0.5}$	$\delta_{ extsf{H}}/ extsf{MPa}^{0.5}$	distance to
					DCM ^a
	282	17.1	18.0	7.0	11.94
4-(Methoxymethyl)-1,3-dio xolan-2-one					
	342	17.0	19.3	7.8	13.33
Methyl (2-oxo-1,3-diox olan-4-yl)methyl carbonate					
	140	17.0	8.3	7.2	3.31

5-Methoxy-1,3-dioxane



206 17.0 10.3 8.1 5.08 147 17.0 8.0 7.2 3.14

10.1

5.9

7.9

8.1

5.0

6.0

4.92

4.36

4.31

4-(Methoxymethyl)-1,3-dioxolane

1,3-Dioxan-5-yl methyl carbonate



(1,3-dioxolan-4-yl)Methyl methyl carbonate

റ

4-(Methoxymethyl)-2,2-di methyl-1,3-dioxolane

Methyl (2,2-dimethyl-1,3-diox

olan-4-yl)methyl carbonate

^{*a*} The HSPs of DCM (δ_D = 18.2 MPa^{0.5} δ_P = 6.3 MPa^{0.5} δ_H =6.1 MPa^{0.5}) can be found in Ref. 139.



211

163

222

17.0

16.1

16.2

Scheme 3.3 The synthesis of MMC from solketal and DMC catalysed by potassium carbonate at DMC reflux temperature

Although the synthesis of MMC from solketal and DMC has been previously reported in the literature (Scheme 3.3),²⁷⁵ the optimisation of reaction conditions and the investigation of its solvent properties have not been conducted. Hence, optimisation of the proposed synthetic route to MMC and the determination of the solvent properties are the focus of this lab-based

work.

3.2.2 Theoretical stability and reactivity of MMC

Similar to Chapter 2, before synthesis, it is important to predict the reactivity of MMC to understand its suitability for different applications. The carbonate group in MMC limits its use in strongly acidic or basic conditions as it would be susceptible to nucleophilic attack (Scheme 3.4).



Scheme 3.4 The reaction of MMC with nucleophile catalysed by base

MMC also possesses ether functionality, which has the potential to produce peroxides that may be explosive (Scheme 3.5). Consequently, antioxidants may be required in commercialised MMC.



Scheme 3.5 The possible formation of peroxide of MMC

3.2.3 The optimisation of DMC synthesis of MMC

3.2.3.1 The effect of the reaction time on the synthesis of MMC

To investigate the effect of the reaction time on the synthesis of MMC, reaction time between 1 h to 50 h was selected. Table 3.2 shows that the gas chromatography (GC) yield of MMC increases gradually from 42% to a maximum of 97% after 20 hours. As such, 20 hours was selected as an

optimal reaction condition. The high selectivity towards MMC (99%) is maintained at all reaction times in this study.

Entry	Time (h)	Selectivity (%) ^b	GC yield (%)
1	1	>99	42
2	2	>99	61
3	5	>99	84
4	10	>99	92
5	15	>99	96
6	20	>99	97
7	25	>99	97
8	50	>99	97

Table 3.2 The effect of the reaction time on the synthesis of MMC^a

^o Reaction conditions: solketal/DMC/K₂CO₃ = 6 mmol : 240 mmol : 7.2 mmol; T = 90 °C. ^b Selectivity towards MMC.

3.2.3.2 The effect of the catalytic loading on the synthesis of MMC

To optimise the catalytic loading, the amount of potassium carbonate used during synthesis was varied from 0% to 200% (Table 3.3). It can be seen that potassium carbonate is a very efficient catalyst for this reaction. Surprisingly, only 0.1% catalytic loading is required to produce MMC in high yield (96%) (entry 10, Table 3.3). When 0.05% equivalent potassium carbonate is used in the reaction, the yield of MMC drops down to 40% (entry 11, Table 3.3). Furthermore, when 0.01% equivalent is employed in the reaction, the yield of MMC falls to only 3% (entry 12, Table 3.3). Specifically, the control experiment (entry 13, Table 3.3) demonstrated that the carboxymethylation reaction between solketal and DMC did not take place in the absence of a catalyst. During this investigation, the selectivity towards MMC is preserved (99%). As a result, 0.1% potassium carbonate equivalent is selected as an optimised reaction condition.

Entry	K ₂ CO ₃ equivalents (%)	Selectivity (%) ^b	GC yield (%)
1	200.00	>99	97
2	120.00	>99	97
3	80.00	>99	97
4	40.00	>99	96
5	10.00	>99	97
6	5.00	>99	97
7	3.00	>99	98
8	1.00	>99	98
9	0.50	>99	97
10	0.10	>99	96
11	0.05	>99	40
12	0.01	>99	3
13	0.00	>99	0

Table 3.3 The effect of catalytic loading on the synthesis of MMC^a

^a Reaction conditions: solketal/DMC = 6 mmol : 240 mmol; T = 90 °C; reaction time 20 h.^b Selectivity towards MMC.

3.2.3.3 The effect of the mole ratio of DMC to solketal on the synthesis of MMC

Using the optimised conditions as mentioned above, the effect of the mole ratio of DMC to solketal was tested in the range of 5:1 to 40:1, and the results are listed in Table 3.4. When the mole ratio of DMC to solketal increases, the selectivity and GC yield towards MMC improve from 90% to 99% and 90% to 96%, respectively (entry 1-5, Table 3.4). As such, the 20:1 mole ratio of DMC to solketal is found to be optimal. During these experiments, the main by-product is observed to be (4,4-dimethyl-1,3-dioxolan-2-yl) methyl (2,2-dimethyl-1,3-dioxolan-4-yl) methyl carbonate (diMMC).

Entry	Mole ratio of DMC/solketal	Selectivity (%) ^b	GC yield (%)
1	5:1	90	90
2	10:1	96	94
3	15:1	97	94
4	20:1	>99	96
5	40:1	>99	96

Table 3.4 The effect of mole ratio of substrates on the synthesis of MMC^a

^a Reaction conditions: solketal/K₂CO₃ = 6 mmol : 0.006 mmol; T = 90 °C; reaction time 20 h. ^b Selectivity towards MMC.

Scheme 3.6 demonstrates the formation mechanism of diMMC: the lone pair electrons on the oxygen of the hydroxyl group of the solketal molecule attacks the centre carbon of the carbonate (-OCOO-) of MMC, following which the proton transfer occurs to yield diMMC and methanol.



Scheme 3.6 The synthesis of diMMC from solketal and MMC catalysed by potassium carbonate

Scheme 3.7 illustrates the competing reaction among solketal, DMC and MMC. During the reaction, MMC is produced firstly from the reaction between DMC and solketal. After that, excessive solketal reacts with MMC to produce diMMC. In other words, DMC and MMC have the competitive relationship to react with solketal to yield different products. It is possible that MMC is more sterically hindered than DMC. This means solketal has a higher probability of reaction with DMC rather than MMC. As a consequence, if the DMC is in a significant excess, the solketal should preferentially react with DMC rather than MMC. Therefore, when the mole ratio of DMC

to solketal increases, the selectivity towards MMC improves.



Scheme 3.7 The competing reaction among solketal, DMC and MMC

In summary, reaction time 20 h, 0.1% catalytic loading and 20:1 of mole ratio of DMC to solketal are the optimal reaction conditions for the synthesis of MMC. The remaining DMC and methanol after synthesis can be easily recovered by distillation.

3.2.4 Defining the solvent parameters of MMC

3.2.4.1 Boiling point and melting point of MMC

In this research, thermogravimetric analysis (TGA) is used to estimate the b.p. of MMC. TGA is a technique of thermal analysis in which variations in physical and chemical properties of samples are tested as a function of temperature or time.²⁷⁶ The rate of mass loss can be obtained by TGA as such the b.p. of a compound can be estimated. Since the differential thermogravimetric (DTG) curve represents the mass loss rate, the lowest point of that curve has the maximum mass loss rate, and thus the b.p. of MMC can be observed.



Fig. 3.2 The TGA of MMC

The actual b.p. of MMC was measured by TGA to be approximately 179 °C (Fig. 3.2). Since MMC was previously experimentally shown not to decompose at 179 °C,²⁷⁷ this was confirmed to be its b.p. The high b.p. of MMC implies that MMC possibly has less environmental and safety risks than many traditional volatile organic compound (VOC) solvents.



Fig. 3.3 The DSC of MMC

The melting point (m.p.) of MMC was measured by differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) (Fig. 3.3). The methods of identification of m.p. and crystallisation point (c.p.) in the DSC were referenced from the literature recommended by the Nomenclature Committee of the International Confederation for Thermal Analysis (ICTA).²⁷⁸ Based on these methods, the m.p. and c.p. of MMC were identified to be -7°C and -50 °C as shown in Fig. 3.3, respectively. It is worth to be mentioned that the "Exo Up" in Fig. 3.3 means the exothermic peak upturns in the diagram, while the endothermic peak is opposite.

In summary, at ambient pressure, MMC may be a suitable solvent for reactions conducted between a temperature range of 5 °C to 179 °C. In contrast to the chlorinated solvents, MMC also does not include any halogen atoms and hence it does not form highly toxic compounds such as phosgene (on oxidation) or deplete the ozone layer through incineration.¹¹

3.2.4.2 The measurement of density of MMC

The density of MMC was experimentally determined at 25 °C (298 K) and atmosphere pressure. Three different batches of MMC products were utilised for the density testing to obtain the average value. The measurement of the density of MMC was conducted by determining the mass of 1 cm³ MMC in a 1 cm³ volumetric flask. Its density was found to be 1.14 g·cm⁻³.

3.2.4.3 The measurement of viscosity of MMC

The dynamic viscosity of MMC was measured by Ostwald viscometer at 20 °C (293 K) and atmosphere pressure. Three different batches of MMC products were used for the viscosity testing to obtain the average value. Finally, the result shows its dynamic viscosity is 3.50 cP, which is a high viscosity around room temperature. Therefore, the solvent performance of MMC may be limited.

106

3.2.4.4 The measurement of formation of peroxide of MMC

MMC includes ether groups, and therefore could potentially form explosive peroxide. A preliminary test in this study to investigate the production of peroxides from MMC was implemented *via* employing peroxide test strip (Macherey-Nagel, QUANTOFIX® Peroxide-100), which has a detection limit (DL) between 1 to 100 mg·dm⁻³, following the instruction of the manufacturer. Monitoring of 7.5 cm³ MMC was sealed in a transparent small bottle with air and irradiated by light over a period of 224 days, in the absence of antioxidants or stabilisers.

Entry	Time	Concentration of peroxide (mg·dm ⁻³) ^b	
1	0 day ^c	Less than DL	
2	7 days	Less than DL	
3	14 days	Less than DL	
4	21 days	Less than DL	
5	28 days	Less than DL	
6	56 days	Less than DL	
7	84 days	Less than DL	
8	112 days	Less than DL	
9	168 days	Less than DL	
10	224 days	Less than DL	

Table 3.5 The monitoring of formation of peroxide of MMC^a

^{*a*} no antioxidant or stabiliser added. ^{*b*} The concentration of peroxide of MMC was tested by peroxide test strip. ^{*c*} 0 day represents isolated MMC was just obtained by distillation.

This investigation was conducted during an extended period of 224 days. Table 3.5 lists the testing results. After 224 days, the total peroxide concentration in MMC solvent was Less than DL (<1 mg·dm⁻³). This result signified that although MMC has little risk of production of hazardous peroxides under these test conditions, further work would be needed to determine the extent of peroxide formation at elevated temperatures and also under ultraviolet (UV) light sources.

3.2.4.5 UV-vis. test of KT parameters of MMC

The KT parameters of MMC were identified based on the ultraviolet-visible (UV-vis.) spectrum of different dyes of Nile red (NR), 4-nitroaniline (NA) and *N*,*N*-diethyl-4-nitroaniline (NN), respectively.

Table 3.6 The λ_{max} of UV-vis. of different dyes in MMC

	NR	NA	NN
λ_{max}	522 nm	356 nm	394 nm

Table 3.6 lists the λ_{max} of UV-vis. of NR, NA and NN in MMC. KT parameters α , β , and π^* of MMC were then calculated based on Equation 2.1, 2.2 and 2.3 in Chapter 2 to be: $\alpha = 0.00$, $\beta = 0.29$ and $\pi^* = 0.67$.

3.2.4.6 The solvent properties of MMC in comparison with other conventional aprotic solvents

Table 3.7 lists the properties of MMC, compared to a range of different categories of traditional aprotic solvents such as DCM, CHCl₃, ethyl acetate, diethyl ether, acetonitrile, acetone, cyclohexane, DMC and propylene carbonate.

Fig. 3.4 illustrates the sites of MMC and other investigated solvents in three dimension (3D) Hansen space. As discussed in Chapter 2, if a lower Ra value exists between two different solvents, they are more to likely possess similar solvency power. Table 3.7 and Fig. 3.4 show that MMC has similar HSPs to DCM, which indicates that MMC is a potential substitute for DCM. Additionally, MMC has similar solvency power to ethyl acetate and acetone with Ra values between them less than 5.00. MMC also has similar medium solvency to chloroform, diethyl ether and DMC with Ra values in the range of 5.00 to 7.00. Acetonitrile, propylene carbonate and cyclohexane have a much longer distance to MMC than the other traditional solvents with Ra values higher than 9.50.

108
	MMC	DCM	Chloroform	Ethyl	Diethyl	Acetonitrile	Acetone	Cyclohexane	DMC	Propylene
				acetate	ether					carbonate
Mwt	190.2ª	84.9 ^d	119.4 ^d	88.1 ^d	74.1 ^d	41.1 ^{<i>d</i>}	58.1 ^d	84.2 ^d	90.1°	102.1 ^d
ΚΤ α	0.00	0.13 ^e	0.20 ^e	0.00 ^{<i>i</i>}	0.00'	0.35 ^{<i>i</i>}	0.20 [/]	0.00′	0.00′	0.00 ^p
κτ β	0.29	0.10 ^e	0.10 ^e	0.48 ⁱ	0.51 ⁱ	0.37 ^j	0.54 ^j	0.00′	0.32′	0.38 ^p
KT π*	0.67	0.82 ^e	0.58 ^e	0.54 ⁱ	0.28 ⁱ	0.80 ^j	0.70 ^j	0.00′	0.55′	0.90°
$\delta_{\scriptscriptstyle D}/{\sf MPa}^{\scriptscriptstyle 0.5}$	16.2ª	18.2 ^{<i>f</i>}	17.8 ^f	15.8 ^f	14.5 ^f	15.3 ^f	15.5 ^f	16.8 ^f	15.5 ^f	20.0 ^f
$\delta_{ extsf{P}}/ extsf{MPa}^{ extsf{0.5}}$	7.9ª	6.3 ^f	3.1 ^{<i>f</i>}	5.3 ^f	2.9 ^f	18.0 ^f	10.4 ^f	0.0 ^f	3.9 ^f	18.0 ^f
$\delta_{ extsf{H}}/ extsf{MPa}^{0.5}$	6.0 ^{<i>a</i>}	6.1 ^{<i>f</i>}	5.7 ^f	7.2 ^f	5.1 ^f	6.1 ^{<i>f</i>}	7.0 ^f	0.2 ^{<i>f</i>}	9.7 ^f	4.1 ^{<i>f</i>}
Hansen	0.00	4.31	5.78	2.97	6.11	10.26	3.03	9.87	5.63	12.78
distance ^b										
B.p./°C	179°	40 ^{<i>d</i>}	61 ^{<i>d</i>}	77 ^d	34 ^{<i>d</i>}	82 ^d	56 ^d	81 ^d	90 ^m	242 ^d
M.p./°C	-7 ^q	-95 ^d	-64 ^d	-84 ^d	-116 ^d	-44 ^d	-95 ^d	7 ^{<i>d</i>}	5″	-55 ^d
ρ/g·cm⁻³ at	1.14	1.32 ^d	1.48 ^d	0.89 ^d	0.71 ^d	0.78 ^d	0.78 ^d	0.77 ^d	1.06 ^m	1.20 ^{<i>d</i>}
298 K										
Viscosity /cP	3.50	0.44 ^g	0.576 ^h	0.45 ^d	0.24 ^d	0.36 ^g	0.33 ^k	0.98 ^d	0.62°	2.76 ^d
at 293 K										

Table 3.7 The properties of MMC and other traditional aprotic solvents

^o Calculated by HSPiP. ^b Hansen distance to MMC. ^c Measured by TGA. ^d Ref. 22. ^e Ref. 137. ^f Ref. 139. ^g Ref. 254. ^h Ref. 255. ⁱ Ref. 119 and Ref. 134. ^j Ref. 135. ^k Ref. 256 ^l Ref. 133. ^m Ref. 237. ⁿ Ref. 257. ^o Ref. 258. ^p Ref. 136.^g Measured by DSC.

MMC is considered to be an aprotic solvent due to its low α . KT solvent plots can be used to establish how the β and π^* properties of MMC compared to other conventional aprotic solvents (Fig. 3.5). Based on Table 3.7 and Fig. 3.5, MMC is placed closer to DCM and other highly dipolar/polarisable solvents with low hydrogen bonding potential. These results provide evidence that MMC may have properties (basicity and polarity) between these solvents and can be employed as a more sustainable replacement solvent for a broad range of different types of conventional solvents. Meanwhile, MMC shows entirely different solvent properties to cyclohexane in both KT parameters and HSPs. This

demonstrates that MMC may not be its suitable replacement solvent.



Fig. 3.4 The site of MMC and the other traditional solvents in Hansen space constructed by HSPiP software, where D, P and H represent δ_D /MPa^{0.5}, δ_P /MPa^{0.5} and δ_H /MPa^{0.5},

respectively



Fig. 3.5 The KT solvent plot of MMC and other traditional aprotic solvents investigated in this research

3.2.5 The solvent test in Friedel-Crafts and Diels-Alder reactions

As MMC has both similar KT parameters and HSPs to DCM as well as a group of other organic solvents, its performance as the reaction medium in two chemical reactions was tested against a range of traditional solvents. Friedel-Crafts and Diels-Alder reactions were both selected to assess MMC compared to other conventional solvents. MMC's ether and carbonate functional groups were expected to remain inert in both of these reactions. The synthesis of 4-methoxyacetophenone (4-MAP) from anisole and acetic anhydride promoted by iron (III) chloride, as shown in Scheme 3.8, was selected to evaluate the performance of MMC in the Friedel-Crafts reaction. The experimental results are listed in Fig. 3.6.



Scheme 3.8 The Friedel-Crafts synthesis of 4-MAP from anisole and acetic anhydride promoted by iron (III) chloride in different solvents



Fig. 3.6 The GC yield of 4-MAP synthesised from anisole and acetic anhydride promoted by FeCl₃ in MMC and other common solvents with selectivity >99% towards 4-MAP in all the experiments

The reaction conducted in MMC results in a yield of 61% 4-MAP, while the yields of 4-MAP for DCM, ethyl acetate and propylene carbonate are found to be 77%, 51% and 57%, respectively. These results support the evidence put forward by the KT solvatochromic parameters that indicate that MMC demonstrated solvent properties between DCM, ethyl acetate and propylene carbonate.



Scheme 3.9 The Diels-Alder synthesis of DE from 3-buten-2-one and diene catalysed by



ytterbium(III) chloride in different solvents

Fig. 3.7 The GC yields of DE synthesised from 3-buten-2-one and diene catalysed by YbCl₃ in different solvents with selectivity >99% towards DE in all the experiments

The performance of MMC in the Diels-Alder reaction was also evaluated for the synthesis of 1-(3,4-dimethylcyclohex-3-enyl) ethanone (DE) from 2,3-dimethyl-1,3-butadiene (diene) and 3-buten-2-one catalysed by anhydrous ytterbium(III) chloride (Scheme 3.9). DCM, propylene carbonate and acetonitrile all exhibit high yields (>95%) in this reaction, while ethyl acetate, acetone and MMC generate moderate yields of 75%-80% (Fig. 3.7). DMC, chloroform, diethyl ether and cyclohexane only have medium to low yield. These results indicate that MMC has similar solvent properties to the ketone and ester solvents which were tested in the Diels-Alder reaction.

The possible reason for the lower yield of MMC than that of DCM in Friedel-Crafts and Diels-Alder reactions is that the Lewis acid FeCl₃ and YbCl₃ form complexation with the highly electronegative ketonic oxygen of MMC solvent, which decreases the availability of active catalyst for the substrates (Fig. 3.8).²⁷⁹ Meanwhile, the high viscosity of MMC reduces the reaction rate which also results in the lower yield of MMC than that of DCM and some other solvents.



Fig. 3.8 The complexation of MMC with Lewis acid catalysts

The results of the two experimental case studies also show both reactions are highly dependent on the polarity of the medium. Specifically, a high π^* is favoured, a trend that is especially true in the case of the Diels-Alder reaction.²⁸⁰ MMC is competitive based upon the yields provided. Although DCM is the more proficient solvent due to its superior polarity, it is a possible carcinogen.

3.2.6 Ames test for MMC

For a molecule to be a suitable substitute to traditional solvents, it must be safer than the solvents it is replacing. As such, the toxicology investigation of MMC was implemented by the Ames test.

Mutational *Salmonella typhimurium* TA98 (*hisD3052*) and TA100 (*hisG46*) were employed to verify the mutagenicity of MMC. Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) was employed as a solvent (negative) control. A mixture of 2-nitrofluorene (2-NF) and 4-nitroquinoline-*N*-oxide (4-NQO) was utilised as the positive control. This Ames test was conducted without S9 microsomal activation, which is typically derived from mammalian liver.

Concentration of MMC	Replicate 1 ^b	Replicate 2 ^b	Replicate 3 ^b	Average value of
(mg·cm⁻³)				replicates 1-3
0 ^c	7	6	4	6
0.16	7	4	11	7
0.31	6	7	8	7
0.63	10	8	12	10
1.25	20	16	11	16
2.5	15	20	18	18
5	26	21	28	25
2-NF + 4-NQO ^d	48	47	48	48

Table 3.8 Ames test for MMC with TA98^a

^a Without S9 microsomal activation. ^b Number of mutagenic wells of 48 wells. ^c Negative control. ^d Positive control.



Fig. 3.9 The dose effect of MMC for TA98 in Ames test

Concentration of MMC	Replicate 1 ^b	Replicate 2 ^b	Replicate 3 ^b	Average value of
(mg⋅cm⁻³)				replicates 1-3
0 ^c	2	0	2	1
0.16	0	0	1	0
0.31	0	0	2	1
0.63	1	1	2	1
1.25	3	1	0	1
2.5	2	0	3	2
5	1	3	0	1
2-NF + 4-NQO ^d	48	48	48	48

Table 3.9 Ames test for MMC with TA100^a

^o Without S9 microsomal activation.^b Number of mutagenic wells of 48 wells.^c Negative control. ^d Positive control.



Fig. 3.10 The dose effect of MMC for TA100 in Ames test

After the testing, no mutagenicity of MMC was observed for TA100 (Table 3.9, Fig. 3.10), since no dose effect existed. However, mutagenicity was observed for MMC with the TA98 strain because dose effect exhibited (Table 3.8, Fig. 3.9). This indicates that MMC is a mutagenic solvent. In summary, although MMC is a bio-based solvent, its mutagenicity results in it not being classified as a green solvent. This test also demonstrates that any new bio-based solvent needs Ames test before application to confirm whether it is a green solvent. These results highlight the importance of toxicity testing in the early stages of solvent development.

3.3 Conclusion

This chapter describes the solvent selection process as well as the optimisation of a synthetic route to a new bio-based solvent, MMC, from glycerol based solketal and DMC.

Specifically, MMC was selected as a new bio-based medium after screening based on HSPiP software. Screening of different reaction conditions for the synthesis of MMC from solketal and DMC catalysed by potassium carbonate was then implemented, and it was found that a reaction time of 20 h, 0.1% catalytic loading and 20:1 of mole ratio of DMC to solketal were the optimal conditions. B.p., m.p., density and viscosity of MMC were also determined. The results demonstrate potential limitations in its performance due to the high viscosity. Peroxide testing was also conducted, and the results provided evidence that MMC does not generate hazardous peroxide compounds. HSPs, KT parameters, Friedel-Crafts and Diels-Alder reactions of MMC testified that MMC could be a potential sustainable replacement for a wide range of traditional solvents in organic synthesis. Importantly, MMC was proved to be mutagenic by Ames test, showing although it is a bio-based solvent but not a green solvent and thus should be eliminated as a potential candidate for solvent replacement.

Chapter 4 The new developments in acidic DMC chemistry

Part of the work presented in this chapter has appeared in: S. Jin, A. J. Hunt, J. H. Clark and C. R. McElroy, Acid-catalysed carboxymethylation, methylation and dehydration of alcohols and phenols with dimethyl carbonate under mild conditions, *Green Chem.*, 2016, **18**, 5839-5844.

Poster given at The 4th Annual G2C2 Workshop and Symposium: Green Chemistry for China, Sichuan University, Chengdu, P. R. China, July 2016

4.1 Introduction

4.1.1 The definition of acid and base

There are two main definitions of acid and base; they are Brønsted-Lowry definition and Lewis definition.²⁸¹

Brønsted-Lowry defines an acid as a substance which donates a proton (H^+) and a base as a substance which accepts a proton.²⁸¹ The species generated when an acid donates a proton is defined as the conjugate base while the species produced when a base accepts a proton is defined as the conjugate acid (Scheme 4.1). Some of most commonly used Brønsted acids are sulphuric acid, hydrochloric acid, nitric acid, *p*-toluenesulfonic acid (PTSA), acetic acid, *etc*.



Scheme 4.1 The general equation for Brønsted acid

A classification which is much broader than Brønsted-Lowry concept is the Lewis definition of acid and bases: A Lewis acid is a substance which accepts an electron pair; a Lewis base is a substance which donates an electron pair.²⁸¹ For example, many transition-metal compounds, such as AlCl₃, FeCl₃, ZnCl₂, TiCl₄ and SnCl₄ are good Lewis acids due to their vacant valence orbitals which can accept an electron pair from Lewis base (Scheme 4.2). According to the concept of Lewis base, most oxygen- or nitrogen-containing organic compounds, such as ethanol, acetone and trimethylamine, are excellent Lewis bases due to their lone pairs.²⁸¹



Scheme 4.2 The Lewis acid-base reaction

4.1.2 Acids as catalysts

Numerous chemical reactions are carried out in the presence of acid catalysts. Brønsted acids are commonly used as acid catalysts in organic synthesis since they can protonate reactants, resulting in the formation of carbonium ion intermediate or improve electrophilicity of substrates.^{127,282} For example, the dehydration of alcohol can be catalysed by a Brønsted acid such as sulphuric acid: The sulphuric acid donates a proton to protonate the alcohol hydroxyl group, before dehydration occurs *via* a unimolecular elimination (E1) mechanism (Scheme 4.3) to yield a carbonium ion.¹²⁷ Finally, the relevant dehydration product is obtained after eliminating a proton.



Scheme 4.3 The dehydration of alcohol catalysed by sulphuric acid



Scheme 4.4 The Brønsted acid catalysed Fischer esterification reaction

Another example of Brønsted acid catalysed reaction is the Fischer esterification reaction (Scheme. 4.4), where the acid catalyst improves the electrophilicity of the carbonyl carbon.²⁸²

Lewis acids, such as AlCl₃, are also popularly employed as acid catalysts due to their ability to increase the electrophilicity of relevant reactants. For instance, Lewis acid can be used as a catalyst to promote the electrophilic aromatic substitution, such as Friedel-Crafts reaction



Scheme 4.5 AlCl₃ catalysed Friedel-Crafts reaction

Currently, more sustainable and reusable heterogeneous catalysts have been extensively developed, such as Starbon[®],²⁸⁴ amorphous carbon with SO₃H group,²⁸⁵ biomass derived sulfonated carbons as solid acid²⁸⁶ and macroporous resin solid acid.²⁸⁷

Overall, acid catalysts have been used ubiquitously in various organic synthesis, and their application in green syntheses, such as dimethyl carbonate (DMC) reaction, is of interest in this project.

4.1.3 Acid-catalysed DMC chemistry for alcohols

As discussed in Chapter 1, DMC is a green methylation and carboxymethylation agent. However, currently most reactions between DMC and alcohols are base-catalysed. Due to the possible interaction between acid catalysts and the carbonyl group, DMC reactions may be promoted by Brønsted acid or Lewis acid. Significantly, in Chapter 2, Brønsted acid PTSA was identified as the best catalyst to promote methylation of acetoin with DMC at 160 °C. It was this result which directed the investigation into acid-catalysed reactions of DMC in this chapter.

To date, limited literature has been reported on acid-catalysed (Brønsted or Lewis acid) carboxymethylation or methylation reactions between aliphatic alcohols/phenols and DMC. Bernini *et al.* used sulphuric acid as a catalyst to promote the carboxymethylation reaction between tyrosol or homovanillyl alcohol and DMC at 90 °C (Scheme 4.6 and Scheme 4.7).²⁸⁸



Scheme 4.6 The sulphuric acid catalysed DMC carboxymethylation reaction for tyrosol



Scheme 4.7 The sulphuric acid catalysed DMC carboxymethylation reaction for homovanillyl

alcohol



Scheme 4.8 The methylation reaction between 1-octanol and DMC catalysed by acidic y-

alumina in ScCO₂

Gooden *et al.* reported that acidic γ -alumina was used to promote the DMC methylation reaction for 1-octanol in supercritical CO₂ (ScCO₂), and a yield of 86% was obtained at 262 °C under 100 bar (Scheme 4.8).²⁸⁹

However, these sporadic articles did not investigate the acid-catalysed DMC chemistry systematically. Therefore, it is necessary to study the acid-catalysed DMC reaction comprehensively with various alcohols and acid catalysts at a different temperature.

Significantly, if acid-catalysed DMC chemistry is possible, such a system will offer several major

advantages over existing procedures (Fig. 4.1). These benefits are three-fold and may include:

- The substrates, which cannot conduct the reaction under basic condition, can be included in DMC chemistry after introducing acid catalysts, thus expanding the range of applications of DMC.
- The number of available catalysts in DMC chemistry can be dramatically increased after adding acid catalysts.
- Acid catalysts have potentially lower market prices as compared to common base catalysts used in existing DMC chemistry (such as potassium carbonate, sodium methoxide and potassium *tert*-butoxide).²⁹⁰ Therefore, acidic DMC chemistry is worth exploring.



Fig. 4.1 The main advantages of introducing acid catalysts in DMC chemistry

Herein, widely available Brønsted and Lewis acids including PTSA, sulphuric acid, aluminium trichloride and iron (III) chloride have been selected to promote carboxymethylation and/or methylation reactions for various alcohols and phenols at 90 °C and 160 °C (Scheme 4.9).



Scheme 4.9 Acid-catalysed DMC carboxymethylation/methylation reaction for different alcohols and phenols at 90 °C or 160 °C

4.2 Results and discussion

4.2.1 Acid-catalysed DMC chemistry at 90 °C

Typically, base-catalysed reactions are carried out at reflux with DMC as both solvent and reactant result in carboxymethylation.¹⁶³ Acid-catalysed reactions should proceed in a similar manner and as such these were the initial conditions studied.

4.2.1.1 Carboxymethylation products obtained by the catalysis of Brønsted acid

PTSA and sulphuric acid were selected as typical Brønsted acids for the investigation of acidcatalysed DMC carboxymethylation chemistry at reflux temperature (90 °C). Table 4.1 and Table 4.2 show the conversion and selectivity towards carboxymethylation products synthesised from different alcohols and phenols in the presence of DMC and catalytic (0.05 equivalent) or stoichiometric (1.00 equivalent) amounts of PTSA or sulphuric acid, respectively.

Catalytic loading of PTSA resulted in carboxymethylation of primary alcohols 1-butanol and 1octanol (entry 1 and 4, Table 4.1) with near quantitative selectivity and conversion (>99%). Under similar conditions, PTSA also promotes carboxymethylation of secondary alcohols 2-butanol and 2-octanol with quantitative selectivity (>99%) but reduced conversion of 65% and 28%, respectively (entry 2 and 5, Table 4.1). When stoichiometric PTSA is employed, the conversion and selectivity towards carboxymethylation for all primary and secondary alcohols are quantitative. However, PTSA was ineffective at promoting the reaction of *tert*-butanol, highlighting that this catalyst did not promote the DMC methylation and carboxymethylation of tertiary alcohols.

Entry	ROH	Catalytic PTSA		Stoichiometric PTSA	
	_	Conv. ^{<i>b</i>} (%)	Sel. ^{<i>b</i>} (%)	Conv. ^{<i>b</i>} (%)	Sel. ^b (%)
1	1-Butanol	>99	>99	>99	>99
2	2-Butanol	65±3	>99	>99	>99
3	tert-Butanol	0	0	0	0
4	1-Octanol	>99	>99	>99	>99
5	2-Octanol	28±2	>99	>99	>99
6	3-Nitrophenol	0	0	0	0
7	Phenol	0	0	0	0
8	<i>m</i> -Cresol	0	0	0	0

 Table 4.1 Conversion and selectivity of the PTSA promoted carboxymethylation reaction

 between various alcohols and DMC^a

^a Reaction conditions: ROH/DMC/PTSA = 6.00 mmol : 240.00 mmol : 0.30/6.00 mmol; T = 90 °C; reaction time 19 h. ^b

Conversions and selectivity were calculated by ¹H NMR and GC; selectivity towards methyl carbonates.

Phenols were also studied in order to expand the application of acidic DMC chemistry in aromatic compounds and investigate if hard-soft acid-base (HSAB) theory also applies under such conditions. Moreover, since phenolic compounds extensively exist in organisms, and thus if acid-catalysed DMC reaction for phenols is feasible, then this syntheses may be used to modify or upgrade these natural phenols in the future.

Fig. 4.2 illustrates the phenols studied in this research, including (a) phenol with deactivation group (3-nitrophenol), (b) phenol with no directing group (phenol) and (c) phenol with activation group (*m*-cresol). Methyl group has the electron-donating hyperconjugation effect, which increases the electron cloud density on the hydroxyl group and benzene ring of phenol. Nitro group has the electron-withdrawing inductive effect and electron-withdrawing conjugation

effect, which reduces the electron cloud density on the OH group and benzene ring of phenol. As such, these three substrates were selected to observe the effect of electron density upon the reactivity of phenol in these methylation reactions, and the availability of HSAB theory in acidic DMC chemistry thus can be verified.



Fig. 4.2 The phenols investigated in this study

Table 4.2 Conversion and selectivity of the sulphuric acid promoted carboxymethylation

Entry	ROH	Catalytic H ₂ SO ₄		Stoichiome	etric H ₂ SO ₄
	-	Conv. ^{<i>b</i>} (%)	Sel. ^b (%)	Conv. ^{<i>b</i>} (%)	Sel. ^b (%)
1	1-Butanol	94±2	>99	>99	>99
2	2-Butanol	52±4	>99	>99	0 ^c
3	tert-Butanol	0	0	0	0
4	1-Octanol	>99	>99	>99	>99
5	2-Octanol	41±3	>99	>99	0 ^c
6	3-Nitrophenol	0	0	0	0
7	Phenol	0	0	0	0
8	<i>m</i> -Cresol	0	0	16±3	10 ^{<i>d</i>}

reaction between various alcohols and DMC^a

^{*a*} Reaction conditions: ROH/DMC/H₂SO₄ = 6.00 mmol : 240.00 mmol : 0.30/6.00 mmol; T = 90 °C; reaction time 19 h. ^{*b*} Conversions and selectivity were calculated by ¹H NMR and GC; selectivity towards methyl carbonates. ^{*c*} Selectivity >99% towards dehydration products. ^{*d*} Selectivity 90% towards the methylation product.

The desired carboxymethylation products of 3-nitrophenol, phenol and *m*-cresol were not produced with either catalytic or stoichiometric amount of PTSA (entry 6-8, Table 4.1). The results highlighted that despite the introduction of electron-donating (-CH₃) or electron-withdrawing (-NO₂) group substitution on the aromatic ring of phenol, the carboxymethylation

reaction did not occur between DMC and phenolic derivatives in the presence of PTSA.

Sulphuric acid was selected as a representative inorganic acid. Sulphuric acid is a widely available inorganic acid that will provide a cost-effective alternative to base-catalysed DMC chemistry. In this research, when catalytic amount of sulphuric acid is employed, selectivity (towards methyl carbonate) of reactions with primary and secondary alcohols is quantitative (>99%), with good conversions for primary alcohols (entry 1 and 4, Table 4.2), but medium conversion (40%-55%) for secondary alcohols (entry 2 and 5, Table 4.2).

In the presence of stoichiometric sulphuric acid, the conversion of both primary and secondary alcohols becomes quantitative (entry 1, 2, 4 and 5, Table 4.2). With regard to primary alcohols, selectivity is exclusively towards carboxymethylation, whereas, for secondary alcohols 2-butanol and 2-octanol only dehydration to the corresponding alkenes is observed. Scheme 4.10 and Scheme 4.11 demonstrate the dehydration process of 2-butanol and 2-octanol in DMC and stoichiometric sulphuric acid at DMC reflux temperature, respectively. During the dehydration process, the double bond shift also exhibits with various butene and octene isomers produced, consisting of different E/Z configurations.



Scheme 4.10 The dehydration of 2-butanol in DMC promoted by stoichiometric H₂SO₄ at 90 °C



Scheme 4.11 The dehydration of 2-octanol in DMC promoted by stoichiometric H_2SO_4 at 90 °C

The reason why 2-butanol and 2-octanol proceeds *via* dehydration rather than carboxymethylation in the presence of stoichiometric sulphuric acid and DMC is due to the stability of carbonium ion intermediate of secondary alcohols being higher than that of primary alcohols during acid-catalysed dehydration (Fig. 4.3). To be specific, secondary carbonium ions have more electron donating groups than primary carbonium ions resulted in lower activation energy needed for formation. This therefore results in carboxymethylation for primary alcohol, while secondary alcohol carries out a dehydration reaction *via* the E1 mechanism.



Fig. 4.3 The stability of primary and secondary carbonium ion intermediate

Under such conditions, stoichiometric sulphuric acid has been demonstrated as an excellent reagent for the dehydration of secondary alcohols. This is important since many dehydration reactions for secondary aliphatic alcohols occur at higher temperatures. Specifically, dehydration of 2-octanol has been reported using a molybdenum complex at 150 °C,²⁹¹ while heterogeneous Al₂O₃-ZrO₂ needed very high temperatures of 280 °C.²⁹²





DMC and alcohols

Conventional base-catalysed DMC chemistry with hydroxyl functionality proceeds through deprotonation to produce a strong nucleophile before attack upon the carbonyl (carboxymethylation) or methyl (methylation) carbon of the DMC. A possible mechanism of Brønsted acid catalysed carboxymethylation reaction for alcohols is suggested in Scheme 4.12 and is based on the proposed Brønsted acid catalysed transesterification mechanism.²⁴³ Under acidic conditions, the lone pair of the DMC carbonyl is protonated, before nucleophilic attack from the alcohol occurs. After losing a proton, the hemiketal intermediate forms and then eliminates methanol to obtain the carboxymethylation product.

Similar to PTSA, sulphuric acid did not catalyse any reaction between DMC and *tert*-butanol, 3nitrophenol or phenol under either catalytic or stoichiometric loading. Stoichiometric H_2SO_4 and DMC results in *m*-cresol giving methylation (selectivity 90%) and carboxymethylation products (selectivity 10%), but at very low conversion (16%) (entry 8, Table 4.2).

4.2.1.2 Carboxymethylation products obtained by the catalysis of Lewis acid

Aluminium chloride and iron (III) chloride were selected as widely available and low-cost Lewis acids to research the effects of such catalysts in DMC chemistry. Table 4.3 gives the conversion and selectivity of different alcohols towards carboxymethylation under different catalytic loading of AlCl₃.

Selectivity and conversion of primary alcohols are quantitative regardless of loading of aluminium chloride or reagents (entry 1 and 4, Table 4.3). With regard to secondary alcohols, selectivity remains high at catalytic loadings, but conversion decreases when 1% equivalent aluminium chloride is employed (entry 2 and 5, Table 4.3). At a stoichiometric loading of AlCl₃, conversion and selectivity towards carboxymethylation of 2-butanol remain quantitative, however, with 2-octanol, dehydration to the relevant alkenes occurs (entry 5, Table 4.3) with 49% selectivity.

When reacting phenols with DMC in the presence of aluminium chloride at 0.01 and 0.05 molar equivalents, no reaction occurred. However, at 0.20 equivalents or stoichiometric loading, both

carboxymethylation and methylation are observed (entry 6-8, Table 4.3 and entry 1-3, Table 4.4). At 0.2 equivalents of aluminium chloride, the conversion is moderate to low (50%-10%), but selectivity is high towards carboxymethylation rather than methylation, while increasing to stoichiometric loadings dramatically increases conversion but reduces selectivity for carboxymethylation products (entry 6-8, Table 4.3). However, concerning methylation, employing stoichiometric AlCl₃ results in good selectivity towards 3-nitroanisole and anisole, with reasonable selectivity to 3-methylanisole (entry 1-3, Table 4.4).

Entry	ROH	Conv./Sel. ^b (%)	Conv./Sel. ^b (%)	Conv./Sel. ^b (%)	Conv./Sel. ^b (%)
		(0.01 equivalent)	(0.05 equivalent)	(0.20 equivalent)	(1.00 equivalent)
1	1-Butanol	>99/99	>99/>99	>99/>99	>99/>99
2	2-Butanol	77±4/>99	>99/98	>99/>99	>99/99
3	tert-Butanol	0/0	0/0	0/0	0/0
4	1-Octanol	99±1/>99	>99/99	>99/>99	>99/>99
5	2-Octanol	8±1/>99	>99/>99	>99/>99	>99/51 ^c
6	3-Nitrophenol	0/0	0/0	20±3/76	83±1/29
7	Phenol	0/0	0/0	42±5/94	85±2/33
8	<i>m</i> -Cresol	0/0	0/0	14±4/97	90±2/56

 Table 4.3 Conversion and selectivity of the aluminium chloride promoted carboxymethylation

 reaction between various alcohols and DMC^a

^{*a*} Reaction conditions: ROH/DMC = 6.00 mmol : 240.00 mmol; *T* = 90 °C; reaction time 19 h. ^{*b*} Conversions and selectivity were calculated by ¹H NMR and GC; selectivity towards methyl carbonates. ^{*c*} Selectivity 49% towards dehydration products.

Employing HSAB theory as discussed in Chapter 1 to explain the experimental results, softer nucleophiles prefer to react with the softer methyl carbon (lower positive charge) on the DMC to yield the methylation product, while the harder nucleophilic reagents prefer to react with the harder carbonyl carbon (higher positive charge) of DMC to produce the corresponding carboxymethylation product. Additionally, A base which possesses a more electropositive central atom is softer.¹⁸⁹ Therefore, in this research the order of hardness for the phenols is *m*-cresol >

phenol > 3-nitrophenol based on the electronic effect of the corresponding substituent group on the benzene ring. As such, *m*-cresol should prefer to react with the hard carbon (carbonyl carbon) of DMC to produce the carboxymethylation product, while 3-nitrophenol ought to prefer to react

Entry	ROH	Catalytic amount (0.20 equivalent) of		Stoichiometric amount (1.00 equivalent)		
		AICl ₃		of AICI ₃		
		Conv. ^{<i>b</i>} (%)	Sel. ^b (%)	Conv. ^{<i>b</i>} (%)	Sel. ^b (%)	
1	3-Nitrophenol	20±3	24	83±1	71	
2	Phenol	42±5	6	85±2	67	
3	<i>m</i> -Cresol	14±4	3	90±2	44	

 Table 4.4 Conversion and selectivity of the aluminium chloride promoted methylation reaction

 between phenols and DMC^a

^a Reaction conditions: ROH/DMC/AlCl₃ = 6.00 mmol : 240.00 mmol : 1.20/6.00 mmol; T = 90 °C; reaction time 19 h.^b

Conversions and selectivity were calculated by ¹H NMR and GC; selectivity towards methylation products.



Fig. 4.4 The soft carbon and hard carbon of DMC

with the soft carbon (methyl carbon) of DMC to yield the methylation product (Fig. 4.4). In Table 4.4, selectivity towards methylation products following this trend. This highlights that reactions between DMC and phenols in the presence of stoichiometric aluminium chloride provides similar methylation results to base-catalysed reactions but with much-improved conversion.¹⁹⁰ However,

when employing 0.2 equivalent of $AlCl_3$, selectivity shifts dramatically towards carboxymethylation for all three reactions regardless of the softness of the nucleophile (entry 6-8, Table 4.3). This is in contrast to base-catalysed reactions.¹⁹⁰

 Table 4.5 Conversion and selectivity of the aluminium chloride promoted carboxymethylation

 and methylation reactions between phenols and DMC at extended reaction time^a

Entry	ROH	Conv. ^{<i>b</i>} (%)	Sel. ^b (%) ROMe	Sel. ^b (%) ROCO ₂ Me
1	3-Nitrophenol	84±3	88	12
2	Phenol	88±1	85	15
3	<i>m</i> -Cresol	92±3	62	38

^a Reaction conditions: ROH/DMC/AlCl₃ = 6.00 mmol : 240.00 mmol : 6.00 mmol; T = 90 °C; reaction time 60 h. ^b

Conversions and selectivity were calculated by ¹H NMR and GC.



Fig. 4.5 The reason for the shift of selectivity towards methylation product

To study the impact of extended reaction time at 90 °C, DMC, phenols and stoichiometric aluminium chloride were reacted for 60 h (Table 4.5). In comparison to the 19 h reactions, conversion remains constant (within statistical error) while selectivity towards methylation increases (entry 1-3, Table 4.5). This suggests that initially carboxymethylation of the phenols dominates, but this reaction is reversible (Fig. 4.5). Methylation proceeds much more slowly but is irreversible (Fig. 4.5 and Scheme 4.9) and also leads to the production of methanol, pushing the carboxymethylation equilibrium back to reformation of the phenol. Hence, the longer a

reaction runs, the greater the degree of methylation observed.

Aluminium chloride is not considered to be a green catalyst since it can result in highly acidic and toxic contaminated aqueous wastes,^{273,293,294,} and it is also a harmful compound to human respiratory and central nervous systems.²⁷³ For this reason, a second greener Lewis acid, iron (III) chloride was also investigated as a lower toxicity alternative.

Entry	ROH	Catalytic FeCl ₃		Stoichiome	etric FeCl₃
	-	Conv. ^{<i>b</i>} (%)	Sel. ^b (%)	Conv. ^{<i>b</i>} (%)	Sel. ^b (%)
1	1-Butanol	>99	>99	>99	>99
2	2-Butanol	88±2	>99	>99	0 ^c
3	tert-Butanol	0	0	0	0
4	1-Octanol	>99	>99	>99	>99
5	2-Octanol	74±3	>99	>99	0 ^c
6	3-Nitrophenol	9±4	>99	9±3	>99
7	Phenol	0	0	0	0
8	<i>m</i> -Cresol	0	0	0	0

 Table 4.6 Conversion and selectivity of the iron (III) chloride promoted carboxymethylation

 reaction between various alcohols and DMC^a

^{*a*} Reaction conditions: ROH/DMC/FeCl₃ = 6.00 mmol : 240.00 mmol : 0.30/6.00 mmol; *T* = 90 °C; reaction time 19 h. ^{*b*} Conversions and selectivity were calculated by ¹H NMR and GC; selectivity towards methyl carbonates. ^{*c*} Selectivity >99% towards dehydration products.

Based on Table 4.6, quantitative conversions and selectivity of primary alcohols are obtained under both catalytic and stoichiometric conditions (entry 1 and 4, Table 4.6). Good conversion and high selectivity of secondary alcohols are also attained under catalytic loading (entry 2 and 5, Table 4.6). Reactions of secondary alcohols and DMC in the presence of stoichiometric iron (III) chloride results in a quantitative conversion, but with selectivity exclusively towards dehydration to the alkenes (entry 2 and 5, Table 4.6), the same as observed with stoichiometric sulphuric acid. Although sulphuric acid is a well-known dehydrating agent,²⁹⁵ stoichiometric iron (III) chloride is not normally considered in the same way. When producing alkyl carbonates through Brønsted or Lewis acid catalysed reactions between an aliphatic alcohol and DMC, the ease of attack follows the trend: primary alcohol > short chain secondary alcohol > long chain secondary alcohol > tertiary alcohol. This is consistent with previously published base-catalysed research.²⁹⁶ Regardless of the system utilised, no acidcatalysed the reaction conducted between a tertiary alcohol (*tert*-butanol) and DMC.

Despite no evidence of a reaction occurring between DMC and phenol/*m*-cresol under either catalytic or stoichiometric FeCl₃ (entry 7 and 8, Table 4.6), 3-nitrophenol shows low conversion (9%) to methyl 3-nitrophenyl carbonate with >99% selectivity (entry 6, Table 4.6). At a stoichiometric loading of sulphuric acid, the hardest nucleophile *m*-cresol has high selectivity towards its methylation product while stoichiometric iron (III) chloride and the softest nucleophile 3-nitrophenol results in near quantitative selectivity towards its carboxymethylation product. In both cases, this does not follow HSAB theory.

4.2.1.3 Effect of solvents on the acid-catalysed dehydration of alcohols

As mentioned in Section 4.2.1.1 and Section 4.2.1.2, stoichiometric sulphuric acid and iron (III) chloride both exhibit the excellent ability to dehydrate secondary alcohols to their respective alkenes with DMC as the reaction medium. In order to further investigate their capacity to dehydrate other secondary aliphatic alcohols (ring and linear chain) as well as the effect of the solvent, cyclohexanol and 2-decanol were selected as representative substrates for the reaction underwent in either DMC or conventional organic solvent n-heptane (Scheme 4.13 and Scheme 4.14).





Cyclohexanol was selected because it is one of the widely used alicyclic alcohols in the organic chemistry. 2-Decanol was chosen since it has a longer carbon chain than 2-butanol and 2-octanol, which enables the comprehensive investigation of linear aliphatic secondary alcohols in dehydration reaction in this chapter. n-Heptane was chosen as a comparable solvent as reactions could also occur at 90 °C while still solubilising the substrates.



Scheme 4.14 The dehydration of 2-decanol in DMC/n-heptane promoted by stoichiometric FeCl₃ or H_2SO_4 at 90 °C

Table 4.7 indicates the results for the dehydration of cyclohexanol in the presence of stoichiometric FeCl₃ or H₂SO₄. When using iron (III) chloride as a catalyst, in DMC, conversion of cyclohexanol is quantitative, although the major product is methoxycyclohexane, with little dehydration to cyclohexene found (entry 1, Table 4.7). The synthesis of methoxycyclohexane is shown in Scheme 4.15. In heptane, cyclohexene is the only product but with low conversion (35%) (entry 2, Table 4.7). It is evident that under such conditions, dehydration of cyclohexanol in either DMC or n-heptane is difficult. Significantly, the methylation of an aliphatic, cyclic alcohol at low temperature with no evidence of carboxymethylation product is observed. These reactions commonly require the utilisation of highly toxic methylating reagents such as iodomethane or dimethyl sulfide,^{297,298} or elevated reaction temperature (>170 °C) in the presence of DMC.²⁹⁹ As such, iron (III) chloride in DMC at 90 °C can be employed as a green system for the methylation of cyclohexanol to substitute these undesired reagents or reaction conditions. Base-catalysed

reactions under similar conditions with cyclohexanol as the reactant generally gave poor conversion unless in the presence of an ionic liquid, although selectivity was towards the carboxymethylation product.³⁰⁰ This highlights that Lewis acid has a very different performance in comparison with base catalysts for alicyclic alcohols in DMC chemistry.

 Table 4.7 Conversion and selectivity of the iron (III) chloride or sulphuric acid promoted

 reaction for cyclohexanol in DMC or n-heptane^a

Entry	Solvent	Stoichiometric FeCl ₃ ^b	Stoichiometric H ₂ SO ₄ ^b
	-	Conv./Sel. ^c /Sel. ^d	Conv./Sel. ^c /Sel. ^d
1	DMC	>99/12/88	9±3/99/0
2	n-heptane	35±4/99/0	6±2/99/0

^{*a*} Reaction conditions: cyclohexanol/solvent/FeCl₃ or H₂SO₄ = 6.00 mmol : 240.00 mmol : 6.00 mmol; T = 90 °C; reaction time 19 h. ^{*b*} Conversions and selectivity were calculated by ¹H NMR and GC. ^{*c*} Selectivity towards cyclohexene. ^{*d*} Selectivity towards methoxycyclohexane.

Stoichiometric H_2SO_4 exclusively gives the dehydrated alkenes in both solvents, but with a low conversion (entry 1 and 2, Table 4.7).



Scheme 4.15 The methylation of cyclohexanol with DMC and stoichiometric FeCl₃ at 90 °C

Although other experiments in this thesis have not used molecular sieves as the dehydrating agent, interestingly, when molecular sieves are not used during the reaction of cyclohexanol with stoichiometric iron (III) chloride in n-heptane at 90 °C, chlorocyclohexane is produced. In this case, after the reaction, quantitative conversion of cyclohexanol is obtained with selectivity 20% towards cyclohexene and 80% towards chlorocyclohexane. However, none of the chlorocyclohexane is synthesised when molecular sieves are added to the same system (entry 2, Table 4.7). Borukhova *et al.* reported they chlorinated cyclohexanol to yield chlorocyclohexane by hydrochloric acid.³⁰¹ As such, chlorocyclohexane may be generated from cyclohexanol and

hydrochloric acid released by the reaction of iron (III) chloride and water (Scheme 4.16).³⁰² Therefore, molecular sieves are necessary for the dehydration reactions in order to remove water and limit the synthesis to the chlorinated by-products.



Scheme 4.16 The formation process of chlorocyclohexane

In the case of 2-decanol either acid reagent in DMC results in the quantitative conversion with selectivity exclusively towards a mixture of different decene isomers (entry 1, Table 4.8). When n-heptane is used as the solvent, selectivity remains the same but with a lower conversion (entry 2, Table 4.8).

 Table 4.8 Conversion and selectivity of iron (III) chloride or sulphuric acid promoted

dehydration reaction for 2-de	ecanol in DM0	C or n-heptane ^c
-------------------------------	---------------	-----------------------------

Entry	Solvent	Stoichiometric FeCl ₃		Stoichiometric H ₂ SO ₄	
		Conv. ^{<i>b</i>} (%)	Sel. ^b (%)	Conv. ^{<i>b</i>} (%)	Sel. ^b (%)
1	DMC	>99	99	>99	99
2	n-Heptane	80±4	99	90±3	99

^a Reaction conditions: 2-decanol/solvent/reagent = 6.00 mmol : 240.00 mmol : 6.00 mmol; *T* = 90 °C; reaction time 19

h.^b Conversions and selectivity were calculated by ¹H NMR and GC; selectivity towards decene.

This research highlights several main advantages of acid-catalysed DMC chemistry including, expanding the range of substrates which can be reacted with DMC in the presence of acids. The acid catalysts used in this research have comparable or even lower market prices than the common base catalysts used in existing DMC chemistry.²⁹⁰ This is especially true in the case of sulphuric acid which is a widely available, inexpensive inorganic catalyst that provides a cost effective alternative to base-catalysed DMC processes.

Many strong bases traditionally used as catalysts for DMC chemistry, such as sodium methoxide and potassium *tert*-butoxide, are sensitive to water and hazardous to handle. They are also synthesised through energy intensive electrolysis procedure for the production of the corresponding alkali metals.³⁰³ In comparison, all acidic catalysts investigated in this research have low handling and storage hazards, which is one of the fundamental principles of green chemistry. PTSA and sulphuric acid have lower energy requirements for production and are not significantly affected by water.

4.2.2 Acid-catalysed DMC chemistry at 160 °C

4.2.2.1 Brønsted acid promoted DMC chemistry at 160 °C

With base catalysis, carboxymethylation generally occurs at 90 °C while methylation takes place around 160 °C.¹⁶³ As such, after investigating acid-catalysed DMC chemistry at 90 °C, it is important to discuss the same substrates and catalysts conducting reactions at an elevated temperature of 160 °C. Since H_2SO_4 is highly corrosive to the high-pressure reactor as well as the rubber o-rings used to seal the vessel, it was not selected as a catalyst in this study. PTSA was chosen as the only Brønsted acid for research of DMC reaction at high temperature.

Table 4.9 shows PTSA catalysed DMC chemistry at 160 °C. Results for primary alcohols under both catalytic and stoichiometric PTSA are identical to those at 90 °C, showing quantitative conversion and selectivity towards carboxymethylation products (entry 1 and 4, Table 4.9). However, for secondary alcohols in the presence of catalytic PTSA, selectivity remains quantitative, while conversion improves to around 80% (entry 2 and 5, Table 4.9) in comparison with the reaction conducted at 90 °C. This result indicates that higher temperature can promote the conversion of secondary alcohols towards carboxymethylation reaction. At 160 °C, stoichiometric PTSA also offers a quantitative conversion and selectivity for secondary alcohols. Concerning *tert*-butanol and phenols, no reaction occurs under these conditions.

Entry	ROH	Catalytic PTSA		Stoichiometric PTSA	
	-	Conv. ^{<i>b</i>} (%)	Sel. ^b (%)	Conv. ^b (%)	Sel. ^b (%)
1	1-Butanol	>99	>99	>99	>99
2	2-Butanol	76±4	>99	>99	>99
3	tert-Butanol	0	0	0	0
4	1-Octanol	>99	>99	>99	>99
5	2-Octanol	80±3	>99	>99	>99
6	3-Nitrophenol	0	0	0	0
7	Phenol	0	0	0	0
8	<i>m</i> -Cresol	0	0	0	0

Table 4.9 Conversion and selectivity of the PTSA promoted carboxymethylation reaction

between various alcohols and DMC at high temperature^a

^a Reaction conditions: ROH/DMC/PTSA = 6.00 mmol : 240.00 mmol : 0.30/6.00 mmol; T = 160 °C; reaction time 19 h.

^b Conversions and selectivity were calculated by ¹H NMR and GC; selectivity towards methyl carbonates.

4.2.2.2 Lewis acid promoted DMC chemistry at 160 °C

In order to be consistent with the previous experiments of DMC chemistry at 90 °C, aluminium chloride and iron (III) chloride were both selected as the Lewis acids in this section.

Based on Table 4.10, in comparison with the same experiments conducted at 90 °C, for primary alcohols, the conversion and selectivity remain quantitative at high temperature under any amount of aluminium chloride (entry 1 and 4, Table 4.10). With respect to the short chain aliphatic alcohols, 2-butanol exhibits the high conversion and selectivity which is consistent with low-temperature experiments (entry 2, Table 4.10). However, 2-octanol obtains >99% of conversion and selectivity in both catalytic or stoichiometric AlCl₃ (entry 5, Table 4.10), while the selectivity of 2-octanol is only 51% for the carboxymethylation product and 49% for the dehydration products at 90 °C (entry 5, Table 4.3). This result demonstrates that high

temperature can increase the selectivity towards carboxymethylation products. No reaction was observed for *tert*-Butanol at elevated temperatures (entry 3, Table 4.10).

Entry	ROH	Catalytic AICl ₃		Stoichiometric AlCl ₃	
	-	Conv. ^{<i>b</i>} (%)	Sel. ^b (%)	Conv. ^{<i>b</i>} (%)	Sel. ^b (%)
1	1-Butanol	>99	>99	>99	>99
2	2-Butanol	>99	>99	>99	>99
3	tert-Butanol	0	0	0	0
4	1-Octanol	>99	>99	>99	>99
5	2-Octanol	>99	>99	>99	>99
6	3-Nitrophenol	0	0	85±1	25 ^c
7	Phenol	0	0	88±1	27 ^d
8	<i>m</i> -Cresol	0	0	92±2	52 ^e

 Table 4.10 Conversion and selectivity of the aluminium chloride promoted carboxymethylation

 reaction between various alcohols and DMC at high temperature^a

^{*a*} Reaction conditions: ROH/DMC/AlCl₃ = 6.00 mmol : 240.00 mmol : 0.30/6.00 mmol; *T* = 160 °C; reaction time 19 h. ^{*b*} Conversions and selectivity were calculated by ¹H NMR and GC; selectivity towards methyl carbonates. ^{*c*} Selectivity (75%) towards methylation product. ^{*d*} Selectivity (73%) towards methylation product. ^{*e*} Selectivity (48%) towards methylation product.

For phenol and its derivatives, under catalytic aluminium chloride (0.05 equivalent), no reaction was observed at 160 °C (entry 6-8, Table 4.10). When stoichiometric $AlCl_3$ is applied, carboxymethylation and methylation reactions both occur for all of the phenols investigated in this study. Results are extensively the same to those observed 90 °C (entry 6-8, Table 4.10). This result indicates that increasing temperature has little effect on the methylation of phenols.

At high temperature and in the presence of catalytic or stoichiometric FeCl₃, for primary alcohol, the results are the same as the experimental data obtained at 90 °C with >99% conversion and selectivity (entry 1 and 4, Table 4.11). Regarding secondary alcohols, when stoichiometric iron (III) chloride is applied, the results are consistent with the experiments at 90 °C with quantitative conversion and selectivity towards dehydration products. Nevertheless, at elevated temperature

under catalytic iron (III) chloride, conversion of secondary alcohols is quantitative, while remains selectivity >99% towards carboxymethylation products (entry 2 and 5, Table 4.11).

Entry	ROH	Catalytic FeCl ₃		Stoichiometric FeCl ₃	
	-	Conv. ^{<i>b</i>} (%)	Sel. ^b (%)	Conv. ^{<i>b</i>} (%)	Sel. ^b (%)
1	1-Butanol	>99	>99	>99	>99
2	2-Butanol	>99	>99	>99	0 ^{<i>c</i>}
3	tert-Butanol	0	0	0	0
4	1-Octanol	>99	>99	>99	>99
5	2-Octanol	>99	>99	>99	0 ^c
6	3-Nitrophenol	12±1	>99	13±1	>99
7	Phenol	0	0	0	0
8	<i>m</i> -Cresol	0	0	0	0

 Table 4.11 Conversion and selectivity of the iron (III) chloride promoted carboxymethylation

 reaction between various alcohols and DMC at high temperature^a

^{*a*} Reaction conditions: ROH/DMC/FeCl₃ = 6.00 mmol : 240.00 mmol: 0.30/6.00 mmol; *T* = 160 °C; reaction time 19 h. ^{*b*} Conversions and selectivity were calculated by ¹H NMR and GC; selectivity towards methyl carbonates. ^{*c*} Selectivity >99% towards dehydration products.

Similar to the study of low temperature, 3-nitrophenol obtains high selectivity towards carboxymethylation products with very low conversion at 160 °C, no matter which equivalent of FeCl₃ was used (entry 6, Table 4.11). *tert*-Butanol, phenol and *m*-cresol did not react with DMC at 160 °C in the presence of catalytic or stoichiometric iron (III) chloride (entry 3, 7 and 8, Table 4.11).

Significantly, these aliphatic alcohols investigated in this research did not conduct methylation reaction with DMC in the presence of acid catalysts. Tundo *et al.* used potassium carbonate, a typical base catalyst employed in DMC chemistry, to promoted the reaction between DMC and 1-octanol at 200 °C, but methyl octyl carbonate was the exclusive product rather than methyl octyl ether (Scheme 4.17).¹⁹¹ Only when basic alumina or hydrotalcite KW 2000 were utilised, the methyl octyl ether became the main product.¹⁹¹ Therefore, these acid catalysts investigated

in this research are comparable to the potassium carbonate for the methylation reaction of aliphatic alcohols. According to the HSAB theory, it is suggested that the aliphatic alcohol is a hard species, which only attacks the carbonyl carbon of DMC to yield the carboxymethylation product regardless of the temperature.¹⁹⁰ The acid-catalysed DMC chemistry may also follow this rule based on these experimental results observed.



Scheme 4.17 The reaction between DMC and 1-octanol promoted by potassium carbonate at $200 \ ^{\circ}C$

Strangely, in Chapter 2 PTSA has a good performance for the methylation reaction between acetoin and DMC at 160 °C. It is speculated that the nature of the nucleophile (soft vs. hard) and the effect of substituent groups (electron-withdrawing or donating) have a dramatic effect on whether the reaction occurs.

4.2.3 Control experiments for all the substrates

For the purpose of the investigation, with regard to every substrate and solvent, control reactions in the absence of any catalyst were also attempted. In each case, negligible conversion of any alcohol or phenol was observed. Therefore, the catalysts play a vital role to reduce the reaction activation energy for the transition state between alcohols/phenols and DMC.
4.3 Conclusion

In summary, this research explored using acids as catalyst or reagents in the presence of alcohols/phenols and DMC as a new field of dialkyl carbonate green chemistry. In comparison with the base, acid catalysts have many advantages such as lower market price, lower hazard, lower production energy needed. Moreover, introducing acid may increase the substrates available and enable larger range of catalysts in DMC chemistry.

At 90 °C, Brønsted and Lewis acids both have promoted carboxymethylation of alcohols with quantitative or near quantitative conversion and selectivity. Methylation or carboxymethylation of phenols is achieved with improved conversion and tunable selectivity in comparison to base-catalysed reactions. Of note is the high activity of aluminium chloride even at low loadings suggesting that greener reusable, heterogeneous Al catalysts may be practical and would be the subject of further work. Stoichiometric iron (III) chloride or sulphuric acid results in dehydration of secondary alcohols, with better results in DMC than in n-heptane. Overall, the system of FeCl₃ and DMC has the potential for application to substrates that have previously been difficult to dehydrate. Additionally, FeCl₃ and DMC have been found to be a good green methylation system for cyclohexanol at 90 °C. Meanwhile, molecular sieves are indispensable to the reaction and remove water from the system. This inhibits the chlorination of the product.

At 160 °C, the conversion and selectivity (towards carboxymethylation product) of secondary aliphatic alcohol improved effectively, but none of any methylation product of alcohols was observed. *tert*-Butanol did not conduct any reaction in the presence of acid catalysts. The control experiment evidences that catalysts play a vital role on the DMC mediated synthesis.

Chapter 5 Experimental

5.1 Chemicals

Acetoin $\geq 96\%$, dimethyl carbonate 99%, *p*-toluenesulfonic acid monohydrate 98.5%, 4methoxyacetophenone 99%, anhydrous anisole 99.7%, acetic anhydride $\geq 99\%$, anhydrous acetonitrile 99.8%, anhydrous cyclohexane 99.5%, anhydrous diethyl ether $\geq 99\%$, anhydrous propylene carbonate 99.7%, iron (III) chloride 97%, anhydrous ethyl acetate 99.8%, anhydrous magnesium sulphate 99.5%, methanol 99.9%, dichloromethane 99.8%, acetone 99.9%, chloroform-d (CDCl₃, 99.8% D), Nile red $\geq 98\%$, 4-nitroaniline $\geq 99\%$, chloroform 99.9%, DL-1,2isopropylideneglycerol (solketal) 98%, anhydrous ytterbium(III) chloride (99.9%), 3-buten-2-one 99%, tetradecane analytical standard, chlorocyclohexane 99%, 2,3-dimethyl-1,3-butadiene 98%, aluminium oxide (activated, acidic, Brockmann I), anhydrous sodium acetate >99%, aluminium oxide (activated, basic, Brockmann I), hydrotalcite (synthetic), 1-butanol 99.8%, 2-butanol 99%, *tert*-butanol 99%, 1-octanol 99%, 2-decanol 98%, phenol 99%, 3-nitrophenol 99%, *m*-cresol 99%, cyclohexanol 99%, aluminium chloride 99%, 3-nitroanisole 99%, cyclohexene 99.0%, silver (I) oxide 99%, iodomethane 99.5%, toluene 99.9% and dimethyl sulfoxide 99.9% were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich.

(±)-2-Octanol 97% was purchased from Acros Organics. 4 Å molecular sieves, 3-methylanisole 99% and methyl phenyl carbonate 97% were purchased from Alfa Aesar. Anhydrous potassium carbonate, anhydrous sodium carbonate (laboratory reagent grade), sodium hydrogen carbonate (analytical reagent grade), sodium hydroxide-pellets (analytical reagent grade), potassium hydroxide (analytical reagent grade), sulphuric acid > 95% and n-heptane (HPLC grade) were purchased from Fisher Scientific. *N*,*N*-diethyl-4-nitroaniline was purchased from VWR. Ames MPF 98/100 kits, 2-nitrofluorene and 4-nitroquinoline-*N*-oxide were purchased from Xenometrix. TA98 and TA100 were stored at -70 °C. QUANTOFIX® Peroxide 100 was purchased from Macherey-Nagel.

149

5.2 General analytical and characterisation techniques

5.2.1 GC analysis

Gas chromatography (GC) is a chromatographic technique that is used to separate and analyse the volatile compounds in organic chemistry.³⁰⁴ It is typically employed to determine the purity of a compound or the relative content of each component in a mixture. GC is also utilised to characterise unknown compounds. The mobile phase used in GC is the carrier gas, which is normally inert gas such as helium, or low reactive gas such as nitrogen. The stationary phase consists of a microscopic layer of liquid or polymer on a surface of an inert solid support, and it is installed in a tubing (chromatographic column) made from glass or metal. During the GC analysis in the chromatographic column, different samples with various physical and chemical properties have different interactions with the stationary phase, varying their pass rates in the carrier gas. When compounds exit from the end of the column, they are detected and then converted into an electrical signal which is transferred to the computer system. Retention time is defined as the interval between the injection of the sample into the GC and the recording of the peak maximum of a compound.³⁰⁴

In this research, an Agilent 6890N gas chromatograph with a flame ionisation detector (GC-FID) was used in order to analyse the reaction results. The GC-FID possessed a ZB5HT capillary column ($30 \text{ m} \times 250 \text{ }\mu\text{m} \times 0.25 \text{ }\mu\text{m}$ nominal, max temperature 400 °C) at 20.2 psi constant pressure. The carrier gas used in the GC-FID was helium with flow rate at 2.0 cm³· min⁻¹ in constant flow mode. The split ratio used was 5:1.

The GC method employed in Chapter 2 was as follows: the initial oven temperature was held at 30 °C for 3 minutes, before increasing by 4 °C per minute to 110 °C, after which the rate rose rapidly to 30 °C per minute up to 300 °C and was maintained at this temperature for a further 1 minute.

The GC method for Chapter 3 and Chapter 4 was as follows: the initial oven temperature was held at 50 °C for 4 minutes. After which the temperature was increased at a rate of 10 °C per minute to 300 °C and maintained at 300 °C for 10 minutes.

The temperature of the injector was set at 300 °C, and the temperature of the flame ionisation detector was held at 340 °C. Each of these GC samples consisted of 30 mg product mixture and 1.5 cm³ dichloromethane (DCM) or acetone or toluene as GC solvent.

With respect to analysing the conversion, selectivity and yield of the corresponding starting materials and products, the GC calibration curves for different substrates and products were produced based on the equation below, where R_f is the response factor, and IS stands for the GC internal standard:

Mass of sample/Mass of IS= $R_f \times$ (Peak area of sample/Peak area of IS)

Some examples of the calibration graph and the corresponding equation are illustrated in Fig. 5.1-5.4 based on tetradecane as IS. GC calibration curves were used to calculate conversion, selectivity and yield during this research.



Fig. 5.1 The GC calibration curve of acetoin



Fig. 5.2 The GC calibration curve of 3-methoxybutan-2-one (MO)



Fig. 5.3 The GC calibration curve of 1-octanol



Fig. 5.4 The GC calibration curve of methyl octyl carbonate

5.2.2 GC-MS analysis

Gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS) is an analytical technique that combines GC and mass spectrometry (MS) to identify different compounds in a sample. The GC instrument operates as described above. The molecules that flow out of the GC column are captured and analysed by MS. In the MS, all molecules that enter are ionised as they pass through an electron beam. It is commonly known that the ionisation energy of most organic compounds is 7-13 eV. Consequently, due to the high energy of the electron beam in the MS, most molecular ions continue to be rapidly broken down into fragment ions. It is considered that *n* electrons (nonbonding electrons) in organic compounds are more easily lost in the ion source of the MS than π electrons and σ electrons (while π electrons are easier to lose than σ electrons).

During this research, liquid sample analysis was conducted on a Perkin Elmer Clarus 500 GC along with a Clarus 560 S quadrapole mass spectrometer. The instrument was installed with a DB5HT capillary column (30 m × 250 μ m × 0.25 μ m nominal, max temperature 430 °C). The carrier gas used in the GC-MS was helium with flow rate at 1.0 cm³·min⁻¹, and the split ratio was 10:1. The injector temperature was held at 330 °C.

For Chapter 2, during the GC analysis, the initial temperature of the oven remained at 30 °C for 3 minutes. Afterwards, the temperature was then ramped with a rate of 4 °C per minute to 110 °C, before the rate rapidly increased to 30 °C per minute up to 300 °C where it was maintained for a further 1 minute.

For Chapter 3 and 4, during the GC analysis, the initial temperature of the oven was maintained at 50 °C for 4 minutes. Afterwards, the temperature was then ramped at a rate of 10 °C per minute to 300 °C and maintained for 10 minutes.

The Clarus 500 quadrupole mass spectrum was conducted in electron ionisation (EI) mode at 70 eV with the source temperature and the quadrupole both at 300 °C. The mass-to-charge ratio (m/z) mass scan was in the range of 40 to 640 m/z. The data was collected by the PerkinElmer enhanced TurboMass (Ver. 5.4.2) chemical software. Some of the compounds were identified by direct comparison of the standard mass spectrum provided in the NIST library (Ver. 2.0). Every GC-MS sample consisted of 30 mg product mixture and 1.5 cm³ DCM or acetone or toluene as GC-MS solvent.

For gas sample analysis, the MS was a Waters GCT Premier time of flight (TOF) instrument connected to an Agilent 7890 GC system. The column was an Agilent HP-AL/S 30 m, 0.25 mm diameter, 5 um film thickness column. The GC method used was as follows: the start temperature remained at 100 °C for 1 minute. Next, the temperature was ramped at a rate of 5 °C per minute to 135 °C and held for 2 minutes. The data was collected by the Masslynx 4.1 (Ver. 4.1) software. Each of the GC-MS samples consisted of 0.5 cm³ gas sample from the experiment.

5.2.3 ¹H NMR and ¹³C NMR analysis

The proton nuclear magnetic resonance (¹H NMR) and carbon-13 nuclear magnetic resonance (¹³C NMR) spectrum results of samples in this work were recorded by a JEOL JNM-ECS 400 MHz spectrometer. During preparation, 100 mg sample from the experiment was dissolved in 1 cm³ chloroform-d. 16 scans were utilised for ¹H NMR analysis, and 256 scans were utilised for ¹³C NMR analysis. The NMR data was processed and analysed by ACD/NMR Processor Academic Edition software (Ver. 12.01).

5.2.4 FT-IR analysis

A Bruker Vertex 70 Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FT-IR) which was fitted with a Specac Golden Gate ATR possessing a diamond top plate analysis window was used for the infrared spectroscopy (IR) analysis in this research. This FT-IR equipment was operated by Opus software (Ver. 5.5). The spectrum was scanned at a range of 4000-600 cm⁻¹. The scan numbers of background and sample were both 64, and the resolution was 2 cm⁻¹.

5.2.5 TGA analysis

Thermogravimetric analysis (TGA) was conducted using a Netsch 409 STA thermal analyser. Samples were mounted in a 3.5 cm³ ceramic crucible and heated under a flow of nitrogen (50 cm³·min⁻¹). Before analysis, the oven chamber was evacuated and backfilled twice with nitrogen. Samples were heated from room temperature at 5 °C·min⁻¹ to 300 °C.

5.2.6 DSC analysis

The melting point (m.p.) of samples was determined by differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) (TA Instruments, Q2000). During the testing, 8.1 mg sample was hermetically-sealed in Tzero aluminium DSC pan. Thermal runs were conducted under a constant flow of dry nitrogen (50 cm³·min⁻¹). The dynamic run proceeded at a rate of 5 °C per minute from 25 °C to -90 °C.

5.2.7 UV-vis. spectra analysis

Ultraviolet-visible (UV-vis.) spectra (JENWAY, 6705 UV/Vis. Spectrophotometer) was used to analyse the Kamlet-Taft (KT) parameters of the bio-based solvents. Different dyes, Nile red (NR), 4-nitroaniline (NA) and *N*,*N*-diethyl-4-nitroaniline (NN), were dissolved in the bio-based solvent in quartz cuvettes at 25 °C to obtain their absorbance maxima wavelengths by UV-vis. spectra with the wavelength range recorded in the range of 400 to 1000 nm.

5.2.8 Ames test

The experiment procedure was based on manufacturer's guidelines as following:³⁰⁵ TA98 and TA100 were tested at 6 different concentrations (0.16 mg·cm⁻³, 0.31 mg·cm⁻³, 0.63 mg·cm⁻³, 1.25 mg·cm⁻³, 2.5 mg·cm⁻³, 5 mg·cm⁻³) of the bio-based solvent, as well as a positive (concentration of 2 μ g·cm⁻³ for 2-nitrofluorene and 0.1 μ g·cm⁻³ for 4-nitroquinoline-*N*-oxide) and a negative (dimethyl sulfoxide solvent) control. They grew in a medium including sufficient histidine for 90 minutes to result in approximately twice the cell division. After the exposure, these cultures were diluted in pH indicator medium without histidine and then aliquoted into 48 wells of a 384-well plate. After 48 hours at 37 °C, the wells, including bacteria occurred reversion to His⁺, changed the colour from purple to yellow since pH of the medium was decreased by the metabolism of the His⁺ strains. The number of the wells that changed colour were counted manually for each dose. The tests were carried out in triplicate to obtain the average value.

5.3 Chapter 2. 3-Methoxybutan-2-one as a new bio-based solvent

5.3.1 Catalysts screening experiment

5 mmol Acetoin was added to each vessel of a six-point stainless steel pressure reactor followed by 60 mmol dimethyl carbonate (DMC). The relevant catalyst (0.25 mmol) was then added to the pressure reactor which was then tightened and heated to 160 °C with agitation. After 24 h, the reaction was stopped, cooled to room temperature in an ice-bath and then filtered. GC and GC-MS analysis of each reaction mixture was then carried out.

5.3.2 Analysis of the structures of product and by-products after catalysts screening

The structures of products and by-products synthesised from the catalysts screening experiments were analysed. After comparing to the standard samples of methanol, DMC and acetoin, the signals of these compounds in GC were initially identified. 3-Methoxybutan-2-one (MO) (Fig. 5.5) and methyl 3-oxobutan-2-yl carbonate (MC) (Fig. 5.6) are proved to be

synthesised based on the analysis of GC-MS. Scheme 5.1 and Scheme 5.2 respectively show the main cleavage mechanisms, by which these mass fragmentations are formed, of MO and MC in the MS.



Fig. 5.5 The MS (EI) of MO



Scheme 5.1 The main cleavage mechanism of MO in the MS (EI)







Scheme 5.2 The main cleavage mechanism of MC in the MS (EI)



Fig. 5.6 The MS (EI) of MC



Scheme 5.3 The carboxymethylation reaction between acetoin and DMC

Scheme 5.3 gives the equation of synthesis of MC from acetoin and DMC. To investigate the complex by-products for the sodium bicarbonate catalysed reaction of acetoin and DMC (indicated by GC peaks at an approximate retention time of 23 min), following synthesis and filtration, the low boiling point (b.p.) materials were removed by rotary evaporator (Heidolph, VV2000) under 7 mbar at 85 °C. After the distillation, IR of the isolated product mixture was tested, and the results are illustrated in Fig. 5.7 and Table 5.1. The residue includes the compound represented by the main peaks of GC at a retention time of 23 min; therefore, this IR spectrum can provide some critical structural information for the unknown compound.



Fig. 5.7 IR of the distillation residue obtained from the synthesis of acetoin and DMC catalysed

by sodium bicarbonate

Centre (cm ⁻¹) of IR peaks	Assignment
3465	Hydroxyl group single bridge intermolecular O-H bonds stretching band
2937	Alkyl C-H stretching band
1735	Normal saturated ester C=O stretching band
1438	Methyl group C-H asymmetrical deformation band
1380	Methyl group C-H symmetrical deformation band
1267	Secondary alcohol C-O stretching band
1106	Alkyl secondary alcohol O-H bending band
1057	Hydroxyl group C-O stretching band

Table 5.1 The IR analysis of the high b.p. by-products



Fig. 5.8 ¹H NMR of mixture of high b.p. by-products

Fig. 5.8 exhibits the ¹H NMR result of the by-products, which demonstrates that the unknown compounds have intricate structures including methyl groups from various ester, ketone and alkyl chain. This result indicates that complex additional side reactions have occurred. Therefore, IR and ¹H NMR both indicated that the high b.p. by-products consist of complicated compounds, and more research is needed in the future to understand the structures of these by-products

and their formation mechanism.

5.3.3 Synthesis of MO from methyl iodide and acetoin catalysed by silver (I) oxide

To confirm the structure before purification process, MO was synthesised from methyl iodide and acetoin in the presence of silver (I) oxide (Scheme 5.4).



Scheme 5.4 The synthesis of MO from acetoin and methyl iodide catalysed by silver (I) oxide



Fig. 5.9 The ¹H NMR of the product mixture obtained from methyl iodide synthesis

Experimental process: Into a 25 cm³ round-bottomed flask, 6 mmol acetoin, 9 mmol silver (I) oxide, 100 mmol DCM and 19 mmol methyl iodide were added, before sealing and stirring at room temperature in the dark. After 16 h, the reaction was stopped, and the reaction mixture was filtered. Finally, purification by short-path distillation equipment (BÜCHI Glass Oven B-585

Kugelrohr) was carried out, and the ¹H NMR and GC of the product mixture were both tested.

MO was proved to be synthesised successfully *via* the reaction of methyl iodide and acetoin by ¹H NMR (Fig. 5.9): ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 1.28 (d, *J* = 6.96 Hz, 3H, CHMe), 2.16 (s, 3H, CMe), 3.35 (s, 3H, OMe), 3.70 (q, *J* = 6.96 Hz, 1H, CHOMe) ppm.

Finally, the desired product synthesised from DMC and acetoin was confirmed to be MO *via* comparison to the main product produced from methyl iodide synthesis by GC.

5.3.4 The purification of MO by rectification

Isolated MO was synthesised *via* a one-step solvent-free process: To a high-pressure reactor 1.09 mol of acetoin was added followed by 1.09 mol DMC. To this 54.5 mmol *p*-toluenesulfonic acid (PTSA) was added before tightening and heating to 160 °C with agitation. After 2 h, the reaction was stopped and cooled to room temperature in an ice-bath and the reaction mixture was then filtered. Finally, the product mixture was rectified by a Vigreux distillation column, and 33.40 g



Fig. 5.10 The ¹H NMR of MO

MO (purity of 99% by GC, isolated yield of 30%) was obtained. GC, GC-MS and ¹H NMR (400 MHz) of MO were all analysed.

MO: ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 1.27 (d, J = 6.96 Hz, 3H), 2.14 (s, 3H), 3.33 (s, 3H), 3.68 (q, J = 6.60 Hz, 1H) ppm. GC-MS (relative intensity, 70 eV) m/z: 102 (M⁺), 59 (100), 43.

By using the optimised reaction conditions, MO was purified by rectification again. However, the isolated yield of MO was only 6% with a purity of 98%. As such, an improvement in the isolated yield of MO will be necessary in the future, and industrially, much better distillation methodologies for MO are available.

5.3.5 The effect of catalytic loading on the synthesis of MO

0.5 mol Acetoin and 0.05 mol tetradecane were added to a high-pressure reactor followed by 0.5 mol DMC. To this, the limited loading of PTSA was added, prior to tightening and heating to 160 °C with agitation. After 2 h, the reaction was stopped and cooled to room temperature in an ice-bath. GC and ¹H NMR analysis of each of the reaction mixtures was carried out to identify the yield of MO.

5.3.6 The effect of mole ratio of DMC to acetoin on the synthesis of MO

To a high-pressure reactor was added 0.5 mol acetoin and 0.05 mol tetradecane followed by relevant DMC. To this, 0.025 mol PTSA was then added, before tightening and heating to 160 °C with agitation. After 2 h, the reaction was stopped and cooled to room temperature in an icebath. GC and ¹H NMR analysis of each of the reaction mixtures was carried out to identify the yield of MO.

5.3.7 The effect of reaction time on the synthesis of MO

To a high-pressure reactor was added 0.5 mmol acetoin and 0.05 mol tetradecane followed by 4 mol DMC. To this was then added 0.025 mmol PTSA before tightening and heating to 160 °C with

agitation. Samples at relevant reaction time were obtained, and their GC and ¹H NMR were tested to identify the yield of MO.

5.4 Chapter 3. Methyl (2,2-dimethyl-1,3-dioxolan-4-yl) methyl carbonate as a new bio-based solvent

5.4.1 Synthesis and characterisation of MMC

To a 100 cm³ round bottom flask placed on a multi-point reflux reactor (Radleys, RR98073), 6 mmol of solketal was added followed by 240 mmol DMC. To this 7.2 mmol potassium carbonate was added before heating to DMC reflux temperature with agitation. After 24 h, the reaction was stopped, cooled to room temperature and then filtered. Methyl (2,2-dimethyl-1,3-dioxolan-4-yl) methyl carbonate (MMC) (purity of 99% by GC) was then isolated by distillation under reduced pressure (Heidolph, VV2000). The structure was analysed by GC, GC-MS, ¹H NMR and ¹³C NMR.



Fig. 5.11 The MS (EI) of MMC



Scheme 5.5 The main cleavage mechanism of MMC in the MS (EI)



Fig. 5.12 The ¹H NMR of the isolated MMC



Fig. 5.13 The ¹³C NMR of the isolated MMC

MMC: ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 4.37-4.31 (m, 1H), 4.18-4.16 (m, 2H), 4.10-4.06 (m, 1H), 3.80-3.76 (m, 4H), 1.43 (s, 3H), 1.36 (s, 3H) ppm. ¹³C NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 155.5, 109.8, 73.2, 67.8, 66.1, 54.9, 26.6, 25.2 pp. GC-MS (relative intensity, 70 eV) m/z: 175 (100), 133, 115, 101, 77, 71, 59, 57, 43. Protons and carbons of MMC are assigned on the ¹H NMR and ¹³C NMR signals, respectively (Fig. 5.12 and Fig. 5.13). Scheme 5.5 shows the main cleavage mechanism of MMC in the MS.

5.4.2 The effect of the reaction time on the synthesis of MMC

To a 100 cm³ round bottom flask placed on a multi-point reflux reactor (Radleys, RR98073) was added 6 mmol solketal followed by 240 mmol DMC. To this was then added 7.2 mmol potassium carbonate before heating to DMC reflux temperature with agitation. GC and GC-MS were used to monitor the yield of MMC at relevant reaction time.

5.4.3 The effect of the catalytic loading on the synthesis of MMC

To a 100 cm³ round bottom flask placed on a multi-point reflux reactor (Radleys, RR98073) was placed 6 mmol solketal followed by 240 mmol DMC. To this was then added corresponding potassium carbonate prior to heating to DMC reflux temperature with agitation. After 20 h, the reaction was stopped, cooled to room temperature and the reaction mixture was filtered. GC and GC-MS of the reaction mixture were tested.

5.4.4 The effect of the mole ratio of DMC to solketal on the synthesis of MMC

To a 100 cm³ round bottom flask placed on a multi-point reflux reactor (Radleys, RR98073) was placed 6 mmol solketal followed by relevant DMC. To this was then added 0.006 mmol potassium carbonate before heating to DMC reflux temperature with agitation. After 20 h, the reaction was stopped, cooled to room temperature and the reaction mixture was filtered. GC and GC-MS of the reaction mixture were tested.

5.4.5 The synthesis and purification of MMC based on optimised reaction conditions

To a 200 cm³ round bottom flask placed on a multi-point reflux reactor (Radleys, RR98073) was added 40 mmol solketal followed by 800 mmol DMC. To this was then added 0.04 mmol potassium carbonate before heating to DMC reflux temperature with agitation. After 20 h, the reaction was stopped, cooled to room temperature and filtered. Finally, 6.94 g colourless MMC (purity of 99% by GC, 91% isolated yield) was then isolated by distillation under reduced pressure (Heidolph, VV2000).

5.4.6 The analysis of the by-product

Fig. 5.14 illustrates the MS (EI) of the by-product synthesised in the experiment of Section 3.2.3.3.

This MS complies with the literature of diMMC.³⁰⁶



Fig. 5.14 The MS (EI) of diMMC

The fragment ions of diMMC can also be identified in Fig. 5.14 such as $C_5H_9O_2^+$ (m/z 101), $C_6H_{11}O_2^+$ (m/z 115) and [M-CH₃]⁺ (m/z 275).

5.5 The solvent performances of MO/MMC in reactions

5.5.1 4-Methoxyacetophenone synthesised from the Friedel-Crafts reaction



To a 3 cm³ sample vial was placed 0.05 mmol anisole, 0.05 mmol iron (III) chloride, 0.05 mmol acetic anhydride, and 0.5 ml of the chosen solvent. The sample bottle was sealed for 2 hours and stirred by a roller (Stuart, roller mixer SRT6) at room temperature. Each experiment was carried out in duplicate. After 2 hours, an aliquot of the reaction was removed from the sample vial and analysed by GC and GC-MS.

4-Methoxyacetophenone (4-MAP): GC-MS (relative intensity, 70 eV) m/z: 150 (M⁺), 135, 107, 92, 77, 64, 63, 62, 51, 50, 43 (100), 42. The product was also proved to be 4-MAP by comparing to commercial standard sample by GC.

5.5.2 1-(3,4-Dimethylcyclohex-3-enyl) ethanone synthesised from the Diels-Alder reaction



To a 3 cm³ sample bottle was placed 0.036 mmol anhydrous ytterbium(III) chloride, 0.5 ml limited solvent, 0.358 mmol 3-buten-2-one and 0.358 mmol diene. The argon gas protected sample bottle remained sealed for 16 hours and was stirred by a roller throughout (Stuart, roller mixer SRT6) at room temperature. Each experiment was repeated at least twice. After 16 hours, the sample was removed and analysed by GC and GC-MS. Following filtration of the reaction mixture, 1-(3,4-dimethylcyclohex-3-enyl) ethanone (DE) was isolated by distillation, and its GC, GC-MS, ¹H NMR and ¹³C NMR were all analysed.

DE: ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 2.59-2.48 (m, 1H), 2.14 (s, 3H), 2.12-1.85 (m, 5H), 1.60 (s, 3H), 1.58 (s, 3H), 1.55-1.43 (m, 1H) ppm. ¹³C NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 18.8, 19.0, 25.3, 27.9, 31.2, 33.0, 48.2, 123.9, 125.3, 211.8 ppm. GC-MS (relative intensity, 70 eV) m/z: 152 (M⁺), 137, 119, 109 (100), 107, 95, 93, 91, 81, 79, 77, 67, 55, 43.

5.6 Chapter 4. The new developments in acidic DMC chemistry

5.6.1 General experimental procedure for the reaction of an alcohol or phenol with DMC at 90 °C

To a 100 cm³ round bottom flask placed on a multi-point reflux reactor (Radleys, RR98073) was added 6.00 mmol limiting alcohol or phenol followed by 240.00 mmol DMC. To this the relevant acid was then added at limited loading before heating to reflux with agitation. After the required time (19 or 60 h), the reaction was stopped, cooled to room temperature and filtered. GC, GC-MS and ¹H NMR samples of the reactants in DMC were taken prior to removal of the solvent under reduced pressure (Heidolph, VV2000) to yield the crude product.

5.6.2 General experimental procedure for the reaction of alcohol or phenol with DMC at 160 °C

To a high-pressure reactor was placed 6.00 mmol limiting alcohol or phenol followed by 240.00 mmol DMC. To this was then added the relevant acid at related loading before heating to 160 °C. After 19 h, the reaction was stopped, cooled to room temperature in an ice-bath and filtered. GC, GC-MS and ¹H NMR samples of the reactants in DMC were taken before removal of the solvent under reduced pressure (Heidolph, VV2000) to yield the crude product.

5.6.3 Characterisation of the compounds obtained in Chapter 4

5.6.3.1 Synthesis of butyl methyl carbonate

Butyl methyl carbonate

To a 100 cm³ round bottom flask placed on a multi-point reflux reactor (Radleys, RR98073) was added 6.00 mmol 1-butanol followed by 240.00 mmol DMC. To this was then added 0.3 mmol PTSA before heating to reflux with agitation. After 19 h, the reaction was stopped and then cooled to room temperature. DMC and methanol were then removed by reduced pressure (Heidolph, VV2000) to yield the crude product. This crude product was then washed with distilled water (3 x 10 cm³), extracted with ethyl acetate (3 x 10 cm³), and the organic phases combined and dried with magnesium sulphate. Removal of the solvent after filtering yielded the product, which was then analysed by GC-MS and ¹H NMR.

Butyl methyl carbonate: ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): *δ* = 0.90 (t, *J* = 7.32 Hz, 3H, CH₃), 1.36 (m, *J* = 7.36 Hz, 2H, CH₂), 1.61 (m, *J* = 7.32 Hz, 2H, CH₂), 3.74 (s, 3H, CH₃), 4.10 (t, *J* = 6.60 Hz, 2H, CH₂) ppm. GC-MS (relative intensity, 70 eV) m/z: 103, 77, 73, 59, 56(100), 45, 41.

sec-Butyl methyl carbonate

To a 100 cm³ round bottom flask placed on a multi-point reflux reactor (Radleys, RR98073) was placed 6.00 mmol 2-butanol followed by 240.00 mmol DMC. To this was then added 0.3 mmol aluminium chloride before heating to reflux with stirring. After 19 h, the reaction was stopped, cooled to room temperature and then filtered. DMC and methanol were then distilled off *via* reduced pressure (Heidolph, VV2000) to attain the desired product, which was then analysed by GC-MS and ¹H NMR.

sec-Butyl methyl carbonate: ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 0.92 (t, *J* = 7.32 Hz, 3H, CH₃), 1.26 (d, *J* = 6.44 Hz, 3H, CH₃), 1.61 (m, 2H, CH₂), 3.76 (s, 3H, CH₃), 4.69 (m, *J* = 6.40 Hz, 1H, CH) ppm. GC-MS (relative intensity, 70 eV) m/z: 117, 103, 77, 73, 59(100), 57, 55, 45, 41.

5.6.3.3 Synthesis of methyl octyl carbonate

Methyl octyl carbonate

To a 100 cm³ round bottom flask placed on a multi-point reflux reactor (Radleys, RR98073) was added 6.00 mmol 1-octanol followed by 240.00 mmol DMC. To this was then placed 0.3 mmol aluminium chloride before heating to reflux with agitation. After 19 h, the reaction was stopped, cooled to room temperature and filtered. DMC and methanol were then eliminated by reduced pressure (Heidolph, VV2000) to obtain the desirable product, which was then analysed by GC-MS and ¹H NMR.

Methyl octyl carbonate: ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ = 0.84 (t, J = 6.96 Hz, 3H, CH₃), 1.17-1.40 (m, 10H, CH₂), 1.63 (m, J = 6.56 Hz, 2H, CH₂), 3.74 (s, 3H, CH₃), 4.09 (t, J = 6.60 Hz, 2H, CH₂) ppm. GC-MS (relative intensity, 70 eV) m/z: 117, 112, 103, 97, 84, 77(100), 70, 59, 57, 55, 45, 43, 41.

5.6.3.4 Synthesis of methyl octan-2-yl carbonate

Methyl octan-2-yl carbonate

To a 100 cm³ round bottom flask placed on a multi-point reflux reactor (Radleys, RR98073) was added 6.00 mmol 2-octanol followed by 240.00 mmol DMC. To this was then placed 0.3 mmol aluminium chloride before heating to reflux with stirring. After 19 h, the reaction was stopped, cooled to room temperature and the reaction mixture was filtered. DMC and methanol were then removed *via* reduced pressure (Heidolph, VV2000) to yield the desirable product, which was then analysed by GC-MS and ¹H NMR.

Methyl octan-2-yl carbonate: ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): *δ* = 0.86 (t, *J* = 6.44 Hz, 3H, CH₃), 1.26 (d, *J* = 6.40 Hz, 3H, CH₃), 1.27-1.68 (m, 10H, CH₂), 3.75 (s, 3H, CH₃), 4.74 (m, *J* = 6.40 Hz, 1H, CH) ppm. GC-MS (relative intensity, 70 eV) m/z: 131, 129, 112, 103, 97, 83, 77, 70, 59(100), 55, 43, 41.

5.6.3.5 Synthesis of anisole and methyl phenyl carbonate



Methyl phenyl carbonate

To a 100 cm³ round bottom flask placed on a multi-point reflux reactor (Radleys, RR98073) was placed 6.00 mmol phenol followed by 240.00 mmol DMC. And then 6.00 mmol aluminium chloride was added to the flask before heating to reflux with agitation. After 19 h, the reaction was stopped, cooled to room temperature and filtered. DMC and methanol were then removed under reduced pressure (Heidolph, VV2000) to obtain the product mixture, which was then analysed by GC, GC-MS and ¹H NMR.

Anisole: GC-MS (relative intensity, 70 eV) m/z: 108 (M⁺, 100), 93, 78, 65, 63, 51, 49, 43. The product was also confirmed as anisole *via* comparing to commercial standard sample by GC.

Methyl phenyl carbonate: GC-MS (relative intensity, 70 eV) m/z: 152(M⁺), 108, 93. 78(100), 73, 65, 59, 51, 44. The product was also confirmed as methyl phenyl carbonate *via* comparing to commercial standard sample by GC.

5.6.3.6 Synthesis of 3-nitroanisole and methyl 3-nitrophenyl carbonate



3-Nitroanisole



Methyl 3-nitrophenyl carbonate



Fig. 5.15 ¹H NMR of product mixtures of 3-nitrophenol, 3-nitroanisole and methyl 3-

nitrophenyl carbonate

To a 100 cm³ round bottom flask placed on a multi-point reflux reactor (Radleys, RR98073) was added 6.00 mmol 3-nitrophenol followed by 240.00 mmol DMC. To this was then placed 6.00 mmol aluminium chloride before heating to reflux with agitation. After 19 h, the reaction was stopped, cooled to room temperature and filtered. DMC and methanol were then eliminated under reduced pressure (Heidolph, VV2000) to attain the product mixture, which was then analysed by GC, GC-MS and ¹H NMR.

The ¹H NMR result is illustrated in Fig. 5.15, where the main peaks. in the range of 0.000 ppm to 2.500 ppm, were from the 3-nitrophenol starting material.

3-Nitroanisole: GC-MS (relative intensity, 70 eV) m/z: 153 (M⁺), 137, 123, 107, 95, 92, 77(100), 64, 50. The product was also proved to be 3-nitroanisole *via* comparing to commercial standard sample by GC.

Methyl 3-nitrophenyl carbonate: GC-MS (relative intensity, 70 eV) m/z: 197(M⁺), 181, 153, 139, 122, 107, 95, 92(100), 77, 64, 59, 50, 44.

5.6.3.7 Synthesis of 3-methylanisole and methyl *m*-tolyl carbonate



3-Methylanisole



Methyl *m*-tolyl carbonate



Fig. 5.16 ¹H NMR of product mixtures of *m*-cresol, methyl *m*-tolyl carbonate and 3-

methylanisole

To a 100 cm³ round bottom flask placed on a multi-point reflux reactor (Radleys, RR98073) was placed 6.00 mmol *m*-cresol followed by 240.00 mmol DMC. To this was then added 6.00 mmol aluminium chloride before heating to reflux with stirring. After 19 h, the reaction was stopped, cooled to room temperature and filtered. DMC and methanol were then distilled off under reduced pressure (Heidolph, VV2000) to attain the product mixture, which was then analysed by GC, GC-MS and ¹H NMR.

The ¹H NMR result is illustrated in Fig. 5.16, where main peaks, in the range of 0.000 ppm to 2.000 ppm, were from the *m*-cresol starting material.

3-Methylanisole: GC-MS (relative intensity, 70 eV) m/z: 122(M⁺, 100), 107, 91, 89, 79, 77, 65, 51. The product was confirmed as 3-methylanisole *via* comparing to commercial standard sample by GC.

Methyl *m*-tolyl carbonate: GC-MS (relative intensity, 70 eV) m/z: 166(M⁺), 122, 107, 91(100), 77, 65, 59, 51, 44.
5.6.3.8 Synthesis of cyclohexene and methoxycyclohexane



Cyclohexene



Methoxycyclohexane

To a 100 cm³ round bottom flask placed on a multi-point reflux reactor (Radleys, RR98073) was placed 6.00 mmol cyclohexanol followed by 240.00 mmol DMC. To this was then added 6.00 mmol iron (III) chloride before heating to reflux with stirring. After 19 h, the reaction was stopped, cooled to room temperature and filtered. The reaction mixture was then analysed by GC and GC-MS.

Cyclohexene: GC-MS (relative intensity, 70 eV) m/z: 82(M^+), 67(100), 54, 41. The product was confirmed as cyclohexene *via* comparing to commercial standard sample by GC.

Methoxycyclohexane: GC-MS (relative intensity, 70 eV) m/z: 114(M⁺), 85, 82, 71(100), 67, 58, 55, 45, 43, 41. The GC retention time of this compound and methoxycyclohexane synthesised from cyclohexane and methyl iodide catalysed by silver (I) oxide was identical.

5.6.3.9 Synthesis of chlorocyclohexane



Chlorocyclohexane

To a 100 cm³ round bottom flask placed on a multi-point reflux reactor (Radleys, RR98073) was added 6.00 mmol cyclohexanol followed by 240.00 mmol n-heptane. To this was then placed 6.00 mmol iron (III) chloride before heating to reflux with agitation without adding any molecular sieves. After 19 h, the reaction was stopped, cooled to room temperature and filtered. The reaction mixture was then analysed by GC and GC-MS.

Chlorocyclohexane: GC-MS (relative intensity, 70 eV) m/z: 118(M⁺), 83(100), 67, 62, 55, 51, 41. The product was also proved to be chlorocyclohexane *via* comparing to commercial standard sample by GC.



3-Octene

To a 100 cm³ round bottom flask placed on a multi-point reflux reactor (Radleys, RR98073) was added 6.00 mmol 2-octanol followed by 240.00 mmol DMC. To this was then added 6.00 mmol iron (III) chloride before heating to reflux with stirring. After 19 h, the reaction was stopped, cooled to room temperature and filtered. The reaction mixture was then analysed by GC and GC-MS.

2-Octene: GC-MS (relative intensity, 70 eV) m/z: 112(M⁺), 97, 84, 83, 70, 56, 55(100), 53, 41. This mass spectrum (EI) of 2-octene was also in accordance with the standard mass spectrum provided by NIST library (Ver. 2.0).

3-Octene: GC-MS (relative intensity, 70 eV) m/z: 112(M⁺), 97, 84, 83, 79, 77, 70, 69, 67, 56, 55(100), 53, 41. This mass spectrum (EI) of 3-octene was also in accordance with the standard mass spectrum provided by NIST library (Ver. 2.0).



Fig. 5.17 ¹H NMR of products mixture of dehydration reaction of 2-decanol

To a 100 cm³ round bottom flask placed on a multi-point reflux reactor (Radleys, RR98073) was added 6.00 mmol 2-decanol followed by 240.00 mmol DMC. To this was then placed 6.00 mmol iron (III) chloride before heating to reflux with stirring. After 19 h, the reaction was stopped, cooled to room temperature and filtered. DMC and methanol were then eliminated by reduced pressure (Heidolph, VV2000) to attain the product mixture, which was then analysed by GC, GC-MS and ¹H NMR. The ¹H NMR result is illustrated in Fig. 5.17.

2-Decene: GC-MS (relative intensity, 70 eV) m/z: 140(M⁺), 112, 111, 98, 97, 84, 70, 69, 56(100), 55, 43. This mass spectrum (EI) of 2-decene was also in accordance with the standard mass spectrum provided by NIST library (Ver. 2.0).

3-Decene: GC-MS (relative intensity, 70 eV) m/z: 140(M⁺), 112, 111, 110, 98, 97, 85, 84, 71, 70, 69, 56, 55(100), 51, 43. This mass spectrum (EI) of 3-decene was also in accordance with the standard mass spectrum provided by NIST library (Ver. 2.0).

5-Decene: GC-MS (relative intensity, 70 eV) m/z: 140(M⁺), 112, 111, 99, 98, 97, 91, 84, 83, 70, 69, 67, 65, 56, 55(100), 51, 42. This mass spectrum (EI) of 5-decene was also in accordance with the standard mass spectrum provided by NIST library (Ver. 2.0).

5.6.3.12 Synthesis of 1-butene and 2-butene



To a 100 cm³ round bottom flask placed on a multi-point reflux reactor (Radleys, RR98073) was added 6.00 mmol 2-butanol followed by 240.00 mmol DMC. To this was then placed 6.00 mmol iron (III) chloride before heating to reflux with agitation. The dehydration process of 2-butanol with stoichiometric iron (III) chloride was carried out in a closed system. Any gases produced during the reaction were collected after 19 h with a 10 cm³ Luer lock gas tight syringe (SGE Analytical Science) for gas phase GC-MS analysis.

1-Butene: GC-MS (relative intensity, 70 eV) m/z: 56(M⁺), 55, 53, 51, 50, 41(100), 39, 38, 37. This mass spectrum (EI) of 1-butene was also in accordance with the standard mass spectrum provided by NIST library (Ver. 2.0).

2-Butene: GC-MS (relative intensity, 70 eV) m/z: 56(M⁺, 100), 55, 54, 53, 52, 51, 50, 49, 41, 40, 39, 38, 37. This mass spectrum (EI) of 2-butene was also in accordance with the standard mass spectrum provided by NIST library (Ver. 2.0).

Chapter 6 Thesis conclusions and future work

6.1 Conclusions

In summary, this research focussed on the development of a new bio-based solvent 3methoxybutan-2-one (MO). This solvent demonstrated suitable properties for the replacement of halogenated solvents such as dichloromethane (DCM). Another novel bio-derived medium methyl (2,2-dimethyl-1,3-dioxolan-4-yl) methyl carbonate (MMC) was also synthesised via dimethyl carbonate (DMC) chemistry. This also demonstrated some promise as a bio-derived solvent. However, the Ames test results for this molecule exhibited some mutagenicity. This highlighted the importance of toxicological testing at an early stage of solvent development. Finally, the scope of DMC chemistry has been expanded to include acid-catalysed reactions of different aliphatic alcohols and phenols.

Chapter 2, after the initial screening of HSPiP software, the successful synthesis of MO (with a yield of 95%) from bio-based platform molecule acetoin and green methylation agent DMC was achieved. MO provides a good approximation to the polarity of halogenated solvents, as assessed using both Kamlet-Taft (KT) and Hansen solubility parameters (HSPs). Significantly, MO did not exhibit any mutagenicity in a preliminary Ames test, while peroxide testing highlighted the limited formation of peroxide after 210 days (less than 1 mg·dm⁻³). The low viscosity, melting point and low boiling point make MO a potential substitution solvent for DCM. However, this solvent does have the disadvantage that it cannot be easily separated from water, unlike DCM. MO was comparable to DCM in the Friedel-Craft synthesis but not for the Diels-Alder reaction. It is envisaged that bio-based medium such as MO will assist the replacement of those common solvents, which are deemed unacceptable under legislation such as REACH.

Chapter 3 explored a synthesis methodology of MMC from bio-based solketal and green carboxymethylation agent DMC after the initial screening of HSPiP software. MMC was attained with a yield of 91% and has similar KT and HSPs parameters to a wide range of common aprotic solvents. A peroxide test demonstrated that MMC does not form hazardous peroxide compounds over a period of 224 days. Friedel-Crafts and Diels-Alder reactions both demonstrated MMC gives reasonable performance compared to a wide range of traditional aprotic solvents. These results indicated that MMC could be a potential bio-based medium for the replacement of conventional petroleum based solvents in the future. Unfortunately, it appears that MMC may pose a chronic toxicity hazard based on Ames test, and this result serves as an important warning that the objective to create new green solvents must be to substitute environmentally damaging, toxic and hazardous solvents and that solvents must be proven as such to be accepted.

Chapter 4 used Brønsted and Lewis acids as catalysts or reagents in the presence of alcohols/phenols and DMC as a new area of dialkyl carbonate chemistry. In comparison with more commonly used base catalysis, acid catalysts have many advantages such as lower market price, lower hazard and lower energy of production. Additionally, the acid-catalysed reaction will enable more substrates to be available in dialkyl carbonate chemistry as well as significantly expanding the number of catalysts. At 90 °C, both Brønsted and Lewis acids have promoted carboxymethylation of alcohols with near quantitative conversion and selectivity. Methylation or carboxymethylation of phenols was also achieved. The high activity of aluminium chloride at low loadings demonstrates significant promise, however, further work is needed to improve the reusability of this catalyst. Stoichiometric loading of iron (III) chloride or sulphuric acid leads to the dehydration of secondary alcohols, with better conversion in DMC than in n-heptane. Moreover, iron (III) chloride and DMC were found to be a suitable system for methylation of cyclohexanol. At 160 °C, the conversion and selectivity of secondary aliphatic alcohol improve, but no methylation product is produced, and *tert*-Butanol did not react under acidic conditions. The control experiments provided valuable evidence that the acid catalysts play a vital role in this DMC chemistry.

6.2 Future work

6.2.1 For Chapter 2

The future work of the bio-based solvent MO is needed to be carried out. Firstly, the isolated yield of MO solvent is necessary to be improved from 30% to at least 90%. In industry, much better purification methodologies are available to purify MO such as rectifying tower which has much higher number of theoretical plates than the lab-based rectifying column, thus MO will be

purified in industrial scale. Moreover, PTSA, used in the synthesis of MO, is a petroleum-based catalyst since it is synthesised *via* the sulphonation of toluene,³⁰⁷ as such it will be replaced by *p*-cymene sulphonic acid (PCSA)³⁰⁸ which is a more sustainable catalyst derived from citrus waste. The risk of formation of peroxide of MO is needed to be evaluated by more precise titration method,³⁰⁹ and stabilisers, such as butylated hydroxytoluene (BHT), will be added in MO in order to investigate its antioxidant ability. Although no mutagenicity of MO was found in this project, however, a full set of toxicity tests are still needed to study its toxicology such as Ames test with S9 microsomal activation and animal test. Additionally, the stability of MO in acidic or basic conditions will be investigated.

6.2.2 For Chapter 3

Based on Chapter 3, although MMC is a bio-based solvent, it is not a green solvent since it exhibits mutagenicity. The future work will focus on developing other new bio-based solvents. More bio-based medium will be synthesised from bio-based platform molecules and DMC to fill up the gaps in the Kamlet-Taft solvent map. More potential bio-based platform molecules are also needed to be explored and developed. Additionally, other possible green reaction reagents are required to be studied and applied in synthesising new bio-based solvents. Significantly, toxicology tests will be carried out for any new bio-derived medium in the early stage of the study.

6.2.3 For Chapter 4

This project opened a new area of acid-catalysed dialkyl carbonate chemistry, which highlights that many future works are necessary. Firstly, computational quantum chemistry based on density functional theory (DFT)³¹⁰ will be used to analyse the mechanism of acid-catalysed DMC reactions such as reaction pathway, activation energy and transition state. In addition, the reactivity of more substrates, such as amine and thiol, in acidic DMC chemistry are also needed to be screened. Other dialkyl carbonates are necessary to be further investigated in the presence of acid catalysts. Moreover, aluminium chloride and iron (III) chloride can be substituted by

heterogeneous catalysts such as ion-exchanged clays with strong Lewis acidic site Al^{3+, 311,312} or more sustainable bio-based catalyst PCSA. The performances of these heterogeneous acid catalysts will be assessed in DMC reactions. The mechanism that DMC offered better conversion in the dehydration reaction of secondary alcohol than n-heptane will also be investigated in the future.

Glossary

List of abbreviations and symbols

DMC	Dimethyl carbonate
¹³ C NMR	Carbon-13 nuclear magnetic resonance
¹ H NMR	Proton nuclear magnetic resonance
2D	Two dimension
2-MeTHF	2-Methyl tetrahydrofuran
2-NF	2-Nitrofluorene
3D	Three dimension
4-MAP	4-Methoxyacetophenone
4-NQO	4-Nitroquinoline- <i>N</i> -oxide
b.p.	Boiling point
B _{AC} 2	Bimolecular, base-catalysed, acyl cleavage and nucleophilic substitution
B _{AL} 2	Bimolecular, base-catalysed, alkyl cleavage and nucleophilic substitution
BHT	Butylated hydroxytoluene
с.р.	Crystallisation point
DCM	Dichloromethane
DE	1-(3,4-Dimethylcyclohex-3-enyl) ethanone
DFT	Density functional theory
Diene	2,3-Dimethylbuta-1,3-diene
DiMMC	(4,4-Dimethyl-1,3-dioxolan-2-yl) methyl (2,2-dimethyl-1,3-dioxolan-4-yl)
	methyl carbonate
DL	Detection limit
DMAc	N,N-Dimethylacetamide
DMF	N,N-Dimethylformamide
DMS	Dimethyl sulphate
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DSC	Differential scanning calorimetry
DTG	Differential thermogravimetric
E	Total energy of vaporisation

E1	Unimolecular elimination
E _D	Dispersion cohesive energy
Е _н	Electron exchange energy
EHS	Environmental, health and safety
EI	Electron ionisation
E _P	Polar cohesive energy
EPA	Environmental Protection Agency
EU	European Union
FT-IR	Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy
GC	Gas chromatography
GC-FID	Gas chromatography with a flame ionisation detector
GC-MS	Gas chromatography-mass spectrometry
GVL	γ-Valerolactone
HBA	Hydrogen bond accepting
HBD	Hydrogen bond donating
His⁻	Mutational Salmonella typhimurium
His⁺	Prototrophic Salmonella typhimurium
HSAB	Hard-Soft Acid-Base
HSPiP	Hansen Solubility Parameters in Practice
HSPs	Hansen solubility parameters
ICTA	Nomenclature Committee of the International Confederation for Thermal
	Analysis
InCHI	IUPAC International Chemical Identifier
IR	Infrared spectroscopy
IS	Internal standard
КТ	Kamlet-Taft
LCA	Lifecycle assessment
LSER	Linear solvation energy relationship
LUMO	Lowest unoccupied molecular orbital
m.p.	Melting point

m/z	Mass-to-charge ratio
MC	Methyl 3-oxobutan-2-yl carbonate
MMC	Methyl (2,2-dimethyl-1,3-dioxolan-4-yl) methyl carbonate
MO	3-Methoxybutan-2-one
MOFs	Metal-organic frameworks
MS	Mass spectrometry
Mwt	Molecular weight
NA	4-Nitroaniline
NMP	1-Methyl-2-pyrrolidone
NN	N,N-Diethyl-4-nitroaniline
NR	Nile red
NREL	National Renewable Energy Laboratory
NTP	National Toxicology Program
PCSA	p-Cymene sulphonic acid
PTSA	<i>p</i> -Toluenesulfonic acid
R ₀	Interaction radius
Ra	Hansen distance
RAPEX	Rapid Alert System for Dangerous Non-food Products
REACH	Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and restriction of Chemicals
RED	Relative energy difference
R _f	Response factor
ScCO ₂	Supercritical CO ₂
SMILES	Simplified molecular-input line-entry system
S _N 1	Unimolecular nucleophilic substitution
S _N 2	Bimolecular nucleophilic substitution
SVHCs	Substances of very high concerns
TBD	1,5,7-Triazabicyclo [4.4.0] dec-5-ene
TG	Thermogravimetric
TGA	Thermogravimetric analysis
THF	Tetrahydrofuran

TOF	Time of flight
UV	Ultraviolet
UV-vis.	Ultraviolet-visible
VOC	Volatile organic compound
α	Hydrogen bond donating ability
β	Hydrogen bond accepting (HBA) ability
δ	Hildebrand solubility parameter
δ_0	Polarisability correction term
$\delta_{ extsf{D}}$	Hansen dispersion cohesion solubility parameter
$\delta_{ extsf{H}}$	Hansen hydrogen bonding cohesion solubility parameter
$\delta_{ extsf{P}}$	Hansen polar cohesion solubility parameter
λ_{max}	Maximum wavelength
V _{max}	Wavenumbers at maximum absorbance
π*	A combination of dipolarity and polarisability
ρ	Density

References

- P. T. Anastas and T. C. Williamson, *ACS Symposium Series*, 1996, **626**, Chapter 1, 1 17.
- 2 P. T. Anastas and N. Eghbali, *Chem. Soc. Rev.*, 2010, **39**, 301-312.
- 3 J. H. Clark, *Green Chem.*, 1999, **1**, 1-8.
- 4 P. T. Anastas and J. C. Warner, in *Green Chemistry: Theory and Practice*, Oxford University Press, New York, 1998.
- 5 C. Reichardt, *Solvent Effects in Organic Chemistry*, Verlag Chemie, Weinheim, 1979.
- 6 F. M. Kerton and R. Marriott, *Alternative Solvents for Green Chemistry*, Royal Society of Chemistry, Cambridge, 2nd edn., 2013.
- Global Solvents Opportunities for Greener Solvents,
 https://www.ihs.com/products/chemical-special-reports-global-solvents.html, (accessed
 September 2016).
- 8 Q. Xing, W. Pei, R. Xu and J. Pei, *Fundamental Organic Chemistry*, Higher Education Press, Beijing, 3rd edn., 2005, 267.
- J. McCann, E. Choi, E. Yamasaki and B. N. Ames, *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA*, 1975, **72**, 5135 5139.
- 10 E. Lynge, A. Anttila and K. Hemminki, *Cancer Causes and Control*, 1997, **8**, 406-419.
- 11 M. J. Molina and F. S. Rowland, *Nature*, 1974, **249**, 810-812.
- 12 REACH, http://echa.europa.eu/regulations/reach, (accessed June 2016).
- Candidate List of substances of very high concern for Authorisation,
 http://echa.europa.eu/web/guest/candidate-list-table, (accessed June 2016).
- 14 Substances restricted under REACH, http://echa.europa.eu/addressing-chemicals-of-concern/restrictions/substancesrestricted-under-reach, (accessed June 2016).
- 15 European Commission (2015) Rapid Alert System for dangerous non-food products (RAPEX),http://ec.europa.eu/consumers/consumers_safety/safety_products/rapex/ind ex_en.htm, (accessed Dec 2015).
- Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999,
 http://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/c- 15.31/page-1.html, (accessed September 2016).
- 17 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) CFR Title 40,

http://www.archives.gov/federal- register/cfr/subject-title-40.html, (accessed September 2016).

- 18 H. Sakurai, K. Sakamoto and M. Kira, *Chem. Lett.*, 1984, 1213-1214.
- 19 M. T. Nguyen and A. F. Diaz, *Chem. Mater.*, 1993, **5**, 1389-1394.
- 20 J. M. Brown, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl., 1987, 26, 190-203.
- 21 FR646661. 1928.
- J. A. Riddick, W. B. Bunger and T. K. Sakano, *Techniques of Chemistry Volume 2: Organic Solvents Physical Properties and Methods of Purification*, John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York, 4th edn., 1986.
- 23 US Pat., US3833558, 1974.
- 24 US Pat., US4092309, 1978.
- 25 US Pat., US3945888, 1976.
- 26 US Pat., US4495168, 1985.
- 27 US Pat., US3702304, 1972.
- 28 US Pat., US4898893, 1990.
- 29 US Pat., US5806834, 1998.
- 30 US Pat., US3671263, 1972.
- 31 R. W. Waterfill, Ind. Eng. Chem., 1932, 24, 616-619.
- 32 R. S. Ratney, D. H. Wegman and H. B. Elkins, *Archives of Environmental Health: An International Journal*, 1974, **28**, 223-226.
- 33 National Toxicology Program (NTP), 1986. Toxicology and carcinogenesis studies of dichloromethane (methylene chloride) (CAS No. 75-09-2) in F344/N rats and B6C3F1 mice (inhalation studies). NTP-TR-306.
- 34 Dichloromethane; CASRN 75-09-2, https://cfpub.epa.gov/ncea/iris/iris_documents/documents/subst/0070_summary.pdf# nameddest=rfc, (accessed July 2016).
- 35 M. Manno, M. Rugge and V. Cocheo, *Human Exp. Toxicol.*, 1992, **11**, 540-545.
- 36 K. Tanaka and F. Toda, *Chem. Rev.*, 2000, **100**, 1025-1074.
- 37 Y. Gu and F. Jérôme, *Chem. Soc. Rev.*, 2013, **42**, 9550-9570.
- 38 C. Reichardt and T. Welton, Solvents and Solvent Effects in Organic Chemistry, Wiley-VCH,

Weinheim, 4th edn., 2011.

- 39 C. Capello, U. Fischer and K. Hungerbühler, Green Chem., 2007, 9, 927-934.
- M. C. Bubalo, S. Vidović, I. R. Redovniković and S. Jokić, *J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol.*, 2015, 90, 1631-1639.
- 41 G. Brunner, J. Food Eng., 2005, 67, 21-33.
- 42 G. Brunner, Gas Extraction. an Introduction to Fundamentals of Supercritical Fluids and the Application to Separation Processes, Springer, New York, 1994.
- 43 T. Welton, *Chem. Rev.* 1999, **99**, 2071-2083.
- 44 I. T. Horváth and J. Rábai, *Science*, 1994, **266**, 72-75.
- M. J. Hernáiz, A. R. Alcántara, J. I. García and J. V. Sinisterra, *Chem. Eur. J.* 2010, **16**, 9422-9437.
- 46 OK biobased: Certification Scheme,
 http://www.okcompost.be/data/pdf-document/Program%20OK%2020e b%20-%20OK%20biobased.pdf, (accessed June 2016).
- 47 Certification Scheme Biobased Products,

http://www.dincertco.de/media/dincertco/dokumente_1/certification_schemes/Biobasi erte_Produkte_biobased_products_certification_scheme.pdf, (accessed June 2016).

- 48 M. Bandres, P. de Caro, S. T. Roux and M. E. Borredon, *C. R. Chim.*, 2011, **14**, 636-646.
- 49 P. Gallezot, Chem. Soc. Rev., 2012, 41, 1538-1558.
- 50 V. Pace, P. Hoyos, L. Castoldi, P. D. de María and A. R. Alcántara, *ChemSuschem*, 2012, **5**, 1369-1379.
- 51 J. Lessard, J. F. Morin, J. F. Wehrung, D. Magnin and E. Chornet, *Top. Catal.* 2010, **53**, 1231-1234.
- 52 H. Zheng, Y. Zhu, B. Teng, Z. Bai, C. Zhang, H. Xiang and Y. Li, J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem., 2006,
 246, 18-23.
- G. M. King, S. Iqbal, P. J. Miedziak, G. L. Brett, S. A. Kondrat, B. R. Yeo, X. Liu, J. K. Edwards,
 D. J. Morgan, D. K. Knight and G. J. Hutchings, *ChemCatChem*, 2015, 7, 2122-2129.
- 54 C. M. Cai, T. Zhang, R. Kumar and C. E. Wyman, *J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol.*, 2014, **89**, 210.
- 55 US Pat., US4897497, 1990.

- 56 V. Antonucci, J. Coleman, J. B. Ferry, N. Johnson, M. Mathe, J. P. Scott and J. Xu, Org. Process Res. Dev., 2011, **15**, 939-941.
- 57 D. F. Aycock, Org. Process Res. Dev., 2007, **11**, 156-159.
- 58 A. Kadam, M. Nguyen, M. Kopach, P. Richardson, F. Gallou, Z. Wan and W. Zhang, *Green Chem.*, 2013, **15**, 1880-1888.
- 59 M. Smoleń, M. Kędziorek and K. Grela, Catal. Commun., 2014, 44, 80-84.
- 60 D. H. B. Ripin, Synlett., 2003, **15**, 2353.
- 61 W. Zhong, Y. Wu and X. Zhang, J. Chem. Res., 2009, 2009, 370-374.
- 62 T. Robert, J. Velder and H. G. Schmalz, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.*, 2008, **120**, 7832-7835.
- S. Kawabata, H. Tokura, H. Chiyojima, M. Okamoto and S. Sakaguchi, *Adv. Synth. Catal.*, 2012, **354**, 807-812.
- T. vom Stein, P. M. Grande, W. Leitner and P. D. de María, *ChemSuschem*, 2011, 4, 1592 1594.
- 65 Z. Chen, D. Zhang, L. Cao and Y. Han, *Bioresour. Technol.*, 2013, **133**, 82-86.
- 66 Z. Duan and F. Hu, J. Biotechnol., 2013, **163**, 45-49.
- S. Shanmuganathan, D. Natalia, A. van den Wittenboer, C. Kohlmann, L. Greiner and P. D.
 de María, *Green Chem.*, 2010, **12**, 2240-2245.
- 68 M. Mondal and U. Bora, *New J. Chem.*, 2016, **40**, 3119-3123.
- 69 Z. J. Witczak, R. Chhabra and J. Chojnacki, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 1997, **38**, 2215-2218.
- 70 P. Bhaté and D. Horton, *Carbohydr. Res.*, 1983, **122**, 189-199.
- A. V. Samet, D. N. Lutov, S. I. Firgang, K. A. Lyssenko and V. V. Semenov, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 2011, 52, 3026-3028.
- J. Sherwood, M. D. Bruyn, A. Constantinou, L. Moity, C. R. McElroy, T. J. Farmer, T. Duncan,
 W. Raverty, A. J. Hunt and J. H. Clark, *Chem. Commun.*, 2014, **50**, 9650-9652.
- 73 Cyrene, http://www.circagroup.com.au/cyrene/, (accessed June 2016).
- 74 U. Tilstam, Org. Process Res. Dev., 2012, 16, 1273-1278.
- 75 J. Sun, Alternat. Med. Rev., 2007, **12**, 259-264.
- 76 B. Mira, M. Blasco, A. Berna and S. Subirats, J. Supercrit. Fluids, 1999, 14, 95-104.
- P. S. Kulkarni, C. Brazinha, C. A. M. Afonso and J. G. Crespo, *Green Chem.*, 2010, **12**, 19901994.

- A. M. Balu, V. Budarin, P. S. Shuttleworth, L. A. Pfaltzgraff, K. Waldron, R. Luque and J. H.
 Clark, *ChemSusChem*, 2012, 5, 1694-1697.
- 79 P. K. Mamidipally and S. X. Liu, *Eur. J. Lipid Sci. Technol.*, 2004, **106**, 122–125.
- M. Virot, V. Tomao, C. Ginies, F. Visinoni and F. Chemat, J. Chromatogr., A, 2008, 1196–
 1197, 147-152.
- 81 M. T. Golmakani, J. A. Mendiola, K. Rezaei and E. Ibáñez, J. Supercrit. Fluids, 2014, 92, 1-7.
- J. H. Clark, D. J. Macquarrie and J. Sherwood, *Green Chem.*, 2012, **14**, 90-93.
- Y. Zhu, Z. Chen, Y. Yang, P. Cai, J. Chen, Y. Li, W. Yang, J. Peng and Y. Cao, Org. Electron.,
 2015, 23, 193-198.
- 84 C. S. M. Pereira, V. M. T. M. Silva and A. E. Rodrigues, *Green Chem.*, 2011, **13**, 2658-2671.
- 85 S. Paul and A. R. Das, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 2012, **53**, 2206-2210.
- A. Dandia, A. K. Jain and A. K. Laxkar, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 2013, **54**, 3929-3932.
- 2. Xu, Y. Jiang, S. Zou and Y. Liu, *Phosphorus, Sulfur Silicon Relat. Elem.*, 2014, **189**, 791-795.
- 88 Y. Liu, H. Wang, C. Wang, J. Wan and C. Wen, *RSC Adv.*, 2013, **3**, 21369-21372.
- 89 A. Salerno and C. Domingo, *Mater. Sci. Eng., C*, 2014, **42**, 102-110.
- S. Stefanidis, K. Kalogiannis, E. F. Iliopoulou, A. A. Lappas, J. M. Triguero, M. T. Navarro, A.
 Chica and F. Rey, *Green Chem.*, 2013, **15**, 1647-1658.
- 91 D. Mondal, J. P. Chaudhary, M. Sharma and K. Prasad, *RSC Adv.*, 2014, **4**, 29834-29839.
- M. Lores, M. Pájaro, M. Á. Casas, J. Domínguez and C. G. Jares, *Talanta*, 2015, 140, 134 142.
- Y. Kua, S. Gan, A. Morris and H. K. Ng, Sustainable Chemistry and Pharmacy, 2016, 4, 2131.
- 94 Z. Z. J. Wang, J. Zhuge, H. Fang and A. Prior, *Biotechnol. Adv.*, 2001, **19**, 201-223.
- A. Wolfson, C. Dlugy and D. Tavor, Int. J. Green Chem. Bioprocess, 2013, **3**, 44-48.
- 96 E. C. C. Lin, Ann. Rev. Microbiol., 1976, **30**, 535-578.
- 97 Biodiesel Analytical Methods,http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy04osti/36240.pdf, (accessed September 2016).
- 98 V. Dossat, D. Combes and A. Marty, *Enzyme Microb. Technol.*, 1999, **25**, 194-200.
- 99 D. T. Johnson and K. A. Taconi, *Environ. Prog.*, 2007, **26**, 338-348.
- 100 A. Wolfson, C. Dlugy and Y. Shotland, *Environ. Chem. Lett.*, 2007, **5**, 67-71.

- 101 G. Perin, L. G. Mello, C. S. Radatz, L. Savegnago, D. Alves, R. G. Jaco and E. J. Lenardão, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 2010, **51**, 4354-4356.
- 102 A. Wolfson, C. Dlugy, Y. Shotland and D. Tavor, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 2009, **50**, 5951-5953.
- 103 K. Pamin, J. Połtowicz, M. Prończuk, S. Basąg, J. Maciejewska, J. K. Czerwenka and R. T. Sobieraj, *Catal. Today*, 2015, **257**, 80-85.
- 104 S. Deng, X. Ma, M. Sun, D. Wei and E. Su, *Catal. Commun.* 2016, **79**, 31-34.
- 105 P. Gallezot, *Green Chem.*, 2007, **9**, 295-302.
- 106 C. Breil, A. Meullemiestre, M. Vian and F. Chemat, *Molecules*, 2016, **21**, 196.
- 107 J. Zhou, H. Zhang, Y. Zhang, Y. Li and Y. Ma, *Metab. Eng.*, 2012, **14**, 394-400.
- B. Jørgensen, S. E. Christiansen, M. L. D. Thomsen and C. H. Christensen, J. Catal., 2007, 251, 332-337.
- 109 I. T. Horváth, H. Mehdi, V. Fábos, L. Boda and L. T. Mika, *Green Chem.*, 2008, **10**, 238-242.
- 110 L. Qi and I. T. Horváth, ACS Catal., 2012, **2**, 2247-2249.
- 111 L. Qi, Y. F. Mui, S. W. Lo, M. Y. Lui, G. R. Akien and I. T. Horváth, ACS Catal., 2014, 4, 14701477.
- J. M. R. Gallo, D. M. Alonso, M. A. Mellmer and J. A. Dumesic, *Green Chem.*, 2013, **15**, 8590.
- 113 D. M. Alonso, S. G. Wettstein, M. A. Mellmer, E. I. Gurbuz and J. A. Dumesic, *Energy Environ. Sci.*, 2013, **6**, 76-80.
- 114 J. Yang, J. Tan and Y. Gu, *Green Chem.*, 2012, **14**, 3304-3317.
- 115 J. H. Clark, T. J. Farmer, A. J. Hunt and J. Sherwood, Int. J. Mol. Sci., 2015, 16, 17101-17159.
- 116 C. Reichardt and T. Welton, *Solvents and Solvent Effects in Organic Chemistry*, Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, 4th edn., 2010.
- M. A. A. Rani, N. Borduas, V. Colquhoun, R. Hanley, H. Johnson, S. Larger, P. D. Lickiss, V.
 L. Mestre, S. Luu, M. Mogstad, P. Oczipka, J. R. Sherwood, T. Welton and J. Xing, *Green Chem.*, 2014, 16, 1282-1296.
- 118 M. J. Kamlet, J. L. M. Abboud and R. W. Taft, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1977, 99, 6027-6038.
- 119 M. J. Kamlet and R. W. Taft, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1976, 98, 377-383.
- 120 M. J. Kamlet, T. N. Hall, J. Boykin and R. W. Taft, J. Org. Chem., 1979, 44, 2599-2604.
- 121 R. W. Taft and M. J. Kamlet, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1976, 98, 2886-2894.

- M. J. Kamlet, J. L. M. Abboud, M. H. Abraham and R. W. Taft, *J. Org. Chem.*, 1983, 48, 2877-2887.
- R. W. Taft, J. L. M. Abboud, M. J. Kamlet and M. H. Abraham, *J. Solution Chem.*, 1985, 14, 153-186.
- 124 R. W. Taft, J. L. M. Abboud and M. J. Kamlet, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1981, **103**, 1080-1086.
- 125 L. Crowhurst, R. Falcone, N. L. Lancaster, V. Llopis-Mestre and T. Welton, *J. Org. Chem.*,
 2006, **71**, 8847-8853.
- 126 L. Garcia-Rio, J. R. Leis and E. Iglesias, J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 4712-4720.
- 127 C. Adam, L. Garcia-Rio, A. Godoy and J. R. Leis, J. Green Chem., 2006, 8, 596-598.
- 128 G. Ranieri, J. P. Hallett and T. Welton, *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.*, 2008, **47**, 638-644.
- A. D. Marinkovic, S. Z. Drmanic, B. Z. Jovanovic and M. Misic-Vukovic, *J. Serb. Chem. Soc.* 2005, **70**, 557-567.
- 130 Y. Marcus, J. Solution Chem., 1991, **20**, 929-944.
- 131 Y. G. Sıdır, İ. Sıdır, H. Berber and G. Türkoğlu, J. Mol. Liq., 2015, 204, 33-38.
- 132 P. G. Jessop, *Green Chem.*, 2011, **13**, 1391-1398.
- 133 J. Sherwood, PhD Thesis, University of York, 2013.
- 134 C. Reichardt, Chem. Rev., 1994, 94, 2319-2358.
- L. Crowhurst, P. R. Mawdsley, J. M. Perez-Arlandis, P. A. Salter and T. Welton, *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.*, 2003, 5, 2790-2794.
- H. L. Parker, J. Sherwood, A. J. Hunt and J. H. Clark, ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng., 2014, 2, 1739-1742.
- 137 Y. Marcus, Chem. Soc. Rev., 1993, 22, 409-416.
- 138 P. G. Jessop, D. A. Jessop, D. Fu and L. Phan, *Green Chem.*, 2012, 14, 1245-1259.
- 139 C. M. Hansen, *Hansen Solubility Parameters: A User's Handbook*, CRC Press, Boca Raton,2nd edn., 2006.
- 140 J. Hildebrand and R. L. Scott, *The Solubility of Nonelectrolytes*, Reinhold, New York, 3rd edn., 1950.
- 141 J. Hildebrand and R. L. Scott, *Regular Solutions*, Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, 1962.
- 142 C. M. Hansen, The Three Dimensional Solubility Parameter and Solvent Diffusion Coefficient, Their Importance in Surface Coating Formulation, Doctoral dissertation,

Danish Technical Press, Copenhagen, 1967.

- 143 C. M. Hansen, J. Paint Technol., 1967, **39**, 505-510.
- 144 C. M. Hansen and P. E. Pierce, Ind. Eng. Chem. Prod. Res. Dev., 1974, 13, 218-225.
- 145 C. M. Hansen and E. Wallström, J. Adhes., 1983, 15, 275-286.
- 146 C. M. Hansen, Prog. Org. Coat. 2004, 51, 77-84.
- 147 L. Paseta, G. Potier, S. Abbott and J. Coronas, Org. Biomol. Chem., 2015, 13, 1724-1731.
- 148 S. Gårdebjer, M. Andersson, J. Engström, P. Restorp, M. Persson and A. Larsson, *Polym. Chem.*, 2016, 7, 1756-1764.
- 149 B. Hossin, K. Rizi and S. Murdan, *Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm.*, 2016, **102**, 32-40.
- 150 A. Aghanouri and G. Sun, ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng., 2016, 4, 2337-2344.
- 151 J. C. S. Ruiz, R. Luque and A. S. Escribano, Chem. Soc. Rev., 2011, 40, 5266–5281.
- 152 T. Werpy, G. Petersen, A. Aden, J. Bozell, J. holladay, J. White and A. Manheim, *Top Value* Added Chemicals From Biomass Volume I—Results of Screening for Potential Candidates from Sugars and Synthesis Gas, National Renewable Energy Laboratory, 2004.
- 153 D. M. Alonso, S. G. Wettstein and J. A. Dumesic, *Green Chem.*, 2013, **15**, 584-595.
- 154 M. Rose and R. Palkovits, *ChemSusChem*, 2012, **5**, 167-176.
- 155 A. Sølvhøj, E. Taarning and R. Madsen, *Green Chem.*, 2016, Advance Article.
- M. Bilde, T. E. Møgelberg, J. Sehested, O. J. Nielsen, T. J. Wallington, M. D. Hurley, S. M. Japar, M. Dill, V. L. Orkin, T. J. Buckley, R. E. Huie, and M. J. Kurylo, *J. Phys. Chem. A*, 1997, 101, 3514-3525.
- 157 L. Cassar, *Chim. Ind.*, 1990, **72**, 18-22.
- 158 B. Schaffner, F. Schaffner, S. P. Verevkin and A. Borne, Chem. Rev., 2010, 110, 4554-4581.
- 159 M. J. Earle, M. Noe, A. Perosab and K. R. Seddon, *RSC Adv.*, 2014, 14, 1204-1211.
- 160 K. H. Lee, C. Park and E. Y. Lee, *Bioprocess Biosyst. Eng.*, 2010, **33**, 1059-1065.
- 161 D. Prat, A. Wells, J. Hayler, H. Sneddon, C. R. McElroy and S. Abou-Shehada, *Green Chem*. 2016, **18**, 288-296.
- 162 Z. Ilham and S. Saka, *Bioresour. Technol.*, 2009, **100**, 1793-1796.
- 163 P. Tundo and M. Selva, Acc. Chem. Res., 2002, **35**, 706-716.
- 164 P. Tundo, *Pure Appl. Chem.*, 2001, **73**, 1117-1124.
- 165 F. Aricò and P. Tundo, *Russ. Chem. Rev.*, 2010, **79**, 479-489.

- 166 H. P. Hood and H. R. Mordock, J. Phys. Chem., 1919, 23, 498-512.
- 167 US Pat., US5523452, 1996.
- U. Romano, R. Twsel, M. M. Maurl and P. Rebora, Ind. Eng. Chem. Prod. Res. DeV., 1980, 19, 396-403.
- 169 S. Budavari, *The Merck Index*, Merck and Co. Inc., New Jersey, 11th Edn., 1989.
- 170 L. Li, S. Shi, L. Song, L. Guo, Y. Wang, H. Ma, J. Hou and H. Wang, *J. Organomet. Chem.*, 2015, **794**, 231-236.
- 171 C. Liu, S. Zhang, B. Cai and Z. Jin, *Chin. J. Catal.*, 2015, **36**, 1136-1141.
- 172 Y. Ono, Appl. Catal., A, 1997, **155**, 133-166.
- 173 D. Lv, Z. Xu, S. Peng, Z. Wang, Q. Chen, Y. Chen and G. Guo, *Catal. Sci. Technol.*, 2015, 5, 3333-3339.
- 174 Y. Dong, Y. Shen, Y. Zhao, S. Wang and X. Ma, *ChemCatChem*, 2015, **7**, 2460-2466.
- 175 K. Tomishige, T. Sakaihori, Y. Ikeda and K. Fujimoto, *Catal. Lett.*, 1999, **58**, 225-229.
- 176 D. C. Stoian, E. Taboada, J. Llorca, E. Molins, F. Medina and A. M. Segarra, *Chem. Commun.*, 2013, **49**, 5489-5491.
- 177 M. Honda, M. Tamura, Y. Nakagawa, K. Nakao, K. Suzuki and K. Tomishige, *J. Catal.*,
 2014, **318**, 95-107.
- 178 M. H. Wang, N. Zhao, W. Wei and Y. H. Sun, *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.*, 2005, 44, 7596-7599.
- J. J. Sun, B. L. Yang, X. P. Wang, D. P. Wang and H. Y. Lin, J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem., 2005, 239, 82-86.
- M. H. Wang, H. Wang, N. Zhao, W. Wei and Y. H. Sun, *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.*, 2007, 46, 2683-2687.
- 181 X. P. Wang, B. L. Yang, D. P. Wang and X. W. Zhai, *Chem. Eng. J.*, 2006, **122**, 15-20.
- 182 W. Joe, H. J. Lee, U. G. Hong, Y. S. Ahn, C. J. Song, B. J. Kwon and I. K. Song, J. Ind. Eng. Chem., 2012, 18, 1730-1735.
- 183 Z. Zhang, L. Zhang, C. Wu, Q. Qian, Q. Zhu and B. Han, *Green Chem.*, 2016, **18**, 798-801.
- 184 N. W. Krase and V. L. Gaddy, Ind. Eng. Chem., 1922, 14, 611-615.
- 185 Z. Hou, L. Luo, K. Liu, C. Liu, Y. Wang and L. Dai, *Chem. Eng. J.*, 2014, **236**, 415-418.
- 186 R. G. Pearson, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1963, 85, 3533-3539.
- 187 R. G. Pearson and J. Songstad, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1967, 89, 1827-1836.

- 188 J. L. Gazquez and F. Mendez, J. Phys. Chem. 1994, 98, 4591-4593.
- 189 H. Tse-Lok, Chem. Rev. 1975, 75, 1-20.
- 190 P. Tundo, L. Rossi and A. Loris, J. Org. Chem., 2005, 70, 2219-2224.
- 191 P. Tundo, S. Memoli, D. Herault and K. Hill, *Green Chem.*, 2004, **6**, 609-612.
- 192 P. Tundo, F. Aricò, A. E. Rosamilia and S. Memoli, *Green Chem.*, 2008, **10**, 1182-1189.
- J. N. G. Stanley, M. Selva, A. F. Masters, T. Maschmeyer and A. Perosa, *Green Chem.*, 2013, 15, 3195-3204.
- 194 S. Kumar and S. L. Jain, *Monatsh. Chem.*, 2014, **145**, 791-795.
- 195 P. Tundo, F. Aricò, G. Gauthier, L. Rossi, A. E. Rosamilia, H. S. Bevinakatti, R. L. Sievert and C. P. Newman, *ChemSusChem*, 2010, **3**, 566-570.
- 196 H. Mutlu, J. Ruiz, S. C. Solleder and M. A. R. Meier, *Green Chem.*, 2012, 14, 17281735.
- 197 M. Hatano, S. Kamiya, K. Moriyama and K. Ishihara, Org. Lett., 2011, 13, 430-433.
- 198 S. Kumar and S. L. Jain, *New J. Chem.*, 2013, **37**, 3057-3061.
- 199 Y. Zhou, Q, Jin, Z. Gao, H. Guo, H. Zhang and X. Zhou, *RSC Adv.*, 2014, **4**, 7013-7018.
- M. Y. Lui, L. S. Lokare, E. Hemming, J. N. G. Stanley, A. Perosa, M. Selva, A. F. Masters and
 T. Maschmeyer, *RSC Adv.*, 2016, 6, 58443-58451.
- 201 Hansen Solubility Parameters in Practice, http://www.hansen-solubility.com/HSPiP/, (accessed July 2016).
- S. Wang, J. Liu, C. Pai, C. Chen, P. Chung, A.S. Chiang and S. Chang, *J. Colloid Interface Sci.*, 2013, 407, 140-147.
- 203 G. Liu, M. Hoch, C. Wrana, K. Kulbaba, S. Liu, W. Bi and S. Zhao, *Polym. Test*, 2014, **34**, 72-77.
- A. Filly, A. S. F. Tixier, Y. Lemasson, C. Roy, X. Femandez and F. Chemat, *C. R. Chim.*, 2014, 17, 1268-1275.
- H. Petersen, I. Jakubowicz, J. Enebro and N. Yarahmadi, Appl. Clay Sci., 2015, 107, 78-84.
- 206 J. Bonnet, G. Suissa, M. Raynal and L. Bouteiller, *Soft Matter*, 2014, **10**, 3154-3160.
- 207 F. Machui, L. Lucera, G. D. Spyropoulos, J. Cordero, A. S. Ali, P. Kubis, T. Ameri, M. M. Voigt and C. J. Brabec, *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells*, 2014, **128**, 441-446.
- 208 J. F. Guymon and E. A. Crowell, *Am. J. Enol. Vitic.*, 1965, **16**, 85-91.

- 209 W. Mick and P. Schreier, J. Agric. Food Chem., 1984, **32**, 924-929.
- 210 J. Spadone, G. Takeoka and R. Liardon, J. Agric. Food Chem., 1990, **38**, 226-223.
- 211 B. Walsh and T. M. Cogan, J. Dairy Res., 1974, 41, 25-30.
- 212 Y. Xu, W. Fan and M. C. Qian, J. Agric. Food Chem., 2007, 55, 3051-3057.
- B. S. Radovic, M. Careri, A. Mangia, M. Musci, M. Gerboles and E. Anklam, *Food Chem.*, 2001, 72, 511-520.
- 214 D. Barron and P. X. Etiévant, Z. Lebensm. Unters. Forsch., 1990, 191, 279-285.
- 215 M. Adahchour, R. J. J. Vreuls, A. V. der Heijden and U. A. Th. Brinkman, *J. Chromatogr. A*, 1999, 844, 295-305.
- 216 R. G. Buttery, D. J. Stern and L. C. Ling, J. Agric. Food Chem., 1994, 42, 791-795.
- 217 C. Yu, M. Lei, W. Su and Y. Xie, *Synth. Commun.*, 2007, **37**, 3301-3309.
- 218 G. Talavera, J. Peña and M. Alcarazo, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2015, **137**, 8704-8707.
- K. Aghapoor, F. Mohsenzadeh, M. M. Morad and H. R. Darabi, C. R. Chim., 2012, 15, 764767.
- 220 F. Toda, K. Tanaka and H. Tange, J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1, 1989, 1555-1556.
- 221 A. Hilmi, E. M. Belgsir, J. M. leger and C. Lamy, J. Electroanal. Chem., 1997, 435, 69-75.
- D. M. N. Nguyen, G. L. Lipscomb, G. J. Schut, B. J. Vaccaro, M. Basen, R. M. Kelly and M. W.
 W. Adams, *Metab. Eng.*, 2016, **34**, 71-79.
- 223 M. Silverman and C. H. Werkman, J. Biol. Chem., 1941, 138, 35-48.
- D. E. Green, W. W. Westerfeld, B. Vennesland and W. E. Knox, *J. Biol. Chem.*, 1942, 145, 6984.
- 225 A. D. Haukeli and S. Lie, J. I. Brewing, 1972, **78**, 229-232.
- 226 P. Romano and G. Suzzi, Am. Soc. Microbiol., 1996, 62, 309-315.
- 227 US Pat., US5164314A, 1992.
- 228 E. B. Collins and R. A. Speckman, J. Dairy Sci., 1974, 57, 1428-1431.
- N. Bassit, C. Y. Boquien, D. Picque, G. Corrieu, Appl. Environ. Microbiol., 1993, 59, 1893 1897.
- 230 N. Bassit, C. Y. Boquien, D. Picque, G. Corrieu, J. Dairy Sci., 1995, 62, 123-129.
- 231 P. Romano, G. Suzzi, R. Zironi, G. Comi, Appl. Environ. Microbiol., 1993, 59, 1838-1841.
- 232 R. M. Teixeira, D. Cavalheiro, J. L. Ninow, and A. Furigo Jr, Braz. J. Chem. Eng., 2002, 19,

181-186.

- 233 US Pat., US20080182306A1, 2008.
- 234 L. Zhang, Q. Liu, Y. Ge, L. Li, C. Gao, P. Xu and C. Ma, Green Chem., 2016, 18, 1560-1570.
- 235 B. Zhang, X. Li, J. Fu, N. Li, Z. Wang, Y. Tang and T. Chen, *PLoS One*, 2016, **11**, e0159298.
- 236 F. Aricò, P. Tundo, Sustainable Inorganic Chemistry, 2016, 143.
- 237 M. Fukano, H. Matsuda, K. Kurihara and K. Ochi, J. Chem. Eng. Data, 2006, 51, 1458-1463.
- 238 Q. Xing, W. Pei, R. Xu and J. Pei, *Fundamental Organic Chemistry*, Higher Education Press, Beijing, 3rd edn., 2005, 506-507.
- 239 Q. Xing, W. Pei, R. Xu and J. Pei, *Fundamental Organic Chemistry*, Higher Education Press, Beijing, 3rd edn., 2005, 539.
- 240 A. M. Clover, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1922, 44, 1107-1118.
- 241 Q. Xing, W. Pei, R. Xu and J. Pei, *Fundamental Organic Chemistry*, Higher Education Press, Beijing, 3rd edn., 2005, 421.
- J. H. Clark, V. Budarin, T. Dugmore, R. Luque, D. J. Macquarrie and V. Strelko, *Catal.Commun*. 2008, 9, 1709-1714.
- R. J. Fessenden and J. S. Fessenden, *Organic Chemistry*, Brooks/Cole Publishing Co., PacificGrove, CA, 5th edn., 1994, 644-648.
- 244 R. J. Fessenden and J. S. Fessenden, *Organic Chemistry*, Brooks-Cole: Pacific Grove, CA, 5th edn., 1990, 276-277.
- 245 C. H. Spink, *Methods Cell Biol.*, 2008, **84**, 115-141.
- 246 F. S. Rowland, Philos. Tran. R. Soc. London, Ser. A, 2006, **361**, 769-790.
- 247 W. A. Yehye, N. A. Rahman, A. Ariffin, S. B. A. Hamid, A. A. Alhadi, F. A. Kadir and M. Yaeghoobi, *Eur. J. Med. Chem.*, 2015, **101**, 295-312.
- 248 D. M. Maron and B. N. Ames, *Mutat. Res.* 1983, **113**, 173-215.
- 249 M. Samiei, S. Asgary, M. Farajzadeh, N. Bargahi, M. Abdolrahimi, U. Kananizadeh and S. Dastmalchi, *Adv. Pharm. Bull.*, 2015, **5**, 121-125.
- 250 K. Mortelmans and E. Zeiger, *Mutat. Res.*, 2000, **455**, 29-60.
- 251 B. N. Ames, J. Mccann and E. Yamasaki, *Mutat. Res.*, 1975, **31**, 347-364.
- F. P. Byrne, S. Jin, G. Paggiola, T. H. M. Petchey, J. H. Clark, T. J. Farmer, A. J. Hunt, C. R.McElroy and J. Sherwood, *Sustain. Chem. Process.*, 2016, 4, 7.

- 253 N. J. Debeljuh, A. Sutti, C. J. Barrow and N. Byrne, J. Phys. Chem. B, 2013, 117, 8430-8435.
- I. H. M. V. Stokkum, T. Scherer, A. M. Brouwer and J. W. Verhoeven, *J. Phys. Chem.*, 1994, 98, 852-866.
- 255 M. N. Sovilj, J. Chem. Eng. Data, 1995, 40, 1058-1061.
- 256 V. H. Staudinger and H. Jörder, *Journal fur Praktische Chemie*, 1942, **160**, 166-175.
- 257 H. Matsuda, H. Kimura, Y. Nagano, K. Kurihara, K. Tochigi and K. Ochi, *J. Chem. Eng. Data*, 2011, 56, 1500-1505.
- 258 F. Chen, Z. Yang, Z. Chen, J. Hu, C. Chen and J. Cai, J. Mol. Liq., 2015, 209, 683-692.
- M. S. Shchepinov, V. A. Korshun, R. D. Egeland and E. M. Southern, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 2000,
 41, 4943-4948.
- 260 V. Rozenberg, T. Danilova, E. Sergeeva, E. Vorontsov, Z. Starikova, K. Lysenko and Y. Belokon, Eur. J. Org. Chem., 2000, 3295-3303.
- 261 S. Dahmen and S. Brase, *Tetrahedron Asymmetry*, 2001, **12**, 2845-2850.
- 262 J. McMurry, Organic Chemistry, 2nd edn., Cole Publishing, California, 1988, 1092.
- 263 X. Fang, B. P. Warner and J. G. Watkin, *Synth. Commun.*, 2000, **30**, 2669-2676.
- 264 X. Lin, D. Stien and S. M. Weinreb, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 2000, **41**, 2333-2337.
- Y. Huang, P. E. Sonnet, P. J. Carroll and D. R. Dalton, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 2000, **41**, 2519-2522.
- 266 A. E. Díaz-Álvarez , J. Francos , B. Lastra-Barreira , P. Crochet and V. Cadierno, *Chem. Commun.*, 2011, **47**, 6208-6227.
- 267 B. Schäffner, F. Schäffner, S. P. Verevkin and A. Börner, Chem. Rev., 2010, 110, 4554-4581.
- 268 G. Rokicki, P. Rakoczy, P. Parzuchowski and M. Sobieki, Green Chem., 2005, 7, 529-539.
- 269 C. Vieville, J. W. Yoo, S. Pelet and M. Mouloungui, *Catal. Lett.*, 1998, **56**, 245-247.
- 270 J. Hu, J. Li, Y. Gu, Z. Guan, W. Mo, Y. Ni, T. Li and G. Li, *Appl. Catal., A*, 2010, **386**, 188-193.
- 271 A. Behr, P. Bahke, B. Klinger and M. Becker, J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem., 2007, 267, 149-156.
- 272 DE Pat., DE10110855, 2001.
- 273 MSDS available at http://sigmaaldrich.com, (accessed July 2016).
- 274 C. J. A. Mota, C. X. A. Da Silva, N. Rosenbach Jr., J. Costa and F. da Silva, *Energ. Fuel*, 2010,
 24, 2733-2736.
- 275 M. Selva, V. Benedet and M. Fabris, *Green Chem.*, 2012, 14, 188-200.

- 276 A. W. Coats and J. P. Redfern, Analyst, 1963, 88, 906-924.
- 277 M. Selva, S. Guidi and M. Noè, *Green Chem.*, 2015, **17**, 1008-1023.
- S. Nakamura, M. Todoki, K. Nakamura and H. Kanetsuna, *Thermochim. Acta*, 1988, **136**, 163-178.
- 279 R. C. Paul and S. L. Chadha, J. inorg. Nucl. Chem., 1969, 31, 1679-1683.
- 280 R. Bini, C. Chiappe, V. L. Mestre, C. S. Pomelli and T. Welton, *Org. Biomol. Chem.*, 2008, 6, 2522-2529.
- J. McMurry, Organic Chemistry, Brooks/Cole Publishing Co., Pacific Grove, CA, 2nd edn.,
 1988, 44-49.
- J. McMurry, *Organic Chemistry*, Brooks/Cole Publishing Co., Pacific Grove, CA, 2nd edn.,
 1988, 748-750.
- J. McMurry, Organic Chemistry, Brooks/Cole Publishing Co., Pacific Grove, CA, 2nd edn.,
 1988, 530-531.
- 284 L. M. M. Mesquita, R. M. A. Pinto, J. A. R. Salvador, J. H. Clark and V. L. Budarin, *Catal. Commun.*, 2015, 69, 170-173.
- 285 K. Nakajima and M. Hara, ACS Catal., 2012, **2**, 1296-1304.
- A. D. C. Fraga, C. P. B. Quitete, V. L. Ximenes, E. F. S. Sousa-Aguiar, I. M. Fonseca and
 A. M. B. Rego, *J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem.*, 2016, **422**, 248-257.
- 287 J. Fu, L. Chen, P. Lv, L. Yang and Z. Yuan, *Fuel*, 2015, **154**, 1-8.
- R. Bernini, E. Mincione, M. Barontini and F. Crisante, J. Agric. Food Chem., 2008, 56, 8897-8904.
- P. N. Gooden, R. A. Bourne, A. J. Parrott, H. S. Bevinakatti, D. J. Irvine and M.
 Poliakoff, *Org. Process Res. Dev.*, 2010, 14, 411-416.
- 290 The market prices of acidic and basic catalysts are available at https://www.alibaba.com/, (accessed July 2016).
- 291 T. J. Korstanje, E. Folkertsma, M. Lutz, J. T. B. H. Jastrzebski and R. J. M. K. Gebbink, *Eur. J. Inorg. Chem.*, 2013, 2195-2204.
- 292 H. A. Dabbagh and M. Zamani, *Appl. Catal., A*, 2011, **404**, 141-148.
- A. K. Malekshah, Z. Torabizadeh and F. Naghshwar, J. Appl. Res., 2005, 5, 575-579.
- 294 W. M. Abdel-Wahab, *Life Sci. J.*, 2012, **9**, 1173-1182.

- 295 A. L. Henne and A. H. Matuszak, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1944, 66, 1649-1652.
- 296 P. Tundo, F. Aricò, A.E. Rosamilia, M. Rigo, A. Maranzana and G. Tonachini, Pure Appl. Chem., 2009, 81, 1971-1979.
- 297 Z. Xu, D. Xu and B. Liu, Org. Prep. Proced. Int., 2004, 36, 156-161.
- H. Ogawa, Y. Ichimura, T. Chihara, S. Teratani and K. Taya, *Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn.*, 1986,
 59, 2481-2483.
- R. I. Khusnutdinov, N. A. Shchadneva and Y. Y. Mayakova, *Russ. J. Org. Chem.*, 2014, 50, 790-795.
- 300 M. Selva, M. Noe, A. Perosa and M. Gottardo, Org. Biomol. Chem., 2012, 10, 6569-6578.
- 301 S. Borukhova, T. Noël and V. Hessel, ChemSusChem, 2016, 9, 67-74.
- 302 J. McMurry, *Organic Chemistry*, Brooks/Cole Publishing Co., Pacific Grove, CA, 2nd edn., 1988, 599-600.
- 303 US Pat., US2234967, 1941.
- Y. Wang, *The Analysis and Application of Gas Chromatography*, Science Press, Beijing,
 2006.
- 305 Ames MPF Microplate Format Mutagenicity Assay Short Procedure, http://www.xenometrix.ch/res/files/Ames%20MPF%20Short%20Instruction.pdf, (accessed May 2016).
- 306 J. A. Kenar and G. Knothe, J. Am. Oil. Chem. Soc., 2008, 85, 365-372.
- W. Gerhartz, Ullmann's Encyclopedia of Industrial Chemistry, VCH, Weinheim, 5th edn.,
 1985.
- 308 J. H. Clark, E. M. Fitzpatrick, D. J. Macquarrie, L. A. Pfaltzgraff and J. Sherwood, *Catal. Today*, 2012, **190**, 144-149.
- 309 V. Fábos, G. Koczó, H. Mehdi, L. Bodab and I. T. Horváth, *Energy Environ. Sci.* 2009, 2, 767 769.
- 310 J. K. Labanowski and J. W. Andzelm, *Density Funcational Methods in Chemistry*, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1991.
- 311 R. S. Varma, *Tetrahedron*, 2002, **58**, 1235-1255.

T. Kawabata, M. Kato, T. Mizugaki, K. Ebitani and K. Kaneda, *Chem. Eur. J.*, 2005, **11**, 288-297.